Sociable swine

Indirect genetic effects on growth rate and their effect on behaviour and production of pigs in different environments

Thesis committee

Promotors

Prof. Dr J.A.M. van Arendonk Professor of Animal Breeding and Genetics Wageningen University

Prof. Dr B. Kemp Professor of Adaptation Physiology Wageningen University

Co-promotors

Dr J.E. Bolhuis Assistant professor, Adaptation Physiology Group Wageningen University

Dr P. Bijma

Assistant professor, Animal Breeding and Genomics Centre Wageningen University

Other members

Prof. Dr A.P. Schinckel, Purdue University, West Lafayette, USAProf. Dr L. Rydhmer, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, SwedenProf. Dr M. Naguib, Wageningen UniversityDr C. G. van Reenen, Wageningen UR Livestock Research

This research was conducted under the auspices of the Graduate School of Wageningen Institute of Animal Sciences (WIAS).

Sociable swine

Indirect genetic effects on growth rate and their effect on behaviour and production of pigs in different environments

Irene Camerlink

Thesis

submitted in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of doctor at Wageningen University by the authority of the Rector Magnificus Prof. Dr M.J. Kropff, in the presence of the Thesis Committee appointed by the Academic Board to be defended in public on Wednesday July 2, 2014 at 4.00 p.m. in the Aula

Camerlink, I.

Sociable swine: Indirect genetic effects on growth rate and their effect on behaviour and production of pigs in different environments, 231 pages.

PhD thesis, Wageningen University, Wageningen, NL (2014) With references, with summaries in English and Dutch

ISBN 978-94-6173-955-1

Abstract

Camerlink, I. (2014). Sociable swine: Indirect genetic effects on growth rate and their effect on behaviour and production of pigs in different environments. PhD thesis, Wageningen University, the Netherlands.

Social interactions between pigs can influence their health, welfare, and productivity. The effects of social interactions on individuals are partly genetic, and this genetic effect is known as an Indirect Genetic Effect. IGEs are thus the heritable effects of an individual on the trait values of its social partners, e.g. group mates. Previous research has identified IGE for production traits, which suggests that selection for IGE may contribute to selection response. However, validation through selection experiments is required.

The objectives of this thesis were a) to determine the consequences of selection for 'IGE on growth rate' (IGEg) for production traits and behaviour of pigs, and b) to study possible mechanisms underlying IGEg in pigs. First, the relationship between pig behaviour and growth rate was studied in several trials. This showed that oral manipulative behaviours directed at pen mates, such as tail- and ear biting and chewing, can reduce growth rate of the victims, whereas receiving social nosing may enhance growth rate. Second, a one-generation selection experiment was conducted in pigs. Sires (n = 24) and dams (n = 64) were selected to create a high vs. low contrast for IGEg in the offspring (n = 480). The contrast was 14 g average daily gain (ADG). Offspring were studied in a 2×2 arrangement with IGEg (high vs. low) and housing conditions (conventional vs. enriched with straw bedding) to examine genotype × environment (GxE) interactions. Selection did not alter production traits, including ADG. Behaviour showed consistent changes, whereby high IGEg pigs showed less biting behaviour towards group mates and objects. High and low IGEg pigs did not differ in aggression or body lesions during 24-h regrouping with unfamiliar pigs. They did, however, differ in aggression towards their own group members when they were reunited after the temporary regrouping test. In combination with other tests and observations, this might indicate that high IGEg pigs are less fearful or less stress sensitive than low IGEg pigs. There were no G×E interactions, but enrichment had a positive effect on behaviour which was additive to that of selection. Despite the lack of response in ADG, genetic selection for IGEg and enriched housing conditions improved the behaviour and welfare of pigs.

No matter how long your life will last Or what its purpose may be (to yourself or to others) Each individual deserves to be treated with respect

Contents

- 5 Abstract
- 11 1 General introduction

Part I. Pig behaviour

- 25 2 Relationship between growth rate and oral manipulation, social nosing, and aggression in finishing pigs
- 40 3 The pig's nose and its role in dominance relationships and harmful behaviour
- 57 4 Intranasally administered oxytocin in relationship to social nosing behaviour in domestic pigs
- 67 5 Struggling to survive: early life challenges in relation to the backtest in pigs

Part II. Indirect genetic effects for growth rate in pigs

- 83 6 Growth performance and carcass traits in pigs selected for indirect genetic effects on growth rate in two environments
- 97 7 Indirect genetic effects for growth in pigs affect aggressive and manipulative biting behaviour
- 115 8 Indirect genetic effects and housing conditions in relation to aggressive behaviour in pigs
- 135 9 Aggression and affiliation during social conflict in pigs
- 153 10 General discussion

Contents [continued]

- 177 Summary
- 181 Samenvatting (Dutch summary)
- 185 References
- 216 Glossary
- 219 Register
- 221 Acknowledgements
- 223 Curriculum vitae
- 224 List of publications
- 227 Training and supervision plan
- 230 Colophon

1

General introduction

1.1 Introduction

Animal welfare is an important aspect of sustainable livestock production and is influenced by a number of factors. Figure 1 outlines how animal welfare relates to societal factors (above horizontal line), and factors that may determine animal welfare (below horizontal line). Within this framework, a multidisciplinary research program¹ was carried out to investigate opportunities to improve productivity and welfare of pigs through genetic selection on indirect genetic effects (IGE; Figure 1, marked in bold). Different biological aspects of indirect genetic effects were studied within this program: their genetic background (Duijvesteijn, 2014), their relationship with animal physiology and behaviour (this thesis; Reimert, 2014), and their dependence on the environment (this thesis). The success of animal welfare improvements, especially in intensive farming, may depend on the acceptance of society and the stakeholders (e.g. McGlone, 2001; De Bakker et al., 2012). The overall program therefore also investigated stakeholders' perception on animal production (Benard, 2014). This thesis specifically investigates the relationship between indirect genetic effects and production performance and behaviour of pigs which are kept in diverging housing conditions. As indirect genetic effects are the main topic of this thesis, this introductory chapter starts with the theoretical background on this topic. Thereafter follows a brief description of pig farming and pig behaviour, concluded by the objectives and the thesis outline.

¹The research project 'Seeking sociable swine? Incorporating social genetic effects into pig breeding programs to achieve balanced improvement in productivity and welfare', is a multidisciplinary sub-program of the program 'The Value of Animal Welfare', funded by the Dutch Ministry of Economic Affairs and the Netherlands Organisation for Scientific Research (NWO).



Figure 1. Schematic representation of factors involved in animal welfare. The dotted box refers to Figure 2 for detailed representation.

1.2 Indirect genetic effects (IGE)

Individuals may influence each other's health and welfare through social interactions. If, as a consequence, the performance is less than estimated based on genetic data, then this may result in a response to selection that is less than expected or even in opposite direction (e.g. Griffing, 1967; Goodnight, 1985; Agrawal et al., 2001). Current breeding value estimation hardly accounts for social interactions between group members. The classical model is applied whereby the phenotype of an individual is determined by the genes inherited from the parents and an error term (Lynch & Walsh, 1998) (Figure 2A). This error or environmental term may cause the phenotype of an individual to deviate from the predicted outcome and may in captive animals depend on housing, feed, diseases, and social interactions. If these social effects have a genetic component, they can be estimated through indirect genetic effects (Figure 2A).



Figure 2A. Schematic representation of new breeding method in which IGE are included in the breeding value estimation.

Indirect genetic effects (IGE), also referred to as associative-, competitive-, or social genetic effects or social breeding values, are the heritable effects of an individual on the trait values of its social partners (Griffing, 1967; Moore et al., 1997; Muir, 2005). For example, an animal may be highly aggressive and thereby reduce the health, welfare, and performance of the individual it interacts with, whereas its aggressiveness may be inherited. IGE do not necessarily represent one specific trait, such as aggressiveness, but rather reflect an overall effect on traits of others, which may vary from positive to negative.

IGE capture part of the heritable component of the (social) environment, that is hidden in current breeding value estimations (Figure 2A) (Griffing, 1967; Muir,

2005, Bijma et al., 2007b), and thereby may contribute to response to selection (Griffing 1967; Moore et al., 1997; Bijma et al., 2007a; Bijma and Wade, 2008). This can be approached though model 1 and 2, which were first described by Griffing (1967), and later amended by Muir (2005) and Bijma et al. (2007b). In model 1, the phenotype of an individual (P_i) is the sum of its own genes and non-heritable effects ($A_{D,i} + E_{D,i}$), and the genes and non-heritable effects of its social partners (remaining part of model 1). In model 2, the genetic contribution of an individual to the phenotype of its social partners is given by the total breeding value (TBV), which includes the own genes ($A_{D,i}$ or DBV), as well as its own genetic effect on the performance of all of its social partners (remaining part of model 2).

Model 1. $P_i = A_{D,i} + E_{D,i} + \sum_{j \neq i}^{n-1} (A_{S,j} + E_{S,j})$

Model 2. $TBV_i = A_{D,i} + (n-1)A_{S,i}$

In model 1 and 2, $A_{D,i}$ is the direct breeding value (DBV) of individual *i*, $E_{D,i}$ is the corresponding non-heritable direct effect, $A_{S,j}$ is the social breeding value (SBV) or indirect genetic effect (IGE) of group member *j* on individual *i*, and $E_{S,j}$ is the corresponding non-heritable social effect. The *n* denotes the group size, which is reduced by 1 to account for the individual itself, thus *n*-1 is the number of group mates of an individual.

These models have been explored for various issues, such as effects of (genetic) relatedness, i.e. kin and non-kin, and the dependence on group size (Ellen et al., 2007; Bijma, 2010; 2013; Alemu et al., 2014a). The application of these and related models provide clear evidence for the existence of IGE (Peeters et al., 2012; Alemu et al., 2014b; Nielsen et al., 2014).

IGE are estimated for all kinds of taxa, ranging from trees (interacting though competition for nutrients and sunlight), to laboratory animals and livestock (Bijma, 2011a). IGE can thereby occur within various contexts, as the character of the social interactions will depend on the species. In livestock, IGE are generally estimated based on production traits, i.e. the effect that an individual has on the production performance of others. For example, in pigs IGE are estimated for the effect that individuals have on growth rate of others (Arango et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2008; 2009; Bergsma et al., 2013). The term 'IGE' itself gives little information; it is the specification of the trait where IGE have been estimated for that adds the interpretation of the genetic effect. When IGE are estimated based on the effect

that an individual has on the growth rate of others, such as the case in pigs, we refer to IGE as "IGE on growth rate".

IGE have been explored statistically, but there is little evidence from practice to support the estimated effects, simply because selection experiments have hardly been carried out so far (reviewed by Rodenburg et al., 2010). The nature of the social interactions and the potential underlying mechanisms are therefore largely unknown. Hypotheses for underlying mechanisms in animals vary from behavioural interactions (Rodenburg et al., 2010), disease transmission (Lipschutz-Powell et al., 2012), or a general apathy which causes the animal to not affect group members (Rodenburg et al., 2010; Turner, 2011).

IGE have been mostly related to competition and aggressive behaviour (reviewed by Wilson, 2014). A clear indication that behaviour may underlie IGE stems from selection experiments in laying hens, where pecking behaviour is directly related to the death of group mates (Muir, 1996; Muir and Craig, 1998; Ellen et al., 2008). This pecking behaviour has a clear cause and effect. In other species the behavioural effects may be less prominent, and the relationship between IGE and behaviour is less clear. For example, some behaviours of pigs may affect the growth rate of the recipient (e.g. Wallgren and Lindalh, 1996; Sinisalo et al., 2012), but growth will at the same time also depend on many other social and non-social factors.

If behaviours indeed underlie the effects of IGE, than it would theoretically be possible to select animals that show behaviour which has a positive effect on the trait values of their group mates. This could be either through a reduction of harmful behaviour or through enhancement of positive behaviour. Via behaviour, IGE may contribute to animal welfare (Muir and Craig, 1998; Rodenburg et al., 2010).

Box 1. Conclusion 'IGE'. IGE may contribute to response to selection and might offer ways to improve both production performance and animal welfare. These theories require empirical confirmation. This can be approached through selection experiments, which may validate the genetic estimates and give insight in the effects of selection on animal behaviour and physiology.

1.3 Sociable swine

IGE are especially relevant to intensive livestock farming as a) the demand for poultry and pork is expected to roughly double in 2030 compared to the year 2000

(FAO, 2011), and sustainable animal production could contribute to meeting these demands within the carrying capacity of our planet (Neeteson-van Nieuwenhoven et al., 2013); b) parameter estimates for IGE on production related traits indicate that response to selection may increase (laying hens: Peeters et al., 2012; pigs: Bergsma et al., 2013); and c) due to current farming systems many laying hens and pigs show aberrant behaviour which results in serious welfare issues that need to be addressed (e.g. Turner, 2011; Fraser et al., 2013; Manteca and Jones, 2013). Selection on IGE may potentially offer a solution to reduce welfare issues related to behaviour (e.g. Rodenburg et al., 2010). Studies in poultry yielded positive results with regard to selection on IGE for survival, leading to less mortality and thereby an increased egg production (Muir, 1996; Muir and Craig, 1998; Ellen et al., 2008). In pigs, IGE have been estimated for growth rate (IGEg), meaning that the IGE is the inherited effect that a pig has on the on the growth rate of its group mates. A pilot study with pigs selected and housed based on IGEg (Rodenburg et al., 2010), and a study with unselected pigs (Canario et al., 2012), both suggested that selection on IGEg may reduce aggression between pigs. These suggestions, however, need validation from a selection experiment of sufficient power. A selection experiment would give insight in the estimates for IGEg, and also offer the opportunity to obtain insight in the effects of this selection method on production, behaviour and welfare. Because of the potential of IGE to contribute production and welfare of pigs, and because of the questions surrounding IGEg in pigs, pigs were studied within the context of this thesis.

Pigs (*Sus scrofa*) are gregarious animals which in nature would life in small social groups and spend their day with foraging, rooting, and resting (D'Eath and Turner, 2009). A considerable part of the production pigs (estimated more than 1 billion by 2030; FAO, 2003) is kept in intensive farming systems. Here, pigs lack the possibility to forage or root, and thereby cannot fulfil their intrinsic need to carry out their basic natural activities (Van Putten, 1979; Studnitz et al., 2007). This often leads to aberrant harmful behaviour, such as oral manipulation, which may start already at early age and increases throughout the production cycle (e.g. Blackshaw, 1981; Zonderland et al., 2008).

Current pig production is such that a sow gives birth to approximately 14 piglets, and weans around 12 piglets per litter (Rutherford et al., 2013). Due to the confined housing and the restraint of the sow, social cues may be missed and this may contribute to the onset of (mal)adapted and aggressive behaviour (Schouten, 1986; Oostindjer et al., 2011a; reviewed by Baxter et al., 2013). For example, during social conflict threat and withdrawal may not be properly expressed due to lack of

space, resulting in the development of more fierce aggressive strategies (Lammers and Schouten, 1985). The period that piglets spend with the sow is mostly referred to as farrowing phase or lactation period. In the EU, piglets are weaned, i.e. separated from their mother, at approximately four weeks of age. After weaning they enter the nursery phase, in which they are housed with other, often unfamiliar, piglets in a barren confined enclosure, i.e. pen, of $\sim 0.4 \text{ m}^2$ per pig. After approximately four weeks at the nursery they have grown too big for the enclosures and move to other pens. Because of pen size and management strategies (such as grouping pigs on equal sex or weight) pigs are relocated into new groups whereby they again encounter unfamiliar pigs. This encounter with unfamiliar pigs results in intensive fights (e.g. Tan et al., 1991; Stookey and Gonyou, 1994; O'Connell et al., 2005), with the accumulation of injuries in the form of skin lesions (e.g. Turner et al., 2006; Stukenborg et al., 2011; Rydhmer et al., 2013). The aggression during regrouping is considered a severe welfare problem (e.g. Erhard et al., 1997; Turner, 2011; Rydhmer et al., 2013), especially when the intensity of fights increases due to increased weight and strength (Jensen, 1994; Turner et al., 2006). Management strategies, such as socializing pigs, may reduce aggression (e.g. D'Eath, 2005; Hessel et al., 2006; Rydhmer et al., 2013), but might not yet be applicable to each farm management. When pigs are regrouped, they start sorting out dominance relationships. Dominance relationships may be settled already after several hours, but may also take weeks before it has reached relative stability (Meese and Ewbank, 1973; Ewbank, 1976). For the remaining production cycle, which is approximately till 24 weeks of age, depending on slaughter weight, the group remains together. The period between the nursery phase and slaughter is often referred to as the finishing or fattening period. During the course of this period, aberrant behaviour may increase in frequency and severity, resulting in severe welfare problems (e.g. Schrøder-Petersen and Simonsen, 2001; Kittawornrat and Zimmerman, 2011). Because group composition changes several times, but remains rather stable during the finishing phase, IGE estimates for growth rate are based on the growth rate in this phase of the production cycle.

Pigs have a broad behavioural repertoire, and when investigating IGEg, several behaviours may be relevant. As mentioned above, aggression is likely to occur in pig farming. Although the aggression around regrouping may result in severe (skin) injuries and stress (e.g. De Groot et al., 2001; Turner et al., 2006; Coutellier et al., 2007), the effects on growth rate are often minimal if present (McGlone et al., 1987; Marchant-Forde and Marchant-Forde, 2005; Rydhmer et al., 2013; but see Tan et al., 1991 and Ekkel et al., 1995 for substantial effects on growth). Oral

manipulation on the other hand, and in particular tail biting, may considerably affect health, welfare, and production performance of the recipient (Wallgren and Lindalh, 1996; Schrøder-Petersen and Simonsen, 2001; Sinisalo et al., 2012). Oral manipulative behaviour in pigs is the repeated chewing and biting on body parts of other pigs, whereby tails and ears are clearly most attractive to bite on. From the origin, oral manipulation is more a redirected foraging behaviour than a social behaviour. The impact of tail biting on growth rate makes tail biting a potential behaviour underlying IGE on growth rate, even though it might not be a social behaviour. When pigs are kept in organic or free-ranging systems, tail biting may still occur (Olsen, 2001; Walker and Bilkei, 2006), which indicates that improved housing conditions are not sufficient to eliminate all harmful behaviour, and solutions may need to come from breeding.

Welfare of pigs is thus impaired due to amongst others behavioural (mal)adaptations as a consequence of the housing conditions and management procedures. All animals may suffer from these circumstances, but not all animals respond by developing aberrant behavior which may be harmul to group mates. The deviations in behavioural response may partly depend on personality, which may be reflected in coping styles (Koolhaas, 1999; 2008). Briefly, coping styles refer to the extremes of any behavioural response and are classified as either reactive (passive) or pro-active (active) (Koolhaas, 1999; 2008). Animals of diverging coping styles show consistent differences in behaviour and physiology, especially when facing stressors (e.g. Koolhaas et al., 2011). In pigs, coping styles have been studied amongst others through the backtest (e.g. Hessing et al., 1993; Bolhuis et al., 2005a; Spake et al., 2012). The response in the backtest has been related to growth (Van Erp-van der Kooij et al., 2003; Cassady 2007; Spake et al., 2012), and a heritability of 0.53 has been estimated for the amount of struggling in the backtest (Velie et al., 2009). This suggests a link between behaviour and growth in pigs with a heritable component, and therefore piglets' coping style might relate to IGE.

Box 2. Conclusion 'Sociable swine'. Intensive pig farming is characterised by high production performance but faces many welfare issues as a consequence of a barren and confined housing environment and management procedures. Pigs in intensive systems may develop behaviours that negatively affect the performance of their group mates. IGE for growth rate have been estimated in pigs, but require validation.

1.4 Genotype by environment interactions

When studying genetics, it is important to bear in mind the possible dependence of the phenotypic expression of a genotype on the environment. For example, pigs of genotype A may perform best in moderate climates, whereas genotype B performs best in warm climates (Bloemhof et al., 2008). Genotype by environment (G×E) interactions thereby may affect genetic gain (Mulder and Bijma, 2005). G×E exist for several production traits in pigs (Schinckel et al., 1999). The environment may thereby represent, with pig studies as examples, different climates (Bloemhof et al., 2008), a test-environment versus commercial practice (Merks, 1989), diverging production systems (Wallenbeck et al., 2009), or adaptations to housing conditions (Guy et al., 2002a). The stability of the production performance across environments may reflect a certain robustness of the genotype (e.g. Visser et al., 2003; Knap, 2005). Thus, health and production performance of pigs may depend on the environment, whereby one environment may be better or less suitable for the health and performance of an animal with a certain genotype. Pigs of different genotype may behave differently (e.g. Breuer et al., 2003), and change their behaviour according to the environment. G×E interactions for pig behaviour have been found for maternal behaviour in sows (Baxter et al., 2011), but to our knowledge not for finishing pigs (Hill et al., 1998; Guy et al., 2002b).

If IGEg would contribute to pig breeding, it is important to know whether the effects of genetic selection are consistent across environments, and would apply to a larger range of environments or to a specific (suboptimal) environment. In Europe, changes in housing conditions are currently going on, or expected to come in the near future, to comply with higher animal welfare standards (EC Directive 2001/93/EC, 2001; Bracke et al., 2006; Elzen et al., 2011). An example of this is the enrichment of the conventional barren pens with substrate such as straw. Straw has often been mentioned as the most effective way to reduce oral manipulation, and is thereby suggested as a method to improve welfare (e.g. Fraser et al., 1991; Tuyttens, 2005; Bracke et al., 2006). By studying G×E interactions it is possible to determine the potential contribution of genetic selection to productivity and behaviour for pigs kept in the current conventional conditions (barren) as well as in improved housing conditions.

Box 3. Conclusion G×E interactions. Genotype by environment (G×E) interactions may provide insight in the expression and consistency of IGE across environments. A G×E experimental set-up may clarify the impact of selection on IGE and improved housing conditions.

1.5 Objectives

The overall aim of the project was to study the opportunities to improve social interactions among pigs by incorporating indirect genetic effects in the breeding program and by investigating the implications of this selection method for behaviour and welfare (Van Arendonk et al., 2009).

With this thesis I aimed to investigate the relationship between pig behaviour and growth, the effect of selection for 'indirect genetic effects on growth rate' on the behaviour and production performance of pigs, and the impact of genotype by environment interactions with regard to IGE.

It was hypothesized that oral manipulation and aggression would affect growth rate of pigs, and that these behaviours would underlie the effects of IGE on growth rate. Pigs selected for a positive effect on the growth rate of their group mates were therefore hypothesized to show less of this harmful behaviour and because of that show an increased growth rate.

1.6 Thesis outline

This thesis is divided into two sections. The first section considers explorative studies on interactions between pigs and what the possible consequences of these interactions are for growth rate independent of genetics. The second section presents the work on indirect genetic effects in relationship to production and behaviour. The interrelation of the topics is outlined in Figure 2B, whereby also the chapter numbers are indicated. The register at the end of this thesis (page 213) enables to easily look up information on specific words or terms and includes illustrations of often mentioned behaviours.

Chapter 2 describes the effect of pig behaviour on the growth rate of pigs, in particular for the recipients of behaviour. From this study it was noted that social nosing, which is gentle tactile contact of the snout of one pig with the snout or body of another pig, increased growth rate in the recipient. Social nosing was further explored in chapter 3 and 4. The relationship between growth and behaviour of piglets in a backtest was explored in chapter 5.

Chapter 6 to 9 are based on a one-generation selection experiment in which 480 pigs, that were selected for either high or low IGE on growth rate, were housed in barren and enriched pens. These pigs were studied from birth till slaughter for their behaviour and physiology. Chapter 6 discusses the effect of selection and housing conditions on the production performance. Chapter 7 outlines the effects of selection on the full behavioural repertoire. From the behaviours, aggression was

further explored in chapter 8. In chapter 9, aggression and social nosing join together in the assessment of spatial integration during social conflict. Here, we emphasized the importance of taking an integral approach when assessing animals or their welfare. The synthesis of this thesis discusses all previous chapters and in additions discusses whether pig welfare can indeed be improved through selection on indirect genetic effects and enriched housing.



Figure 2B. Behaviours that might potentially relate to the effects of IGE are indicated with reference to the thesis chapters in which these are discussed.

Part I

Pig behaviour



2

Relationship between growth rate and oral manipulation, social nosing, and aggression in finishing pigs

Irene Camerlink^{1,2}, Piter Bijma², Bas Kemp¹, J. Elizabeth Bolhuis¹

¹Adaptation Physiology Group, Department of Animal Sciences, Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands; ²Animal Breeding and Genomics Centre, Department of Animal Sciences, Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands.

Applied Animal Behaviour Science (2012) 142: 11-17

Abstract

Pigs may affect each other's health, welfare and productivity through their behaviour. The effect of a pig on the growth rate of its pen mates is partly heritable and is referred to as its social genetic effect. Social genetic effects, also known as indirect genetic effects, have been found in a number of livestock breeds, in natural and laboratory populations, and in plant breeding and forestry, and have become an important research topic in recent years. In pigs, social genetic effects are hypothesized to be related to behaviour. The mechanism behind social genetic effects for growth, as well as the relationship between behaviours and growth itself, is largely unknown. To gain insight in the mechanism behind social genetic effects, we investigated the relationship between behaviours and growth rate in pigs. On a commercial pig farm, 398 finishing pigs in 50 pens (eight pigs / pen) were observed at 12 w of age using 2-min instantaneous scan sampling for 6 h during daytime. For 324 observed pigs, growth rate during the finishing period was known. The relationship between behaviours and growth rate during the finishing period was analysed with behaviour as explanatory variable in a mixed model. Results show that time spent giving behaviours, like oral manipulation, social nosing, aggression and belly nosing, was not related to own growth rate. Receiving behaviours, however, did relate to growth. Pigs that received more oral manipulation, observed as tail biting, ear biting and paw biting, grew less well (P <0.05). Growth rate was 43 \pm 17 g/d lower in pigs that received oral manipulation during more than 2% of the observations as compared to pigs that did not receive oral manipulation. Pigs that received social nosing, a gentle touch or sniff at any part of the body, had a higher growth rate (P < 0.05): growth rate differed 29 (± 17) g/d between pigs that received social nosing during more than 2% of observations as compared to not receiving social nosing at all. Receiving aggression and belly nosing, a forceful rubbing of the belly, did not influence growth rate. In conclusion, receiving oral manipulation and social nosing related to growth rate. This suggests that pigs selected for positive social genetic effects for growth may potentially show behavioural changes. Effects of selection for social genetic effects on behaviour and growth will be studied in future research.

Key words: Indirect genetic effects, swine, tail biting, affiliative behaviour, average daily gain.

2.1 Introduction

Pigs, being social group-living animals, may affect each other's health, welfare and growth rate through their social behaviour. The effect of a pig on the growth rate of its pen mates is partly heritable and is referred to as its social genetic effect (Bergsma, 2011; Chen et al., 2007; Muir, 2005). Social genetic effects, also known as indirect genetic effects (Moore et al., 1997; Wolf et al., 1998), have been found in a number of livestock (reviewed in Bijma, 2011a), in natural and laboratory populations (e.g. Wilson et al. 2008), and in plant breeding and forestry (e.g. Cappa and Cantet, 2008), and have become an important research topic in recent years. In pigs, social genetic effects for growth, i.e. the inherited effects an individual has on the growth of its group members, are hypothesized to be related to behaviour (Rodenburg et al., 2010). If social genetic effects are indeed related to behaviour, then genetic selection for social genetic effects for growth would offer a method to indirectly select on behaviour. This would be complementary to direct selection against specific undesired behaviours like aggression (Turner, 2011), without the need for large scale behavioural phenotyping. Social behaviours of pigs, however, are rarely studied in relation to growth of their group members. To gain insight in the mechanisms underlying social genetic effects for growth, it is first important to understand the effect of behaviours on growth rate in pigs.

Pigs in nature show an organized social structure with formation of groups (Stolba and Wood-Gush, 1989). Pigs kept in intensive housing systems show behavioural changes due to the inability to express their natural behaviour (Hughes and Duncan, 1988). Especially in barren and confined housing, with a lack of suitable substrates for foraging and rooting behaviours, pigs may show oral manipulation of their pen mates, such as tail biting (Van Putten, 1979). Tail biting may reflect stress and poor welfare of the biters (Van Putten, 1979) and can have negative consequences for health, welfare and growth rate of the receivers (Gonyou, 1993). A few studies have reported a growth reduction due to severe tail biting wounds (England and Spurr, 1967; Sinisalo et al., 2012; Wallgren and Lindalh, 1996). Management practices like grouping unfamiliar pigs can cause excessive aggression (Ewbank and Meese, 1971). A growth reduction due to social stress related to grouping unfamiliar pigs has been reported (Hyun et al., 1998; Stookey and Gonyou, 1994). Under stable social conditions, pigs do not engage much in injurious mutual fighting, but series of head knocks and bites may occur (Bolhuis et al., 2005b). Both tail biting and aggression are moderately heritable in finishing pigs, with $h^2 = 0.05 - 0.27$ for tail biting in Landrace pigs (Breuer et al., 2005) and

 $h^2 = 0.08 - 0.43$ for post-mixing aggression (Turner et al., 2009). Positive behaviours between pigs, such as play and social grooming, are less well studied (Boissy et al., 2007), and their effects on health and growth are, to the best of our knowledge, unknown.

As hypothesized, the effect of behaviours on growth rate may underlie the estimated social genetic effects for growth in pigs. Knowledge on the possible relationships between negative, as well as positive, behaviours and growth rate is of great importance to validate this hypothesis. Besides the few studies on oral manipulation and aggression, however, evidence for a relationship between behaviours and growth rate in pigs is lacking. The objective of this study, therefore, was to investigate whether and how behaviours (given and received) are related with growth rate in finishing pigs. Hereto, growth data of finishing pigs were combined with behavioural observations.

2.2 Material and Methods

Animals and housing

Over four batches, behaviours of 398 crossbred finishing pigs from different genetic lines were observed. Batches were separated by a period of three weeks. Piglets were born and kept at an experimental commercial farm (IPG Beilen, The Netherlands). All piglets were tail docked and male piglets were castrated. At 26 days of age, piglets were weaned and placed in nursery groups of approximately 30 individuals of the same sex (female or castrated male) and a similar weight. Five weeks thereafter, pigs were moved to 50 finishing pens, distributed over seven compartments in the same farm building. Each nursery group was split into four finishing groups, to limit aggression due to grouping of unfamiliar pigs. Each finishing pen housed ~eight pigs of the same sex. Pens had half slatted floors with a space allowance of 1.0 m^2 per pig, and contained a metal chain with a galvanized polyurethane ball (75 mm diameter) placed on pig eye-height. Pen design did not allow pigs to interact with neighbouring pigs. Dry pelleted commercial feed was offered ad libitum from a single space feeder. Water was continuously available from a single nipple drinker per pen. Lights were on from 7:00 till 17:30 h. The experimental facilities were under supervision of The Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of Groningen, The Netherlands, which approved all protocols on the farm.

Behavioural observations

Behaviours of individual pigs were recorded at 12 weeks of age, three weeks after start of the finishing period. A distinction was made between given and received behaviours (Table 1). Each pig was identified by a number which was spray marked on the back. Behaviour was scored during live observations using 2-min instantaneous scan sampling. Six hours of observation were carried out during the active period of the day, between 8:00 and 17:00 h, with a break from 11:30 to 13:30 h. This procedure resulted in 180 behavioural scans per pig (during 6 h every 2 min one scan). The Observer 5.0 software package (Noldus Information Technology B.V., Wageningen, The Netherlands) installed on a hand-held computer was used for behaviour recordings. Observations took place on two consecutive days. On the first day, half of the pens were observed at odd hours and the other half at even hours. On the second day this was reversed. Observations were performed by a single observer.

Growth data and breeding value estimates

Data on growth rate from the start of the finishing period (eight weeks of age) till slaughter (26 weeks of age, app. 110 kg live weight) were provided by the Institute for Pig Genetics BV. Growth rate was expressed in grams per day (g/d). Due to 12 missing ear tags and 62 missing growth records, 74 animals were excluded from the analyses on growth rate. Estimated breeding values for direct and social genetic effects, based on realized growth rate during the finishing period, were also provided by the Institute for Pig Genetics BV. Average estimated direct breeding value (DBV) for the studied animals was +2.24 (SE 1.56) and average estimated social breeding value (SBV), i.e. the estimated social genetic effect for growth, was -0.56 (SE 0.06). DBV and SBV were negatively correlated with r = -0.41 (P < 0.001).

Behaviour	Description			
Social nosing	Gently touching or sniffing any part of a pen mate			
Oral manipulation	Nibbling (belly), sucking or chewing part of the body of a			
	pen mate, including tail biting, ear biting and paw biting.			
Aggression	Pushing, biting or giving head knocks to a pen mate			
Belly nosing	Rubbing belly of a pen mate with up and down snout			
Manuating	Ctending on hind lass while having front lass on other night			
Mounting	body			
Disturbing	Disturbing resting pig by other behaviour than manipulation			
	or nosing, e.g. by stepping on sleeping pig. Irrespective of			
	reaction of resting pig.			
Receiving social nosing				
Receiving oral manipulation				
Receiving aggression				
Receiving belly nosing				
Mounting received				
Lying ¹	Lying inactive			
Sitting ¹	Sitting or kneeling			
Eating or drinking ¹	Eating or drinking			
Play ¹	Running around the pen, sometimes with gently nudging of			
	pen mates			
Other active ¹	Any other behaviour not listed			

 Table 1. Ethogram of recorded behaviours.

¹Behaviours scored only when shown without any of the behaviours (given or received) listed above.

Analysis

The 180 behaviour samples per pig were summed and expressed as a proportion of the total observation time. Data were analysed using SAS version 9.2 (SAS Institute Inc. 2002-2008). Residuals were checked for normality.

The relationship between behaviours and growth rate during the finishing period was analysed with growth rate as dependent variable, using a mixed model including batch, genetic line and sex as fixed class effects. The effect of a behaviour was estimated by including the proportion of time spent on this behaviour as a fixed continuous explanatory variable in the mixed model. To find the best fit for the regression curve, behaviours were included in the model both linearly and quadratically. Random effects were compartment and, pen nested within batch, compartment and sex. Effects of the interaction between sex and behaviour on growth rate were tested but omitted from the final model as they were not significant.

The relationship between time spent on a behaviour and growth rate might reflect pre-existing differences in body weight at start of the finishing period, rather than an effect of behaviour on growth rate. To investigate possible confounding between weight at start of the finishing period, behaviour and growth rate, weight at start of the finishing period was included as a covariate in the model. Weight at start of the finishing period did not affect the relationship between behaviours and growth and was therefore excluded from further analysis.

To facilitate interpretation of results, the proportion of time spent on behaviours that significantly affected growth rate was also expressed in categories (0%, 0-1%, 1-2% and >2%), and effects were re-estimated. Hereto, the same model was applied with time spent on a behaviour included as a fixed class effect.

The relationship between behaviours and estimated SBVs was tested in a mixed model with estimated SBV as dependent variable. Fixed effects were behaviour (continuous), batch, genetic line and sex, and random effects were compartment and, pen nested within batch, compartment and sex.

All data are reported as means ± SEM.

2.3 Results

Growth rate during the finishing period was not affected by time spent on giving social nosing, oral manipulation, aggression or disturbing other pigs (Table 2). Mounting was only observed seven times out of all observations and was therefore excluded from further analysis. There was no relationship between giving belly nosing and growth rate. The occurrence of belly nosing varied largely, especially between pens. From the 82 pigs that were observed to perform belly nosing, 46 pigs originated from 10 pens only. These 46 pigs performed 74% of all observed belly nosing. Belly nosing did not significantly influence growth within these 10 pens, nor were differences in growth between these 10 pens and the other pens caused by belly nosing. None of the given behaviours were significantly influenced by sex differences.

			Effect on growth
Behaviour	Mean % (SEM)	Range	(P value)
Social nosing	0.98 (0.06)	0 - 7.8	0.21
Oral manipulation	0.61 (0.04)	0 - 5.0	0.25
Aggression	0.18 (0.02)	0 - 2.8	0.39
Belly nosing	0.47 (0.07)	0 - 13.9	0.43
Disturbing	0.17 (0.02)	0 - 2.2	0.26
Receiving social nosing	0.70 (0.04)	0 - 4.4	0.03*
Receiving oral		0 - 6.7	0.01*
manipulation	0.54 (0.04)		
Receiving aggression	0.13 (0.02)	0 - 1.7	0.25
Receiving belly nosing	0.40 (0.05)	0 - 8.3	0.99
Lying	72.6 (0.6)	35.0 - 99.4	0.81
Sitting	2.4 (0.12)	0 - 16.1	0.75
Eating or drinking	7.5 (0.19)	0 - 19.4	0.13
Play	0.08 (0.01)	0 - 1.7	0.90
Other active	13.1 (0.36)	0.6 - 35.6	0.36

 Table 2. Descriptive statistics. Mean represents occurrence of behaviour as percentage of observation time.

*Significant by P < 0.05.

Growth rate was lower in pigs that received more oral manipulation ($F_{1,261} = 6.19$, P = 0.01, b = -13.2 g/d per % oral manipulation received). Individual pigs varied largely in how often they were the victims of oral manipulation (Table 2). Pigs that received oral manipulation more than 2% of the observations grew on average 43 ± 17 g/d less during the finishing period than pigs that did not receive oral manipulation (Figure 1). This corresponds to a weight difference of approximately 4 kg at the end of the finishing period. The categorical representation suggests that the relationship between received oral manipulation and growth rate follows a quadratic regression rather than a linear line. When received oral manipulation, was included in the model as a quadratic continuous explanatory variable, R² remained 0.37 while significance increased to P = 0.002. Thus, received oral manipulation, both as linear and quadratic explanatory variable, showed a negative relationship with growth rate. Weight at start of the finishing period had no effect on received oral manipulation (P = 0.86).







Figure 2. Growth rate (g/d) in LSMeans \pm SEM per category of social nosing received, presented with number of animals per category. The dotted line represents the quadratic regression line.^{a, b} Means lacking a common letter differ by P < 0.10.

Pigs that received more social nosing had a higher growth rate ($F_{1, 261} = 4.68$, P = 0.03, b = 11.8 g/d per % nosing received). Receiving social nosing during more than 2% of observations increased growth by 29 (± 17) g/d as compared to not receiving social nosing at all (Figure 2). Including receiving social nosing as a quadratic continuous explanatory variable in the model slightly improved the fitted curve, with an increase in R² from 0.37 to 0.38 and increase of significance to P = 0.02. Thus, received social nosing, both as linear and quadratic explanatory variable, showed a positive relationship with growth rate. Weight at start of the finishing period had no effect on receiving social nosing (P = 0.37). Receiving social nosing and receiving oral manipulation were positively, albeit weakly, correlated (r = 0.24, P < 0.001).

Received aggression and received belly nosing were not associated with growth rate during the finishing period. Sex did not significantly influence any of the received behaviours.

Other observed behaviours showed no significant relationship with growth rate. These were, lying, sitting, eating, play and other active behaviours (Table 2). Thus, from all behaviours observed, receiving oral manipulation and receiving social nosing showed a significant relationship with growth rate of finishing pigs.

Estimated SBV, i.e. the estimated social genetic effect of an individual on growth rate of its pen mates during the finishing phase, did not show a significant relationship with any of the behaviours.

2.4 Discussion

This study has investigated the relationship between (social) behaviours and growth rate of pigs. Receiving oral manipulation was associated with a reduced growth rate, whereas receiving social nosing was associated with an increased growth rate during the finishing period.

Oral manipulation and growth

Oral manipulation consisted of tail biting, ear biting, paw biting and other nibbling of pen mates. Though no distinction was made between the different forms of oral manipulation, tail biting seemed to occur most. Pigs that were more frequently the recipient of oral manipulation had a lower growth rate. Other studies reported a growth reduction in pigs that were severely tail bitten (England and Spurr, 1967; Sinisalo et al., 2012; Wallgren and Lindalh, 1996). Receiving tail bites has a negative effect on health (Schrøder-Petersen and Simonsen, 2001). Via open wounds on the tail, infections can spread throughout the body and cause infections to organs (Schrøder-Petersen and Simonsen, 2001). This also holds for mild tail biting wounds (Smith and Penny, 1998). Also when no tail damage is visible, however, pigs may already receive tail bites (Zonderland et al., 2011). In the present study, pigs were not observed for ear or tail biting wounds. It can therefore not be said whether the lower growth rate in pigs that received tail biting was due to infections caused by tail biting wounds.

Oral manipulation may also negatively affect growth rate because it causes stress to the receiver. It has been demonstrated that stress may negatively affect growth rate in pigs (Hyun et al., 1998). More specifically, stress due to oral manipulation was reflected in increased salivary cortisol levels (Munsterhjelm, 2009; Smulders et al., 2006), which are associated with lower growth rate (Smulders et al., 2006).

On the other hand, the reduced growth rate of pigs that were frequently orally manipulated could also reflect another, underlying problem, rather than being the result of the manipulation itself. For instance, animals that are not healthy, and therefore have a reduced growth rate, may be more vulnerable to receive oral manipulation. Animals that are ill show less activity (Hart, 1988), lie down more often and may show a reduced reaction to being tail bitten (Kritas and Morrison, 2004). It has been suggested indeed, that receiving oral manipulation might also be a consequence of poor health (Munsterhjelm et al., 2010). Weight at the start of the finishing period, three weeks before behavioural observations, did however, not significantly affect the amount of received oral manipulation. Although it is difficult to distinguish between cause and effect in the relationship between oral manipulation and growth, it is clear that oral manipulation may have negative consequences for health, welfare and productivity.

Aggression, belly nosing and disturbing other pigs

Excessive aggression causes stress, exhaustion and skin lesions, and can reduce growth rate (Stookey and Gonyou, 1994). In reciprocal fighting growth rate might therefore be related to both given and received aggression. Though in stable situations aggression occurs much less, aggression at three weeks after regrouping may be indicative for received aggression during regrouping (Turner et al., 2009). Aggression hardly occurred in the present study, likely because observations were done in a stable situation, three weeks after entering the finishing facilities, and because grouping of unfamiliar pigs was avoided.

Belly nosing is usually observed most frequently in the first weeks after weaning, where it was reported to occur 2.4% of the actual time on average (Li and Gonyou, 2002). In the first weeks after weaning, belly nosing may reduce growth rate of pigs that perform belly nosing, while it may be received more often by heavier pigs (Straw and Bartlett, 2001). This suggests that both giving as well as receiving belly nosing may be related to growth rate. Growth rate in the present study, however, showed no relationship with either given or received belly nosing. This might be due to its low occurrence, because behavioural observations were done eight weeks after weaning.

Disturbing other pigs can cause restlessness in the pen, which may lead to stress and loss of energy. Disturbing other pigs, however, was observed infrequently in this study.

Social nosing and growth

A positive relationship was found between receiving social nosing and growth rate. Social nosing amongst commercially housed pigs is often classified as harmful social behaviour (Beattie et al. 1996; Breuer et al., 2003; Van de Weerd et al., 2005), partly because oral manipulation is often preceded by nosing the body of the receiver (Schrøder-Petersen et al., 2004). Beattie et al. (2005) reported a positive correlation between nosing pig and tail biting of r = 0.31, which is slightly higher than the r = 0.24 of the present study. The weak correlation, together with the positive relationship between social nosing and growth, indicates that not all social nosing may be related to oral manipulation.

We can only speculate about the reason for a positive effect of receiving social nosing on growth. Receiving social nosing might enhance growth through physiological reactions to positive social contact. Positive social contact, such as touch or allogrooming, is known to activate the brain's reward system, and stimulates the release of the neuropeptide oxytocin (Pellis and Pellis, 2010; Rault, 2012). Oxytocin has been found to reduce stress and to increase growth rate, possibly through its effect on parasympathetic-vagal activity (Uvnäs-Moberg 1998; Uvnäs-Moberg et al., 1998). In pigs, simulation of grooming behaviour has been demonstrated to provoke relaxation behaviour in the receiver, and long term grooming simulation increased parasympathetic activity (Hansen, 2000). Although it has been suggested that pigs do not show allogrooming (Ŝpinka, 2009), others have reported that free-ranging pigs do engage in mutual grooming behaviour, also at eight weeks of age (Gonyou, 2001; Meynhardt, 1980). If social nosing, via touch
or allogrooming, alters positive social contact or reduces stress, this may have small but significant effects on growth.

On the other hand, the positive relationship between receiving social nosing and growth could be due to a third, unobserved, factor, such as social status. Dominant animals have predominance over feed stocks, but may also receive more social grooming, as has been shown in primates (e.g. Di Bitetti, 1997) and indicated in pigs (Ewbank and Meese, 1971), which could both potentially increase growth rate. If social nosing can be regarded as a positive social behaviour, our results underpin the importance of offering a positive social environment to pigs, which is often ignored in research on welfare in domestic animals. The positive effect of social nosing on growth may be an opening in following research on social genetic effects in pigs.

Animal welfare research has focused mainly on aspects that harm animal welfare (Boissy et al., 2007). Because of that, we previously may have overlooked subtle differences within certain behaviours that may have a different effect on welfare and growth. Our results suggest that social nosing is an example of such a behaviour. A possible solution to disentangle positive social behaviour from behaviour that is potentially harmful, might be a distinction between body regions. Van de Weerd et al. (2005) distinguished between "nose or chew tail, ear, hock or anal area or genitals of pen mates" as pig manipulation and "sniffing, touching body of another pig with snout" as nose pig, which they later describe as social contact (Van der Weerd et al., 2006). Though they do not mention why this distinction was made, their results show that pig manipulation follows a different frequency pattern over time than 'nose pig', which suggests different behavioural categories. If a distinction between body regions would have been applied in the current study, part of the observed social nosing might have been attributed to oral manipulation. With subtle differences in seemingly similar behaviours, a kind of specification may be necessary to distinguish positive from negative effects.

Social genetic effects and pig behaviour

It has been hypothesized that social genetic effects are a consequence of behavioural interactions between animals. This hypothesis can be true only when behaviour has a genetic basis and affects the growth rate of pen mates. A genetic basis has been reported for several behaviours in pigs, such as tail biting (Breuer et al., 2005; Turner, 2011). Here, we showed that a relationship between behaviour and growth indeed exists in pigs, which contributes to the hypothesis that social genetic effects are a result of behavioural interactions. Our results suggest that

especially oral manipulation may underlie social genetic effects, due to its genetic basis and significant effect on growth. The estimated SBVs for growth, however, did not relate to any of the behaviours. The lack of evidence for a relationship between SBVs and behaviours might be because pigs in this study showed only small differences in SBV, because they were not divergently selected for SBV.

In conclusion, receiving oral manipulation was associated with a reduced growth rate, whereas receiving social nosing was associated with an increased growth rate. The latter result shows that positive social behaviours are also of importance and should receive more research attention. The relationships found between behaviour and growth, suggest that selection on social genetic effects for growth might potentially lead indirectly to pigs that show less oral manipulation and show more social nosing. Consequences of selection for social genetic effects in pigs will be studied in future research.

2.5 Acknowledgements

This study is part of the project 'Seeking sociable swine? Incorporating social genetic effects into pig breeding programs to achieve balanced improvement in productivity and welfare' which is financially supported by the program 'The Value of Animal Welfare' of the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research (NWO). We would like to thank TOPIGS and the Institute for Pig Genetics BV (IPG) for providing data. Special thanks to René Heijting from IPG Beilen for the assistance at the animal facilities.

3

The pig's nose and its role in dominance relationships and harmful behaviour

Irene Camerlink^{1,2} and Simon P. Turner³

¹Adaptation Physiology Group, Department of Animal Sciences, Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands; ²Animal Breeding and Genomics Centre, Department of Animal Sciences, Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands; ³SRUC, Roslin Institute Building, Easter Bush Estate, Edinburgh, UK

Applied Animal Behaviour Science (2013) 145: 84-91

Abstract

Affiliative behaviour may have an essential role in many behavioural processes. Gently nosing between group members occurs in almost all social behavioural processes of pigs (Sus scrofa), but the reasons for its performance are unclear. We examined whether nosing between pigs was related to dominance relationships or harmful behaviours such as manipulation of the tail using 80 crossbred pigs. Both males and females, housed in straw pens, were studied at 8 weeks of age (10 pigs / pen). Dominance ranks were determined by a feed competition test. The behaviour of 64 focal pigs was observed for 2 h in total. Pigs nosed their pen mates on average 36 ± 3 times within 2 h, and nosing behaviour mainly consisted of nose-tonose contact, nosing the head and nosing the body, rather than nosing the ear, groin, tail or ano-genital region. These gentle pig-directed nosing behaviours, i.e. gently touching another individual with the snout, was here defined as social nosing. Dominance relationships did not influence the amount of nosing given or received. Social nosing was largely unrelated to harmful behaviour. Nosing the tail correlated with tail biting ($r_s = 0.37$), but only 0.3 percent of social nosing was followed by this behaviour. Pigs which delivered much nosing did not receive less aggression, and nor did they receive a heightened amount of nosing in return. We suggest that pigs may nose each other for social recognition, as affiliative behaviour, to gain olfactory signals, or to satisfy an intrinsic need to nose. In conclusion, social nosing in pigs was largely unrelated to harmful behaviours, was not related to dominance relationships and should remain largely unaffected by efforts to minimise harmful behaviours in farming systems.

Key words: Allogrooming, swine, dominance hierarchy, tail biting, snout contact

3.1 Introduction

It is often unclear why animals expend energy on performing certain social behaviours whose benefit to the performer is not obvious. Social behaviours without clear positive or negative effects on the individual or its conspecifics are much less studied and understood than behaviours that clearly affect animal fitness or welfare, which is especially the case in farm animals (Boissy et al., 2007; Yeates and Main, 2008).

Touch and nose contact have an essential role in communication, recognition, social grooming and the maintenance of dominance relationships (Newberry and Wood-Gush, 1986; Spruijt et al., 1992). Touch has been shown to be important for physical and mental health and development in humans and in other mammals (McDonald-Culp, 1997). Touch may stimulate the release of oxytocin in both the actor and the receiver, and may generate a positive affective state (Uvnäs-Moberg, 1998; Odendaal and Meintjes, 2003). Gentle touch between animals is most evident when engaged in social grooming, which has been well studied in primates, but to a lesser extent in other species (Spruijt et al., 1992). Social grooming may serve a number of functions associated with improving body hygiene, reducing tension and improving social bonding (Spruijt et al., 1992). Affiliative behaviours like touch and nose contact may contribute to group cohesion, which may minimise the occurrence of aggressive behaviour (Marler, 1976; Lehmann et al., 2007). Subtle touch or nose contact may therefore also have an essential role in other, more prominent, social behaviours.

In fundamental studies, affiliative behaviours and touch are generally considered to have a positive impact on the receiver (Feldman et al., 2003; Odendaal and Meintjes, 2003). In more applied studies related to farm animals, touch between animals is often viewed in the context of harmful behaviours, such as tail biting in pigs (Breuer et al., 2003; Van de Weerd et al., 2005). In pigs, the relationship between gentle pig-directed nosing and damaging forms of nosing and oral manipulation are not well understood, although a study on indoor commercially kept pigs showed that there is a positive correlation between pig-directed nosing and tail biting (Beattie et al., 2005). Efforts continue to minimise the expression of harmful oro-nasal behaviours in pigs, amongst others by extensive research on the causes and consequences of tail biting, and the development of strategies to reduce it (reviewed by Schrøder-Petersen and Simonsen, 2001). If minimising such behaviours also has correlated effects on the expression of nosing behaviour, this may have implications for the attainment of the benefits associated with non-damaging forms of pig-directed nosing which need to be understood.

In a previous study we found that immature pigs, *Sus scrofa*, that received much nosing had a higher growth rate (Camerlink et al., 2012a). In primates, dominant animals are the primary recipients of social grooming (Schino, 2001). It remained unclear from our earlier study whether the apparently beneficial effect of receiving nosing on growth was also due to dominance in which a dominant individual may be expected to receive a large amount of nosing and to obtain preferential access to feed and to grow most rapidly (Ewbank and Meese, 1971). The purpose of the current study was therefore to examine how nosing behaviour is embedded in the behavioural repertoire of pigs and specifically to examine whether the receipt of nosing is influenced by dominance relationships and whether this behaviour is correlated with harmful oro-nasal manipulation.

3.2 Material and Methods

Animals and housing

A total of 80 crossbred pigs ((Large White × Landrace) × Pietrain; 39 entire males and 41 females) of approximately 8 weeks of age (39.5 \pm 6.4 kg) were studied at the SRUC pig unit (Roslin, UK). To facilitate behavioural observations, half of the pigs were studied for 5 days in the first week of the trial (batch 1) and the other half was studied directly thereafter in the second week of the trial (batch 2). Four pens of 20 pigs (formed 3 weeks earlier at the start of the finisher phase) were each split into two at the start of each batch, two days before the behavioural observations, to create a total of eight mixed sex groups of 10 pigs. Pigs originated from 12 different litters, and final pens were composed of on average of 2 pigs from 5 different litters. One male was excluded due to poor health after the start of the trial, leading to n = 79. Pens measured 1.8×5.3 m (0.95 m² / pig), had a solid floor with a light dusting of straw and were cleaned and provided with approximately 4.5 kg fresh straw daily between 8.30 and 10.00 am. Each pen contained a dry pellet feeder with space for two pigs, and a separate nipple drinker. Pigs received a spray marked number on their back for recognition which was refreshed before tests and observations. Pigs were individually weighed at 4 weeks (weaning), 8 weeks (start of trial) and 9 weeks of age (end of trial). The work was subjected to an ethical appraisal by the Animal Experiments Committee at SRUC.

Feed competition test

A feed competition test was performed to determine the dominance hierarchy and was modified from the description by Thodberg et al. (1999). Access to feed was denied from the afternoon of the day prior to the test and pens were then tested in random order on the test day itself from 12.00 to 14.00 h. To conduct the test, the observer entered the pen and ensured that all pigs were standing and were paying attention to the observer. One kilogram of dry pelleted feed was then placed in the middle of the pen after which the observer exited the pen and recorded each feedrelated aggressive interaction and the identity of the initiator and receiver. When the feed had been consumed, the pig that had initiated the most attacks (but at least 3) was removed from the pen. A new sample of feed, 200 g less in weight than in the previous round, was placed in the middle of the pen and the process repeated. This procedure continued until the position of all pigs in the hierarchy had been determined. Where no pig initiated 3 or more attacks the procedure was repeated without removal of a pig. Repetition of the procedure without removal of a pig was allowed on a maximum of two consecutive occasions. The test was ended on the third occasion if no pig attacked at least 3 times, which usually occurred when there were ~3 pigs left in the pen. Pigs were ranked within their pen using first the order of removal, and thereafter the number of attacks delivered and then order of initiating an attack. Pigs with zero attacks shared the lowest rank. Animals with rank 1 - 5 were classified as relatively dominant pigs, and those with rank 6 - 510 were classified as relatively subordinate pigs for further analysis. This resulted in 39 dominant pigs (17 females and 22 males) and 40 subordinate pigs (24 females and 16 males).

Live behavioural observations

Continuous live observations were performed on 64 pigs to record the occurrence of different forms of nosing behaviour, together with aggression and potentially injurious oro-nasal manipulation (an ethogram is provided in Table 1). Focal pigs were selected based on the feed competition test, whereby the 2 most dominant and 2 most subordinate pigs of each sex were chosen from each pen. Each pig was observed for 120 min (2 h), composed of 12 blocks of 10 minutes distributed during the active period of the day (08:00–16:30 h). Observation blocks were spread over five consecutive days and balanced for day and time. Two pigs were observed simultaneously within each observation block. For all behaviours given by a focal pig, the receiver was noted. Table 1. Ethogram.

Behaviour	Description
Nose-to-nose contact	Snout touches the snout of another pen mate
Nosing head	Touching, gently rubbing or licking the head of a pen mate with the snout, including licking and nibbling hairs or eyelashes
Nosing ear	Touching, gently rubbing or licking the ear of a pen mate with the snout without taking it into the mouth
Nosing body	Touching, gently rubbing or licking the body, or nibbling hairs of a pen mate with the snout. Except for ears, head, tail and belly.
Nosing groin	Touch or non-aggressive push with the snout in the groin of a pen mate
Ano-genital nosing	Touching, gently rubbing or licking on the ano-genital region of a pen mate with the snout
Nosing tail	Touching the tail of a pen mate with the snout without taking it into the mouth
Nudge	Single gentle push or up and down snout movement on body of pen mate, excluding the belly
Tail biting	Taking the tail of a pen mate into the mouth or nibbling, sucking or chewing the tail
Ear biting	Taking the ear of a pen mate into the mouth or nibbling, sucking or chewing the ear
Belly nosing	Repetitive up and down snout movement on the belly of a pen mate
Manipulation other	Chewing part of the body of a pen mate except tail and ear
Head knock	A rapid thrust upwards or sideways with the head against any part of the body of a pen mate
Bite	Aggressive bite at any part of the body of a pen mate
Fight	Mutual ramming or pushing, with or without aggressive biting
Mounting	Standing on hind legs while having front legs on other pig's body
Play	Running around the pen with rapid changes in direction. Not associated with delivery or receipt of aggression but sometimes with gentle nudging of pen mates
Exploration pen	Nosing, sniffing, touching, rooting or scraping pen surface or bedding
Other non-social	All other behaviours whereby no interaction between pen mates occurred

Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses were performed using SAS 9.2 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, U.S.A.). For the focal pigs the frequency of behaviours directed at others during the 2 h observation period was known. For each focal and non-focal pig, the frequency of behaviours received over a total period of 8 h was known (calculated from 2 h of observations per focal pig x 8 focal pigs / 2 as two focal pigs were observed simultaneously). Residuals of the frequency of behaviours given and received were checked for their approximation to a normal distribution. Behaviours that were not normally distributed were square root transformed and analysed in a Generalized Linear Mixed Model (Mixed Procedure). If square root transformation did not lead to a normal distribution, the data were transformed to binary data (0: no occurrence, 1: > 0 occurrence) and analysed accordingly (GLIMMIX Procedure). All models included dominance group (dominant or subordinate), sex and observation week as fixed effects and pen, nested within observation week, as a random factor. Weight showed no statistically significant effect on behaviour and was omitted from the final analyses. Growth was analysed as a dependent variable with nosing behaviour as a fixed effect in the model. Relationships between behaviours with a Gaussian distribution were calculated by Pearson correlations and otherwise by Spearman rank correlations. Data are presented as untransformed means ± SEM.

Sequential analyses were performed as described in Van den Berg et al. (1999). Transition matrices were constructed for dominant and submissive pigs separately by placing the current behaviour in rows and the succeeding behaviour in columns. Diagonals were set to structural zeroes (de Vries et al., 1993). From the transition matrices, adjusted residuals were calculated using MatMan 1.1 (Noldus Information Technology, Wageningen, The Netherlands). Adjusted residuals follow a *Z*-distribution and, therefore, behavioural transitions with a value above 1.96 (P<0.05) were considered to occur more often than expected by chance. Results in Figure 1 were presented in a first-order Markov chain where behavioural transitions of *Z* >2.58 (P <0.01) were connected with thin arrows and transitions of *Z* >3.29 (P <0.001) were connected with thick arrows (Metz et al., 1983).

3.3 Results

Nosing behaviour

Nosing between pigs consisted mainly of nose-to-nose contact, nosing the body and nosing the head rather than nosing the ears, groin, tail or ano-genital region (Table 2). These gentle pig-directed behaviours were here defined as social nosing. All interactions between pigs, with the exception of aggressive behaviours, were either preceded or followed by significant associations with nosing a certain body region (Figure 1A, B). Females received slightly more nosing from males than from females; 54% versus 46% of total nosing received respectively ($F_{1.70}$ = 5.17, P < 0.05). Males performed more aggression (males: 16.0 ± 1.4; females: 9.9 ± 1.4 occurrences in 2 h; $F_{1.54}$ = 9.96, P < 0.01) and mounting (males: 0.68 ± 0.1; females: 0.09 ± 0.1 occurrences in 2 h; $F_{1,54}$ = 8.79, P < 0.01) than females and tended to receive more social nosing overall ($F_{1.69} = 2.80$, P = 0.10), but did not perform more social nosing. Pigs did not show a preference to nose litter mates that they had known from birth as compared to a pig that they had known for four weeks ($F_{1.54}$ = 1.64, P = 0.21). Weight at the start of the trial did not significantly influence the amount of nosing given or received (given $F_{1.54} = 0.20$, P = 0.56; received $F_{1.69} = 0.00$, P = 0.99). Growth rate between weaning at 4 weeks and the start of the experiment at 8 weeks, or during the one week period of the experiment itself, showed no relationship with the amount of nosing received (week 4 – 8: $F_{1.32}$ = 0.13, P = 0.72; week 8 – 9: $F_{1,33} = 0.00$, P = 0.95).

Social nosing and dominance relationships

Pigs that were classified as dominant showed more aggressive behaviour during the continuous observations and tended to tail bite more, but dominance group did not influence the amount of nosing given or received (Table 2). The sequential analyses showed that social nosing was more often associated with mounting in dominant pigs than in subordinate pigs (Figure 1A and B). Dominance group had no influence on the number of pen mates that a pig nosed (P = 0.84). Pigs nosed on average 8.1 out of their 9 pen mates, but directed 26.7 ± 0.8 percent of their nosing towards a single pig (with the exception of eight pigs that nosed two to three pigs equally often). This preferred pig differed by on average 3.5 ± 0.3 rank positions above or below the actor, and contact was largely unilateral (Figure 2). Within a pen, some pigs were preferred by several of the focal pigs (Figure 2). Those that gave much social nosing did not benefit by receiving less aggression ($r_p = -0.08$, n = 64, P = 0.77).

Behaviour	Dominant	Subordinate	Р
Nosing received	32.0 ± 2.0	28.6 ± 1.7	0.30
Nosing given	36.4 ± 3.2	38.7 ± 4.1	0.65
Nose-to-nose contact	12.1 ± 1.0	13.1 ± 1.2	0.55
Nosing head	6.2 ± 0.8	7.5 ± 1.1	0.46
Nosing ear‡	1.1 ± 0.2	1.8 ± 0.3	0.11
Nosing body‡	11.9 ± 1.3	13.4 ± 2.0	0.58
Nosing groin§	0.5 ± 0.1	0.5 ± 0.2	0.66
Nosing ano-genital‡	1.0 ± 0.3	1.1 ± 0.3	0.82
Nosing tail‡	0.9 ± 0.2	0.7 ± 0.2	0.69
Nudge‡	2.2 ± 0.5	1.5 ± 0.5	0.25
Aggression received	10.8 ± 1.0	10.2 ± 1.1	0.76
Aggression given	15.6 ± 1.6	10.3 ± 1.2	<0.05
Fight	3.2 ± 0.6	3.1 ± 0.7	0.51
Head knock	7.1 ± 0.7	5.0 ± 0.7	<0.1
Bite‡	5.2 ± 0.8	2.4 ± 0.4	<0.01
Oro-nasal manipulation received‡	1.6 ± 0.3	1.0 ± 0.2	<0.1
Oro-nasal manipulation given‡	1.8 ± 0.4	1.6 ± 0.4	0.85
Tail biting§	0.4 ± 0.2	0.1 ± 0.1	<0.1
Ear biting§	0.3 ± 0.1	0.2 ± 0.1	0.60
Belly nosing§	0.9 ± 0.3	1.1 ± 0.5	0.59
Other manipulation§	0.3 ± 0.1	0.2±0.1	0.52
Mounting§	0.9 ± 0.4	0.5 ± 0.2	0.73
Play‡	2.2 ± 0.5	2.7 ± 0.6	0.71
Pen exploration	26.3 ± 2.3	29.1 ± 2.2	0.32
Other non-social	28.6 ± 2.1	27.0 ± 1.5	0.55

Table 2. Mean frequency and SEM for behaviours of dominant and subordinate pigs. Note that n = 64 for behaviours given and n = 80 for behaviours received.

‡ Square root transformed for statistical analysis. Raw means ± SEM are presented.

§ Transformed to binary distribution for statistical analysis. Raw means ± SEM are presented.



Figure 1A. Markov chain of significant behavioural transitions of dominant pigs.



Figure 1B. Markov chain of significant behavioural transitions of subordinate pigs.



Figure 2. Within pen network of social nosing behaviour for each of the 8 pens. Black circles indicate dominant pigs and grey circles indicate subordinate pigs. Arrows point to which pig received social nosing most often from a focal pig (n = 64), with red arrows for a mutual preference to nose each other.

Table	3.	Spearman	rank	correlations	between	social	nosing	behaviours	and	related
behaviours, $n = 64$. 'Activity' is the sum of all active behaviours except social nosing.										
Nosing by body part										

	Nosing by body part						
	Nose	Head	Body	Tail	Ear	Groin	Nudge
Tail bite	0.25*	ns	0.24 †	0.37**	ns	0.25*	0.26*
Ear bite	ns	0.26*	ns	ns	0.48*	ns	0.24 †
Belly nose	ns	ns	0.40**	ns	ns	0.46***	0.40**
Play	0.33**	0.49***	0.27*	ns	ns	0.39**	0.59***
Pen expl	0.66***	0.68***	0.56***	0.36**	0.35**	0.42***	0.32*
Activity	0.59***	0.59***	0.53***	0.33**	0.29*	0.47***	0.49***
+ 0.040	*	** 0 004	*** 0 . 0.0	04			

= P < 0.10; * P < 0.05; ** P < 0.01; *** P < 0.001.

Social nosing and oro-nasal manipulation

Only 2.5 percent of social nosing was followed by potentially injurious oro-nasal behaviour, of which 0.3 percent was attributed to tail biting, 0.4 percent to ear biting, 1.3 percent to belly nosing and 0.4 percent to other forms of oro-nasal manipulation such as biting the foot. Nosing the tail correlated with tail biting and nosing an ear correlated with ear biting, but nosing other parts of the body was unrelated to such damaging forms of interaction (Table 3). The performance of tail biting, ear biting and belly nosing were not correlated with each other, indicating that these behaviours were performed by different pigs in this population. In contrast to harmful behaviour, nose-to-nose contact, nosing the head, body and groin, and nudging were related to play behaviour. Pigs that were more active in general, however, showed more nosing on all body parts, but social nosing showed the strongest positive correlation with pen exploration (Table 3). Two pigs showed extreme frequencies of social nosing (104 and 109 times within 2 h), mainly consisting of nosing the head and body of the recipient, but were only seen to perform oro-nasal manipulation on 2.5 occasions and received aggression 4.5 times. Both pigs were females of average weight and had the lowest rank in their group.

3.4 Discussion

Nosing between pigs mainly consisted of nose-to-nose contact, nosing the head and nosing the body, rather than nosing the ear, groin, tail or ano-genital region, and was defined as social nosing. Almost all interactions between pigs were either preceded or followed by significant associations with nosing a certain body region. Social nosing was largely unrelated to dominance relationships and harmful oronasal behaviour.

Social nosing and dominance relationships

Pigs did not base their social nosing behaviour on dominance relationships which is in agreement with observations that social grooming is not based on dominance relationships in cattle, even though both cattle and the pigs in the present study directed behaviour preferentially towards certain recipients (Sato et al., 1993; Val-Laillet et al., 2009). This is in contrast to primates in which social grooming is performed mostly by subordinate animals especially after the receipt of aggression, and is possibly a way of placating a dominant individual (Spruijt et al., 1992; Kutsukake and Clutton-Brock, 2006). Pigs do form dominance relationships (Ewbank, 1976), and it has also been reported that they engage in social grooming (Meynhardt, 1980). In the current study, pigs that were the recipients of aggression did not perform a heightened level of social nosing and, in the sequential analysis social nosing was not significantly associated with aggression. This suggests, together with the lack of a relationship with dominance, that the function of social nosing in pigs may be different to the social grooming behaviour in primates. If pigs do not nose according to dominance relationships, do not nose in expectation of a similar level of reciprocation and, at the individual level, do not benefit from the receipt of reduced aggression as a result of nosing, then it is appropriate to ask what benefit is derived from the performance of social nosing.

Olfactory cues and recognition

One obvious explanation for why pigs may nose is that they obtain important information from their environment by olfactory cues. Like most mammals, pigs mainly use olfactory cues to recognize other individuals (Kristensen et al., 2001; Ferguson et al., 2002). Recognition, and the ability to differentiate between familiar and unfamiliar individuals, is essential for the maintenance of dominance relationships (Ferguson et al., 2002). This also holds for pigs (Stookey and Gonyou, 1998; Mendl et al., 2002). Pigs also obtain chemical signals from their physical and social environment (Vieuille-Thomas and Signoret, 1992). In particular, non-volatile chemosensory cues such as pheromones, which are detected by the vomeronasal system, are obtained through direct physical contact (Brennan and Zufall, 2006). This may explain why pigs were so frequently involved in physical nose-to-body and nose-to-nose contact. Through these chemical signals, animals may gain specific information on conspecifics, like their health and reproductive state (Brennan and Kendrick, 2006). Social nosing in pigs may therefore serve for recognition of individuals and to facilitate communication, thereby enabling the maintenance of dominance relationships and olfactory learning (Brennan and Zufall, 2006).

An intrinsic need to nose

It has often been emphasized how important it is for pigs to occupy their nose (Graves, 1984; Van Putten, 1979). In a semi-natural environment, pigs spend around half of the daylight period foraging with the nose for feed (Stolba and Wood-Gush, 1989). In commercial pig production which is often characterized by high stocking densities and a stimulus-poor environment, this intrinsic need to nose or forage may lead to behavioural problems like tail biting (Van Putten, 1979; Moinard et al., 2003). Even in the absence of injurious oro-nasal behaviour, the social nosing observed may in part occur without an obvious function beyond fulfilling an intrinsic need to nose. Social nosing may therefore contribute to meeting a behavioural need that is over and above any role related to recognition.

Social nosing in relation to oro-nasal manipulation

Related to pigs' intrinsic need to nose is the occurrence of oro-nasal manipulation such as tail and ear biting. In the current study there was a correlation between nosing the tail and tail biting, and between nosing an ear and ear biting. These correlations are higher than those reported between overall social nosing and tail biting (Beattie et al., 2005: r = 0.31). In studies on tail biting, social nosing is sometimes regarded as a precursor to harmful behaviour (Breuer et al., 2003; Van de Weerd et al., 2005). The behavioural patterns studied here show that only 2.5 percent of all social nosing is related to harmful oro-nasal behaviour and that labeling social nosing as harmful is unjustified in the majority of cases. Pigs had access to straw in the current study which may have helped to minimize the occurrence of harmful oro-nasal behaviour. Behaviours such as tail biting are more common in environments which do not offer manipulable substrates (Moinard et al., 2003), and under such conditions the relationship between harmful behaviours and social nosing may be different to that reported here. In the current setting, however, social nosing seemed largely unrelated to oro-nasal manipulation with the exception of nosing the targeted body part. Efforts to reduce the occurrence of harmful oro-nasal manipulation may therefore reduce the occurrence of nosing to the tail and ears, but are unlikely to affect the occurrence of nosing to other parts of the body.

Affiliative behaviour

Affiliative behaviour in the form of touch and social grooming may offer another explanation why pigs would invest effort in social nosing as these behaviours are believed to lead to benefits such as removal of ectoparasites, tension reduction and improved social bonding (Spruijt et al., 1992). The ethogram applied in this study intentionally did not include social grooming as this behaviour is composed of actions that also occur in other contexts (e.g. nibbling also occurs during oro-nasal manipulation), and is therefore difficult to classify objectively. Social grooming in pigs has been described as 'systematically touching the skin surface of another pig with the rooting disk, thereby removing alien objects and dirt with the snout' (Hansen, 2000; translation by author). Although it has been suggested that pigs do not engage in social grooming (Ŝpinka, 2009), there are studies that report social grooming between familiar pairs of sows and younger pigs and it has been seen to benefit the removal of ectoparasites in wild boar (Meynhardt, 1980; Ruiterkamp, 1985; Gonyou, 2001). However, it has been suggested that pigs show less social grooming under intensive housing conditions (Ruiterkamp, 1985). Two pigs in the

present study were observed to spend a considerable amount of time on social grooming when the definition of social grooming provided by Hansen (2000) was applied. They gently nosed the body and head of pen mates, thereby nibbling the hairs and making soft rubbing movements on the skin with their snout. The fact that only two out of the 64 pigs could be marked as social groomers suggests that most social nosing was not related to grooming that might be expected to lead to the removal of parasites, but that affiliative behaviour through gentle touch may have derived other benefits. Receiving a gentle touch may lead to a decline in heart rate and stimulate the release of oxytocin in both the performer and receiver (Drescher et al., 1980; Uvnäs-Moberg, 1998; Odendaal and Meintjes, 2003). Oxytocin contributes to many physical processes and may therefore have benefits ranging from a feeling of well-being, to improved growth and social recognition (Unväs-Moberg, 1998; Ferguson et al., 2002). In pigs, gentle touch may increase parasympathetic activity (Hansen, 2000) and administration of oxytocin may affect pigs' stress-coping abilities (Rault, 2011). Therefore, through affiliative behaviours such as social grooming or gentle touch with the nose, pigs might obtain intrinsic benefits which make them perform this behaviour more often than would otherwise be necessary.

Preferential associations

Pigs seemed to nose without reference to dominance rank, sex or status as littermates. Pigs nosed 8 out of their 9 pen mates, but finally directed 27 percent of their nosing bouts to one pig, though this contact was largely unilateral. It was observed that some pigs within a pen were preferred by several of their pen mates. The reason why these pigs were so attractive to nose for other pigs, independent of dominance, remains unclear. During the behavioural observations it was often noted that a pig would nose the body of several pen mates before choosing a lying location. Indoor-housed pigs have preferred lying areas (Turner et al., 2003) and within a pen pigs may form preferential associations with pen mates regarding lying in close proximity (Durrell et al., 2004; Stookey and Gonyou, 1998). This could suggest that pigs have preferred nosing partners, but could also reflect a preferred lying location. Social nosing may be more likely to occur between pigs that rest in close proximity or, regarding the unilaterality of the contact, pigs that for example rest close to the feeder might receive more (unilateral) nosing due to their position at a location which is often visited by all pen mates.

Benefits of social nosing

In previous research it was found that pigs that received much nosing had a high growth rate (Camerlink et al., 2012a), although no effect on growth was apparent in the current study, possibly as it was measured over a short time period. As discussed here, social nosing may stimulate the release of oxytocin, reduce tension by physical reactions to gentle touch, and may contribute to the maintenance of preferred associations. Thus, except for the relationship between nosing the ears and tail and the performance of harmful oro-nasal manipulation, social nosing is mainly involved in social processes that are likely to be beneficial to the individual or to group cohesion.

3.5 Conclusion

Pigs engaged frequently in social nosing behaviour in a manner that was not related to dominance relationships and was largely unrelated to harmful oro-nasal manipulation. Pigs may nose each other for recognition, as affiliative behaviour, or to satisfy an intrinsic need to nose which is thwarted by a stimulus-poor indoor environment. Efforts to minimise harmful forms of oro-nasal manipulation are unlikely to significantly affect the expression of the majority of social nosing behaviour or to compromise the benefits derived from its expression.

3.6 Acknowledgements

This research was financially supported by the Netherlands Organisation for Scientific Research (NWO) and the Dutch Ministry of Economic Affairs, Agriculture and Innovation (ELI). SRUC receives financial support from the Scottish Government. The authors would like to thank Peter Finnie and Phil O'Neil at the SRUC pig unit for their care for the pigs, Paul Koene for his help with the sequential analyses, and Liesbeth Bolhuis for the useful comments to the manuscript.

4

Intranasally administered oxytocin in relationship to social nosing behaviour in domestic pigs

Irene Camerlink^{1,2}, Inonge Reimert¹, J. Elizabeth Bolhuis¹

¹Adaptation Physiology Group, Department of Animal Sciences, Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands; ²Animal Breeding and Genomics Centre, Department of Animal Sciences, Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands

Abstract

Oxytocin relates to positive social behaviour, and intranasal administration of oxytocin has been shown to reinforce these behaviours. Social nosing has been suggested as a positive social behaviour in pigs (Sus scrofa), and more insight in the specific expression of this behaviour might contribute to the current search for positive indicators of animal welfare. Our objective was to investigate whether oxytocin alters social nosing in pigs, and whether all social nosing is influenced or only snout contact. Sixty-four female pigs of 13 wk of age were subjected to intranasal administration of oxytocin (24 IU dose) and saline (placebo) on consecutive days. Forty minutes after administration, pigs (kept in groups of six) were observed for the frequency of social nosing upon return in the home pen after being temporary separated of group mates. Social nosing was observed as nose-to-nose contact and gentle nose-to-body contact. Results indicated no influence of oxytocin on the frequency of nose-to-nose contact (oxytocin 2.1 ± 0.2 ; saline 2.6 \pm 0.3; P = 0.55), or nosing-to-body contact (oxytocin 5.5 \pm 0.5; saline 5.9 \pm 0.6; P = 0.90). Pigs did more often nose the body of pen mates when they were, presumably, in a positive emotional state, regardless of oxytocin or saline. The relationship between social nosing and oxytocin, either exogenous or endogenous, may merit further research.

Keywords. Social nosing, oxytocin, behaviour, nose contact, welfare

4.1 Introduction

Animal welfare research has been largely focussed on situations where animal welfare is most at stake, such as harmful behaviours (Boissy et al., 2007; Yeats and Main, 2008). The insights in harmful behaviours may contribute to solutions to improve animal welfare, but only shed light upon part of the behavioural repertoire which animals may express and the emotions they may experience. Recently, positive behaviours and emotions are increasingly addressed, amongst others as indicators of positive welfare in farm animals (reviewed by Boissy et al., 2007; Yeats and Main, 2008). The boundary between 'neutral' behaviour and positive behaviour, however, is often vague. For example, play is interpreted as positive behaviour and indicator of good welfare (reviewed by Boissy et al., 2007; Held and Spinka, 2011), but has many overlaps with agonistic behaviours (Held and Spinka, 2011). Similarly, social nosing in pigs, which is a gentile tactile contact with the snout, can be a positive social behaviour (Meynhardt, 1980; Blackshaw and Hagelsø, 1990; Hansen, 2000; Camerlink and Turner, 2012), but it can easily turn into oral manipulation such as tail biting, which is harmful to the recipient (Schrøder-Petersen et al., 2004; Beattie et al., 2005). Insight in these behaviours may enable interpretation of the underlying emotional states (Held and Spinka, 2011), which may contribute to the assessment of welfare (Rutherford et al., 2012). Positive social behaviour is related to oxytocin, and vice versa. Oxytocin, either endogenous released or exogenous administered, may elicit (mostly positive) social behaviour, whereas positive social behaviour usually triggers the release of oxytocin (reviewed by e.g. Uvnäs-Moberg, 1998; Churchland and Winkielman, 2012). The relationship between oxytocin and social behaviour has been extensively studied, and a vast amount of reviews have been published covering the role of oxytocin in various social contexts (e.g. Uvnäs-Moberg, 1998; Insel, 2010; MacDonald and MacDonald, 2010; IsHak, 2011; Churchland and Winkielman, 2012). Oxytocin has been associated with, amongst others, maternal care (Champagne et al., 2001; Francis et al., 2001), social recognition (Ferguson et al., 2002), and feelings of empathy and trust (De Dreu, 2012). Intranasal administration of oxytocin is a frequently applied method to study the role of this neuropeptide in the brain and the subsequent changes in social cognition and behaviour (e.g. Insel, 2010; Churchland and Winkielman, 2012; Graustella and MacLeod, 2012).

Social nosing may serve in pigs, amongst others, detection of olfactory cues, recognition of conspecifics (Kristensen et al., 2001), and social grooming (Meynhardt, 1980). Each of these functions may be enhanced by oxytocin (olfactory: Yu et al., 1996; recognition: Ferguson et al., 2002; Bielsky and Young, 2004; Winslow and Insel, 2004; and grooming: e.g. Spruijt et al., 1992; Francis et al.,

2001; Dunbar, 2010). Snout contact, i.e. nose-to-nose contact, may be of particular interest for its interactive character and role in social bonds (pigs: Petersen et al., 1980; Blackshaw and Hagelsø, 1990). Snout contact requires close proximity between the animals involved, whereby both are aware of each other and have a certain acceptance or mutual willingness to involve into social contact. This approach behaviour and social bonding can relate to oxytocin (Lim and Young, 2006; Ross and Young, 2009). Nosing other body parts also serves to investigate the other, and may in part be rather explorative than social (Schrøder-Petersen et al., 2004; Beattie et al., 2005). Snout contact may thus give a better reflection of close social contact than nosing of other body parts.

Here, we subjected pigs to intranasal administration of oxytocin with the hypothesis that this would provoke social nosing behaviour. In this study, a distinction was made between snout contact, i.e. nose-to-nose contact, and nosing of other body parts, to gain insight in the type of nosing behaviour that might be altered by oxytocin administration. Our objective was to investigate whether intranasally administrated oxytocin influences social nosing behaviour in pigs, and whether this relates to all social nosing or specifically to snout contact.

4.2 Material and methods

This study was part of an experiment on emotional contagion in pigs (Reimert et al., submitted), and the current trial has been based on that experiment. The study was approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee of Wageningen University.

Animals and housing

Young female pigs (Pietrain × (Great Yorkshire×Dutch Landrace)) were located at the experimental farm of Wageningen University, the Netherlands, over two batches of 48 pigs each (n = 96). Pigs were 9 weeks of age when they arrived, and 13 weeks of age when the behavioural observations started. Pigs were housed with 6 per pen. From each pen, 4 pigs were selected as focal pigs, resulting in a sample size of 64 animals, originating from 16 pens in total. Each pen offered 0.85 m² per pig, and had a bedding of wood shavings (68 l) and straw (~1.5 kg). Pens were cleaned daily, after which approximately 500 g of fresh bedding was supplemented. Standard pelleted feed was provided *ad libitum* from a single space feeder and water was available *ad libitum*. Lights were on from 07:00 – 19:00 h, as well as a radio to get pigs acquainted to noise from the environment. Each pig was individually recognizable by a spray marked number on her back.

Treatment with oxytocin and saline

Pigs were subjected to intranasal administration of oxytocin and saline (placebo) on two consecutive test days. Pigs served as their own control, meaning that each pig would receive oxytocin at one test day and saline on the other day or vice versa. The treatment with oxytocin included a dose of 24 IU of oxytocin (VWR International BV, Amsterdam, the Netherlands). Hereto, 50 μ g oxytocin was diluted in 0.5 ml of 0.9 % saline. The placebo was 0.5 ml of 0.9% saline. A Mucosal Atomizer Device (MAD 300, Vandeputte Medical Nederland BV, Nieuwegein, the Netherlands), i.e. nasal spray, connected to a 1 ml syringe, was applied to spray 0.25 ml of the treatment solution in each nostril (based on Rault et al., 2013a). Treatments were given 40 minutes before behavioural observations commenced.

Behavioural observations

Behavioural observations on social nosing took part in a larger study on emotional contagion between pigs (Reimert et al., submitted). All pigs had a role within the larger study, whereby per pen three pig pairs were distinguished, which is described in Table 1. The 'naïve' pigs may have been influenced by the 'aroused' pigs through olfactory and auditory cues, and the experience of the aroused pigs (either positive or negative) was included in the statistical analyses. Behavioural observations were started immediately from the moment that all pigs had returned to the home pen. Per observation moment, one pig pair was continuously observed during 10 minutes. The frequency of giving social nosing was scored manually from live observations. A distinction was made between nose-to-nose contact and nose-to-body contact, whereby from each nosing behaviour the actor and receiver were noted. This resulted in four variables per pig, which are described in Table 2. The pens and treatments were randomly distributed over and within the four consecutive test days. Behavioural observations were performed by one observer, who was unaware of the treatments the pigs had received.

Data analysis

Data were analysed with SAS 9.2 (SAS Inc.). The frequencies of social nosing were square root transformed to approximate normal distribution. The effect of treatment on social nosing was analysed in a mixed model including the frequencies of giving or receiving social nosing as response variables. The explanatory variables were class effects for treatment (oxytocin / saline), experience of the 'aroused' pigs in the test room (positive / negative), order of treatment (saline-oxytocin / oxytocin-saline), test order at the observation day (1 - 8), and batch. Type of participation in test room (naïve / control) had no significant

effect on social nosing and was omitted from the model to allow inclusion of the variable describing the experience in the test room. No significant interactions were found between the variables. Pig (nested within pen and order of treatment), and pen were included as random effects. Values presented are (untransformed) means \pm SE.

Pig pair	n	Experience in test room	Treatment
Aroused	32	Positive or negative experience. Positive:	Excluded from
		compartment filled with peat, straw and	observations on
		chocolate raisins. Negative: isolation in a	social nosing
		compartment where previously they had	
		experienced a nose sling	
Naïve	32	For 4 minutes in a barren compartment (app. 3 m ²) while 'aroused' pigs were in adjacent compartment. Pigs had auditory and olfactory (no visual) cues from the	Oxytocin on one day, saline on other day
		adjacent compartments.	
Control	32	For 4 minutes in a barren compartment (app. 3 m ²) without any happening.	Oxytocin on one day, saline on other day

Table 1. Experiences in the test room.

Table 2. Ethogram.

Social nosing	Description
Nose contact	Focal pig touches, or actively attempts to touch, with its snout
given	the snout of another pig irrespective of the reaction of the
	recipient.
Nose contact	Focal pig is touched on its snout by the snout of another pig,
received	with or without active participation or seeking mutual contact.
Nosing body	Focal pig gently touches the skin or hairs (e.g. eye lashes) of
given	another pig with its snout. This may include gently rubbing and
	nibbling without harmful consequences for the receiver, i.e.
	the recipient should not respond with a sudden pain response
	or agonistic behaviour.
Nosing body	Focal pig is gently touched, rubbed or nibbled on its skin or
received	hairs by the snout of another pig, while the focal pig is not
	responding with agonistic behaviour or a pain response.

0.96

0.90

0.14

6

16

16

0

0

0

4.3 Results

NC received

NB received

NB given

 2.38 ± 0.25

 5.88 ± 0.59

 5.33 ± 0.45

The nosing behaviour of pigs, as reflected in nose-to-nose and nose-to-body contact, did not differ between oxytocin and saline (Table 3). There were no differences between the treatments for giving or receiving social nosing (Table 3). The nosing of the body of another pig occurred twice as much as snout contact.

subjected to intranasal administration of saline or oxytocin.								
	Saline			Oxytocin				
	Mean ± SE	Min	Max	Mean ± SE	Min	Max	P-value	
NC given	2.56 ± 0.30	0	10	2.06 ± 0.21	0	6	0.55	

 2.16 ± 0.19

 5.47 ± 0.47

 4.55 ± 0.39

9

23

18

0

0

0

Table 3. Frequency of nose contact (NC) and nosing body (NB) during 10 minutes, in pigs

The pigs that had in the test room been located near pigs that had a positive experience (aroused pigs), where nosing the body of their pen mates, among which the aroused pigs, more upon return in the home pen than pigs that had been located near pigs with a negative experience (Figure 1; P = 0.03). This was irrespective of whether pigs had received oxytocin or saline, i.e. there was no interaction between the treatment and the experience in the test room (Figure 1; P> 0.10).



Figure 1. Frequency of social nosing (*n* times within 10 minutes) for nose-to-nose (NN) and nose-to-body contact (NB), when pigs had received oxytocin (Oxy) or saline (Sal) and where located in a compartment adjacent pigs that experienced a positive (Pos) or negative treatment (Neg), n = 64.

4.4 Discussion

In the current trial, social nosing was not affected by intranasal administration of oxytocin. We hypothesized that administration of oxytocin would increase social nosing and in particular snout contact, i.e. nose-to-nose contact. In contrast to this expectation, the raw means suggested lower frequencies of social nosing when pigs received oxytocin as compared to when they received saline, but these differences were not significant.

Intranasal administration of oxytocin to pigs has, to our knowledge, only been investigated by Rault and coworkers (2011; 2013a; 2013b). These studies indicate that the method and dose of intranasally administered oxytocin used in this trial was expected to be effective in pigs. These studies, however, also yielded unexpected results. For example, neonatal pigs treated with oxytocin showed more aggressive behaviour (Rault et al., 2013a). The current study was part of a trial on emotional contagion (Reimert et al., submitted). During the time in the test room for emotional contagion, the pigs that had received oxytocin did not differ in their behaviour compared to pigs that had received saline. The 'aroused' pigs that underwent a positive or negative experience, however, showed changes in their behaviour when they were located near oxytocin treated pigs as compared to being near saline treated pigs (Reimert et al., submitted). This suggests that the administration of oxytocin was, at least in part, effective.

Upon return in the home pen, the pigs that had been located in the test room while the 'aroused' pig pair underwent a positive experience, were nosing the body of their pen mates, amongst which the 'aroused' pair, more often. This was irrespective of whether they had received oxytocin or saline. This suggests that the 'naïve' pigs were influenced in their behaviour by the auditory or olfactory signals from their pen mates in the adjacent compartment (Reimert et al., submitted; Düpjan et al., 2011). This effect of emotional contagion, which in this case presumes that the pigs were in a positive emotional state (Hatfield et al., 1994), lasted at least ten minutes after the pigs had returned to their home pen, whereby they were reunited with the positively 'aroused' pen mates. This finding also suggests that social nosing may increase when being in a positive emotional state, regardless of the intranasal administration of oxytocin.

Social nosing may in part be an expression of affiliative behaviour and social grooming (pigs: Meynhardt, 1980; Hansen, 2000; Camerlink and Turner, 2012). Affiliative behaviour and grooming are positively associated with oxytocin, at least in rodents and primates (Spruijt et al., 1992; Francis et al., 2001; Dunbar, 2010). Intranasal administration of oxytocin did not increase social nosing between pigs, which suggests that affiliative behaviour or social grooming were unaffected.

Pigs were observed from the moment upon arrival in the home pen, i.e. when they were reunited with familiar pen mates. Social nosing may have predominantly functioned to gain olfactory cues and to recognize conspecifics (Kristensen et al., 2001). Olfactory memory and social recognition may improve due to oxytocin (rats: Popik et al., 1992; mice: Ferguson et al., 2002). Pigs which had received oxytocin might have better recognized conspecifics, which could reduce the necessity to repeatedly gain social cues through social nosing. The current data did not reveal an effect of intranasally administered oxytocin on social nosing. However, the extensive body of literature that confirms in other species the influence of exogenous and endogenous oxytocin on the biological mechanism which relate to social nosing in pigs, it is reasonable that oxytocin may have a role in social nosing through other pathways.

4.5 Conclusions

Intranasal administration of oxytocin did not influence the expression of nose-tonose and nose-to-body contact in pigs, as compared to saline, a placebo treatment. Nose-to-body contact did increase when pigs were, presumably, in a positive emotional state. Social nosing in pigs may have several functions, and each of these functions has in other species been related to either endogenous or exogenous oxytocin. This implies that there may be a role for oxytocin in social nosing, but which could not be detected in the current trial. The relationship between social nosing and oxytocin may merit further research.

4.6 Acknowledgements

This study was part of the project 'Seeking Sociable Swine', which was financially supported by the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research (NWO) and the Dutch Ministry of Economic Affairs.

5

Struggling to survive: early life challenges in relation to the backtest in pigs

Irene Camerlink^{1,2}, Winanda W. Ursinus^{1,3}, J. Elizabeth Bolhuis¹

¹Adaptation Physiology Group, Department of Animal Sciences, Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands; ²Animal Breeding and Genomics Centre, Department of Animal Sciences, Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands; ³Animal behaviour & Welfare; Wageningen UR Livestock Research, The Netherlands.

Accepted in Journal of Animal Science in revised form

Abstract

Intensively reared piglets may face many early life challenges. Early life challenges may alter behavior and personality, although conversely, some challenges may also be induced by (maladapted) behavior and personality. The objective of this study was to examine the relationship between piglets' early life circumstances and their behavioral response in a backtest, which may reflect their personality. Hereto, 992 piglets of 14 d of age were subjected to a backtest, in which they were 1 min restrained in supine position. The number of struggles in the backtest was assessed in relation to data on ADG, BW, BW relative to litter mates, teat order, litter size, and health. Piglets that had a lower ADG from birth till the test day were struggling more (b = -2.4 g ADG/struggle; P = 0.03). Also piglets with a lower BW at 14 d of age tended to respond more actively in the backtest (b = -0.03 kg/struggle; P = 0.08). The response to the backtest was unrelated to ADG from birth till weaning, birth weight, weaning weight, teat order, litter size, and health. ADG and BW were unrelated to the variation of backtest responses within the litter. The results suggest that smaller slower growing piglets actively fight against a challenge, either because piglets born with such a behavioral response were able to survive, or that piglets adapted their behavioral response to their physical condition. Despite the lack of a relationship with most of the early life conditions in the current study, it remains important to minimize challenges that might negatively affect animal health, welfare, and behavior.

Keywords. coping style, early life, health, growth, pig, stress

5.1 Introduction

Intensively reared piglets often grow up in a highly competitive social environment and face many early life challenges (Rutherford et al., 2013), such as painful interventions (Weary et al., 2006) and early weaning (Robert et al., 1999). These challenges may mostly affect smaller piglets, which may suffer from injuries and undernourishment (Milligan et al., 2001; Rutherford et al., 2013). A lack of a stable and nourishing early environment can greatly impact behavioral and physiological development (e.g. Anisman et al., 1998; Sih, 2011), and may alter personality (Carere et al., 2005; Biro and Stamps, 2008).

Personality, or coping style, may be reflected in the response to challenges, whereby the response can be more proactive or more reactive (Koolhaas et al., 1999). Proactive copers are more likely to show an active behavioral response and easily develop routines, whereas reactive copers may behave more explorative and flexible (Koolhaas et al., 1999; Carere et al., 2005). The possibility to shift between response styles, but also the diversity of coping styles within a group, may be beneficial to adapt to environmental challenges (Koolhaas et al., 2007; Dingemanse et al., 2010). For instance, in times of feed scarcity, animals may develop a more proactive response (Carere et al., 2005).

In piglets, the coping style may be reflected in the backtest (e.g. Hessing et al., 1993; Bolhuis et al., 2005a). The response of piglets in this restraint test previously showed an association with growth, whereby smaller piglets responded more actively (Velie et al., 2009; Spake et al., 2012). This suggests a possible relationship between early life circumstances and coping style in piglets. The objective of this study was to examine the relationship between piglets' early life circumstances, which were measured in terms of health, weight, growth, litter uniformity, litter size and teat order, and their response in a backtest.

5.2 Materials and methods

All procedures were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee of Wageningen University and approval was then adopted by the Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of Groningen, as this committee was connected to the experimental farm.

Animals and housing

A total of 1153 piglets were life born out of 80 litters from in total 65 sows (Topigs-20, a Landrace × Large White cross), which were serviced by one out of 24 boars (Tempo, a synthetic line of Large White). Farrowing took place over five consecutive batches between August 2011 and September 2012 on the experimental farm of TOPIGS BV, Beilen, The Netherlands. The trial was part of a larger study on indirect genetic effects for growth, whereby two contrasting groups of high and low social breeding value were formed (described in Camerlink et al., 2013). The genetic contrast did not affect any of the here described backtest parameters (Reimert et al., 2013a), and is not further discussed.

Sows were housed in conventional barren farrowing crates where the sow is locked between bars during the entire farrowing period. The temperature in the farrowing house was on average 25°C. Sows within a batch farrowed within 6 d of each other. Two sows were lost to follow-up due to a uterus prolapse, and their piglets were excluded from the trial.

Cross-fostering was applied only if a litter consisted of more than14 piglets. Milk replacer was only provided when the sow had insufficient milk for the litter (20% CP, 20% crude fat, 1.7% Lys). Dry creep feed (15.2 ME MJ/kg, 21% CP, 8.5% crude fat, and 1.6% Lys) was provided from 7 d after birth until 3 wk of age, and then replaced by piglet pellets (10.6 ME MJ/kg, 15.5% CP, 5.5% crude fat, and 1.2% Lys) which were given until weaning at 4 wk of age. Piglets had continuously access to a nipple drinker. Before 5 d of age each piglet was given an anticoccidial agent (Baycox, Bayer, Belgium; 0.1 cc), an iron injection (Pig-Ironject, Dopharma B.V., the Netherlands; 0.5 cc), and antibiotics (Naxcel, Pfizer Limited, United Kingdom; 0.2 cc). All piglets kept intact tails and teeth. Male piglets were castrated under CO2/O2 anesthesia around 5 d of age. In case of infection or disease piglets received Penject 30 (0.1 cc/kg body weight) during 3 d. Skin wounds were treated with an antimicrobial spray (Chlortetracycline). All treatments, including reason of treatment, were recorded. To enable recognition of piglets, piglets received a number on their back with black hair dye, which was redone before tests and observations. Due to tests and measurements, piglets were on average three times a week shortly handled. Piglets that were not viable or did not recover after treatment were euthanized.

Body weight and health

Piglets were individually weighed at d 1 (day of birth), and around d 14 and 27. Besides absolute body weight (BW), a relative BW was determined to compare weights within litter as a measure of litter uniformity. Relative BW was calculated as the actual weight of the piglet minus the average weight within the litter. Average daily gain (ADG) in g / d was calculated by the weight gain over a period divided by the number of days, calculated from actual day of birth of each piglet. Once a week, in addition to the daily routine checks, individual piglets were scored for vitality, body condition, and diarrhea. The vitality score indicated either no

vitality problems (score 1), vitality problems which did not require lifesaving treatment (score 2), or life threatening situations such as diseases and disorders that can cause death (score 3). Body condition score indicated overweight (backbone not palpable) (score 0), good condition (score 1), or lean (score 2). Diarrhea was weekly visually scored as absent or present for each piglet. For analyses, all weekly scores were averaged per individual into one score for each of the three variables.

Backtest

A total of 992 piglets, of 14 ± 0.5 d of age, were subjected to a backtest. The backtest was carried out according to the procedure of Hessing et al. (1993), and has in detail been described in Melotti et al. (2011). Briefly, piglets were held in a supine position for one minute to observe their behavioral response. The number of struggles (also referred to as escape attempts), the number of vocalizations, and latency times until the first struggle and vocalization were recorded. The backtest was carried out by two experimenters who were trained to handle the pig in the same manner, and by one observer who counted vocalizations and latencies.

The variation of coping styles within a group may be essential for the success of the population (Koolhaas et al., 2007). The variation in backtest response within a litter was approximated by a gliding scale from 0 to 100. Zero indicated that either 100% of the piglets within a litter did not struggle (all 0 struggles), or 100% of the piglets did struggle (all >0 struggles), reflecting little variation within a litter. One hundred reflected maximum variation within the litter, whereby 50% of the piglets did not struggle, and 50% of the piglets did struggle. The values between zero and hundred indicated the varying percentages of piglets that did or did not struggle.

Teat order

Teat order, i.e. the location of each piglet at the udder of the sow, was recorded at three different suckling bouts, divided over the second week of life. The location of each piglet on the udder was noted by recording the individual piglet number and the teat number. Anterior teats received number 1, and each following teat was incrementally numbered, up to a maximum of 9 teats on each teat line (based on Hemsworth et al., 1976 and Ruis et al., 2000). Dysfunctional teats were recorded, but not included in the numbering. It was noted on which side a sow was lying, and whether piglets were in the upper or lower row of teats.

Statistical analyses

Data were analyzed with SAS 9.2 (SAS Inst. Inc., Cary, NC). Variables were checked for normality and, if required, square root or logarithmically transformed. Data are presented as untransformed means ± SEM.

If an animal did not struggle or vocalize during the backtest, the latency times were set at maximum (60 s). The raw data of the number of struggles was skewed towards the left tail of the distribution (Fig. 1), but the residuals of the four backtest variables did approach normality (Shapiro-Wilk test). The residuals were obtained by testing the four backtest variables in a general linear model that contained batch as a fixed effect. The residuals of the four variables showed strong correlations ($r_p 0.51 - 0.75$; all P < 0.001). Therefore, in line with other studies, only the number of struggles was considered for further analysis (Van Erp-van der Kooij et al., 2003; Cassady, 2007).



Figure 1. Distribution of number of struggles of 989 piglets tested in the backtest.

Teat order was consistent across observations ($r_p = 0.83 - 0.86$; P < 0.001), and observations were therefore averaged per piglet. To enable equal comparison between sows with a different litter size, the teat order was expressed into categories. Hereto, the udder was divided into anterior, middle and rear by dividing the maximum number of piglets on a row of teats by three. Piglets were categorized into this teat order rank based on their average teat order.
The relationships between the number of struggles in the backtest and the piglet characteristics (BW, ADG, relative BW, vitality score, body condition score, antibiotic treatment, diarrhea, and teat order rank) was analyzed in two different ways.

The first model (model 1) was a mixed model (Proc MIXED) with 'number of struggles' as dependent variable, and the piglet characteristics entered singly as independent variables to test their effects on the backtest response of the piglets. Litter size, sex, and being cross-fostered were independent effects, and sow, nested within batch, was included as random effect. Interactions that were relevant to the research question were explored and, if significant, also tested in the second model.

The second model (model 2) was applied to enable extra examination of the relationship between backtest behavior and other pig characteristics while correcting for sex, litter size, cross-fostering and batch, which were likely to affect the piglet characteristics. The continuous variables (BW, ADG, relative BW, vitality, body condition, and diarrhea) were analyzed with Proc MIXED, whereas a generalized mixed model (Proc GLIMMIX) was used to analyze the antibiotics treatment (binary distribution, logit link) and teat order rank (multinomial distribution, glogit link). Piglet characteristics were entered as dependent variables, and the 'number of struggles', sex, litter size, being cross-fostered, and batch were included as fixed effects. The different weight and growth variables were singly included as fixed effects, but were not included in the models where BW or ADG were the dependent variable. Sow, nested within batch, was included as random effect. As the number of antibiotics treatments was low, the model had to be simplified by removing 'batch' from the fixed effects of that model.

All models were run once with the biological sow to determine the effect of genetics, and once with the nursing sow (although often the same as biological sow) to determine the relationship with the sows rearing capacity. Both options gave similar outcomes, and because biological sow had the best model fit, results were presented based on biological sow. The number of struggles was fitted both linearly and quadratic into the models to determine the best curve, but the linear fit gave the best model estimates.

The within-litter variation with regard to the backtest response was first analyzed on pen (litter) level to determine the effect of within-litter variability of backtest responses on (average) litter traits (GLM Procedure without random effect). Thereafter, within-litter variability, and its interaction with the number of struggles, was tested as fixed effect in model 2.

5.3 Results

The statistical model that enabled correction for weight (model 2, backtest as independent variable) resulted in similar significance values as in model 1, where backtest was the dependent variable. Reported P-values originate from model 2, unless otherwise specified.

General health and weight

In total, 1153 piglets were life born of which 985 piglets were eventually weighed at weaning. The average number of live born piglets per sow was 15.1 (range 3 – 21). A total of 74 piglets (6.1 %) were cross-fostered. Most piglets had no vitality problems (mean score 1.3 ± 0.01) and had a good body condition (mean score 1.1 ± 0.01) (Table 1). This was also reflected in the low percentage of piglets with (visible) diarrhea, and the few antibiotics treatments (Table 1). The average birth weight was 1.3 ± 0.01 kg (range 0.4 - 2.7 kg). From birth till weaning, piglets had an ADG of 6.5 ± 0.04 g, leading up to an average weaning weight of 7.9 ± 0.05 kg (range 2.4 - 12.9 kg). Body weight, relative BW (i.e. BW minus average litter weight), and ADG, all at any period during lactation, strongly affected the body condition score, the vitality score, and antibiotics treatment (all *P* <0.001), with smaller and slower growing piglets being thinner, less vital, and receiving more often antibiotics compared to heavier piglets. BW and ADG, at any time period, were not related to the occurrence of diarrhea.

Measurement	Piglets (%)
Vitality score	
Good	62.2
Impaired	23.3
Life-threatening	1.5
Body condition score	
Overweight	4.1
Good	66.6
Lean	16.3
Diarrhoea	9.4
Antibiotics treatment	3.6
Stillborn	4.7
Total mortality (excl. stillborn)	13.8

Table 1. Descriptive statistics of health measurements, n = 1210 (including stillborn).

Backtest

The number of struggles tended to relate to the BW measured at the day of the backtest (b = -0.03 kg / struggle; t(986) = -1.74; P = 0.08), but not to BW at birth (P = 0.78) or at weaning (P = 0.21). Piglets that had a lower ADG between birth and the day of the backtest (d 14) showed a higher number of struggles (b = -2.4 g ADG / struggle; t(984) = -2.14; P = 0.03; Fig. 2). This relationship was not apparent in the ADG from birth till weaning (P = 0.15). The number of struggles was unrelated to the relative BW (relative BW d 1 P = 0.56; d 14 P = 0.14; and d 24 P = 0.31). The association between BW and the number of struggles may relate to the litter size, but litter size did not interact with number of struggles, nor did it influence performance.



Figure 2. Average Daily Gain between $d \ 1 - d \ 14$ (ADG in g/d) in relation to the number of struggles during the backtest.

The number of struggles was unrelated to the litter size at d 14 (P = 0.24), sex (P=0.20), and cross-fostering (P = 0.15), which were included in each model (P-values model 1). The number of struggles was unrelated to the health measurements, i.e. body condition (P = 0.93), vitality (P = 0.36), antibiotics treatment (P = 0.15), and occurrence of diarrhea (P = 0.86). The number of struggles in the backtest was influenced by both biological sow and actual nursing sow (as random effect both P<0.001). The within litter variation of the backtest response or its interaction with the number of struggles did not relate to any of the

tested dependent variables (Fig. 3). In other words, BW, ADG and health did not depend on the variety of backtest responses within a litter.

lity	100	243	247	234	234	249	226				
iabi	75	246	225	242	238	249	235	246	\uparrow		
var	50	242	232	230	242	235	212	219	(G		
6 of	25	254	232	243	238	243	327	248	AD(
~	0	260	245	236	236	240	220	237			
		0	1	2	3	4	5	e	5		
	Number of struggles										

Figure 3. Heat map of the ADG (g) of piglets from birth to weaning in relationship to the response of the backtest (number of struggles) and the within litter variation regarding the backtest response (0 - 100% variety in response).

Teat order

The anterior teats were mostly occupied by heavier piglets, while the rear teats were occupied by lighter and slower growing piglets (for all BW and ADG P <0.001; model 2). This relationship was strongest for the relative birth weight, whereby piglets that occupied the anterior teats were at birth on average 80 g heavier than the litter average (P <0.001). Teat order class was unrelated to the number of struggles in the backtest (P = 0.55) and to the variation of the number of struggles on litter level (P = 0.53). There was no interaction between the number of struggles and the relative BW at birth for the location at the udder (P = 0.88).

5.4 Discussion

Piglets that had a lower ADG from birth till the test day responded more actively during the backtest, and piglets with a lower BW at the test day (d 14) tended to respond more actively. This is in line with other studies that reported that piglets with a lower ADG during lactation and a low BW at d 21 of age showed a higher activity during the backtest, but also in these studies the associations were weak (Velie et al., 2009; Spake et al., 2012). Activity at a restraint in a weighing crate was also weakly negatively correlated with BW (Holl et al., 2010). These relationships suggest that piglets with a low ADG or BW show a more proactive coping response (Hessing et al., 1993; Bolhuis et al., 2005a). The link between the backtest and coping styles has been criticized because of the lack of correlation between the backtest and other behavioral tests (Jensen et al., 1995; Spake et al., 2012). However, different behavioral tests may reflect different personality dimensions, such as coping style, sociality, or fearfulness (Van Reenen et al., 2005; Koolhaas et

al., 2007), and the response in the backtest might reflect one of those dimensions (Van Erp-van der Kooij et al., 2002). This would most likely be the trait which is usually referred to as 'coping style' which has, apart from a divergence in responding actively versus passively to acute mild stress, behavioral flexibility as a main characteristic (e.g Bolhuis et al., 2004). In fact, the extremes with regard to backtest response at a young age have been found to differ in behavioral, physiological and neurobiological responses to acute and chronic stress up till adulthood (Geverink et al., 2003; Karman, 2003), with consequences for their production performance (Geverink et al., 2004).

The backtest response was not significantly related to the birth weight of the piglets, indicating that weight at birth was not determinative of the behavior. It is unknown whether the association between backtest response and ADG in the first two weeks of life reflects a causal relationship, and, if so, it is also hard to disentangle cause and effect. One option is that by d 14 piglets had adapted their behavioral response in the backtest to the postnatal situation. In order to cope with challenging situations, animals may adopt different behavioral styles (Bell, 2007). In other species it has been shown that animals that suffered from malnutrition, or had to compete more, may adopt a more proactive coping style or respond more aggressive (D'Eath and Lawrence, 2004; Carere et al., 2005), which might explain the effect that we observed in the current study. It should be noted, though, that animals that respond more actively or bold may, however, also have a higher ADG, as has been proven through a vast number of studies (Stamps, 2007; reviewed in Biro and Stamps, 2008). From an evolutionary perspective, the active response may coincide with increased risk taking in foraging, consequently acquiring more feed, and thereby resulting in a higher ADG, but also a higher predation risk (Stamps, 2007). The effect of an active coping strategy may also depend on environmental circumstances, such as availability of resources and stability of the environment (Benus et al., 1991). Also in pigs, in some studies an active backtest response has been associated with a high ADG (Van Erp-van der Kooij et al., 2003; Cassady, 2007). Ruis et al. (2000) also reported a higher ADG during lactation, which is in contrast with the present results and those of others (Schrama et al., 1997; Velie et al. 2009; Spake et al. 2012). Ruis et al. (2000) ascribed the higher ADG of piglets with an active backtest response to their successful competition for the anterior teats. Rank order at the teats did not relate to the backtest response in this study, however, nor did litter size influence or interact with the backtest response in its effect on ADG, even though litter size may have a marked effect on behavior and competitiveness (Mendl and Paul, 1990). Also the variation of activity responses within the litter was in this study unrelated

to BW, ADG, and health albeit a positive effect of a varied group composition regarding coping styles has been suggested in several animal species (Koolhaas et al., 2007; Bergmüller and Taborsky, 2010).

The moment of measuring performance (BW or ADG) might be essential when assessing the relationship with behavior, as shown in this study. The life stage, and with that the (social) context and stability of the environment, may exert different effects on growth (Naguib et al., 2011; English et al., 2013). A stable environment might be best for proactive copers, whereas an unpredictable environment would be easier to deal with by the more flexible reactive copers (Geverink et al., 2004; Reimert et al., 2013a).

Thus, the response in the backtest was weakly associated with the ADG of piglets, in line with previous studies. We hypothesized that the response in the backtest might be related to other early life conditions as well, such as health, but this hypothesis could not be confirmed. The general health of the piglets was good, resulting in very little variation in the health measurements, which might explain why no relationship was found. Coping styles are characterized by different immunological responses, and therefore differences in vulnerability to disease (Goodkin et al., 1992; Koolhaas, 2008). It might be that more vulnerable smaller piglets with a proactive response are more likely to survive, or perhaps even adopted this response to survive, whereas other small piglets did not and died. Unfortunately there were no backtest responses available of piglets that did not survive.

Weight relative to the litter average was not related to the backtest response, which may elucidate that being small compared to litter mates is different from being small in general. This would point out that the behavioral response in the backtest would be rather affected by malnutrition or competition for nutrition, than by being low in rank (D'Eath and Lawrence, 2004).

The sow explained a notable part of the response, which is in line with the heritability of the backtest response ($h^2 = 0.53$, Velie et al., 2009). Also the intrauterine environment of the sow (Baxter et al., 2008), the milk production, and the (nursing) behavior (Valros et al., 2002) may have contributed to the behavioral and physiological development of the offspring. Only six percent of the piglets were cross-fostered, and this did not result in significant differences in the backtest response, although pigs may have changed their response after cross-fostering (Van Erp-van der Kooij et al., 2003).

Harmful early life experiences, or a lack of a stable and nourishing early environment, may cause amongst others cognitive impairment and disease, and the adverse effects may be permanent (e.g. Lupien et al., 2009; De Kloet et al., 2005; Murgatroyd et al., 2009). It has been suggested that animals with a more active coping strategy may be more vulnerable to develop aberrant behaviors, such as tail biting (Korte et al., 2009), which may be triggered by challenges to the allostasis (De Kloet et al., 2005; Maccari and Morley-Fletcher, 2007). Minimizing harmful early life challenges is therefore not only important for the welfare of the animal, but also has an important role in providing a sound base for adaptation to conditions in later life (e.g. Anisman et al., 1998; Veenema, 2009).

5.5 Conclusions

Piglets with a lower ADG from birth till d 14, and a lower BW at d 14, slightly struggled more in the backtest. The response in the backtest was unrelated to birth weight, weaning weight, BW relative to the rest of the litter, ADG till weaning, teat order, and measures on health. Therefore, confirmation of a relationship between the backtest response and other early life challenges than ADG and BW, failed. Although associations between the response to the backtest and ADG and BW around the test day were weak, our results confirm results found in previous studies. Irrespective of the strength and duration of the adaptation, it remains important to minimize challenges that might negatively affect animal health, welfare, and behavior.

5.6 Acknowledgements

We would like to acknowledge René Heijting and TOPIGS for the use of the animals and facilities. We also thank the colleagues and students that contributed to the collection and processing of data. This research was financially supported by the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research (NWO) and the Dutch Ministry of Economic Affairs.

Part II

Indirect genetic effects on growth rate in pigs



6

Growth performance and carcass traits in pigs selected for indirect genetic effects on growth rate in two environments

I. Camerlink^{1,2}, J.E. Bolhuis¹, N. Duijvesteijn^{2,3}, J.A.M. van Arendonk², P. Bijma²

¹Adaptation Physiology Group, Department of Animal Sciences, Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands; ²Animal Breeding and Genomics Centre, Department of Animal Sciences, Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands; ³TOPIGS Research Center IPG, Beuningen, The Netherlands.

Journal of Animal Science, doi: 10.2527/jas.2013-7220

Abstract

Production traits such as growth rate may depend on the social interactions between group members. These social interactions might be partly heritable and are referred to as indirect genetic effects (IGE), social-, associative-, or competitive genetic effects. IGE may contribute to heritable variation in traits, and can thus be used to increase the response to selection. This, however, has hardly been tested by selection experiments. Our objective was to determine the effects of one generation of selection on IGE for growth (IGEg) in pigs on ADG, BW, ADFI, feed efficiency, and post-mortem measurements. Sires (n = 24) and dams (n = 64) were selected to create a high vs. low contrast for IGEg in the offspring (n = 480). The IGE difference was 2.8 g ADG per pen mate, corresponding to 14 g higher ADG in high IGEg offspring compared to low IGEg offspring when housed in groups of 6 (i.e. (6- $1 \times 2.8 = 14$). Male (barrows) and female (gilts) offspring were housed in groups of 6 of the same IGEg classification, in either barren concrete pens or pen enriched with straw and wood shavings (n = 80 pens). Pigs were followed from birth to slaughter. Data were analyzed in a mixed model with pen as random factor. There was no difference in ADG between high and low IGEg pigs during the finishing period (wk 10 to 23). Opposite to expectations, high IGEg tended to have a 17 g lower ADG from weaning to slaughter (P = 0.08), which was caused by a higher BW of low IGEg pigs in wk 5 (P = 0.008). This led to a 2.3 kg lower carcass weight (P=0.02) and 2.2 mm less muscle depth for high IGEg pigs (P=0.03). High IGEg pigs had a higher stomach wall damage score (P = 0.01). Pigs on straw had a 25 g lower ADG during finishing (P = 0.03), and less stomach wall damage (P < 0.001). Fewer interventions against harmful behavior were required in high IGEg pigs. The unexpected results regarding IGEg may be due to several reasons. Despite initial power calculations showing good power, the IGEg contrast between groups may have been too small. Moreover, measures that were taken to limit harmful behavior may have had a substantial role. Harmful behavior such as tail biting may affect ADG and might underlie the effects of selection on IGEg in pigs. Research under commercial circumstances, where harmful behavior is likely to be more profound, may give more accurate insight into the benefits of selecting for IGEg.

Key words: genotype by environment, growth, housing, indirect genetic effect, pig, production

6.1 Introduction

Group housed animals may affect each other's production by their social interactions (a.o. Rodenburg et al., 2010). The effect that an animal has on its group members is partly heritable, and is known as indirect genetic effect (IGE), also referred to as social-, associative, or competitive genetic effect, or social breeding value. By including IGE in the selection criteria, both the genetic merit of the individual for its own performance and its effect on social partners are taken into account (Griffing, 1967). IGE may contribute to heritable variation in traits, and can thus increase response to selection (Muir, 2005; Bijma et al., 2007b). Genetic estimates showed that this is true for poultry (Muir, 2005; Ellen et al., 2008; Muir et al., 2013), mink (Alemu et al., 2014b) and pigs (Bergsma et al., 2013), but selection experiments are rare in livestock (Rodenburg et al., 2010).

In pigs (*Sus scrofa*), IGE have been estimated to contribute to the heritable variation in ADG, feed intake, and androstenone (Chen et al., 2010; Bergsma et al., 2013; Duijvesteijn et al., 2012), but these estimates require confirmation by selection experiments. Genotype by environment (G×E) interactions may exist for production traits in pigs (Schinckel et al., 1999; Wallenbeck et al., 2009), and therefore the effect of selection on IGE for growth might be different in different environments (Dominik and Kinghorn, 2008).

Our objectives were to conduct a selection experiment to determine the effects of selection based on IGE for growth (IGEg) for production traits in pigs, and to examine possible G×E interactions for pigs housed in conventional barren pens and enriched pens. In a one generation selection experiment, 480 pigs with either high or low IGEg were studied from birth to slaughter and assessed for ADG, BW, feed efficiency, back fat thickness, muscle depth and stomach lesions.

6.2 Material and methods

This study was carried out in strict accordance with the recommendations in the European Guidelines for accommodation and care of animals. The protocol was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Wageningen University (Protocol Number: 2010055f).

Estimation of IGE for growth

The estimation of IGE for growth has been described previously (Camerlink et al. 2013), and is therefore described only briefly here. Estimated breeding values for IGE for growth are expressed in g ADG during the finishing phase (from 25 - 110 kg), and are hereafter abbreviated as IGEg. Twenty-four boars and 64 sows were divergently selected on IGEg to create a genetic contrast, i.e. difference between

groups, in the offspring for IGEg whereas average direct breeding value (DBV) was kept equal for both offspring groups. Boars were selected from available TOPIGS AI Tempo boars (commercial synthetic boar line with Great Yorkshire genetic background), and sows originated from a herd of 120 'TOPIGS-20' sows (sow line of Great Yorkshire × Dutch Landrace). The contrast for estimated IGEg in the offspring prior to the trial was on average 3.6 g ADG. After the trial, IGEg of the parents were re-estimated in same manner as prior to the trial but including more data. Breeding values of parents were re-estimated on the extended data, including more offspring information, but excluding records of the offspring that participated in the trial. After re-estimation, the average estimated IGEg was 1.5 for high IGE pigs and -1.3 for low IGE pigs, resulting in a contrast of 2.8 g ADG. The average DBV for ADG was 12.5 for high and 12.4 for low IGE pigs. The resulting contrast in expected ADG depends on the number of group members of individuals. Offspring were housed in groups of six from weaning until slaughter and, therefore, the IGE contrast corresponds to an expected growth difference of $(6-1) \times 2.8 = 14$ g ADG during the finishing phase (Bijma et al., 2007b), with a corresponding SE of 6.3 g/day (Appendix 1). The contrast of 14 g ADG corresponds to an expected difference in body weight of 2.2 kg between the high and low group at the end of the 160-d trial (on ~110 kg).

Animals and housing

A total of 480 offspring were studied over five batches of 96 piglets each, between September 2010 and January 2012. Piglets were born in conventional farrowing crates (TOPIGS experimental farm, The Netherlands). Piglets were only cross-fostered if litter size exceeded 14 piglets, and only within IGE group. Tails and teeth were kept intact. Male piglets were castrated at 3 d of age. At ~27 d of age, piglets were weaned and a maximum of eight healthy piglets per sow were selected (selection criteria described below) and transported to experimental farm De Haar (Wageningen, The Netherlands).

From weaning on, a 2×2 experimental arrangement was applied with IGE (low vs. high) and housing conditions (barren vs. enriched) as factors at the pen level. Pigs were housed with six pigs per pen (3 castrated males and 3 females), giving a total of 80 pens. Pigs within a pen originated from different sows and had never been housed together. Half of the pigs from each IGEg group, and half of the selected piglets from each sow, were allocated to barren pens, and the other half to enriched pens. Pigs of high IGEg were never mixed with pigs with low IGEg.

Barren pens had a concrete floor, which was half solid and half slatted. Enriched pens had a solid floor with a deep litter bedding of straw and wood shavings. At the

start of the trial each enriched pen was provided with \sim 1.5 kg straw and \sim 11.6 kg wood shavings. Daily, ~1.8 kg of straw and ~2.9 kg of wood shavings were added to each enriched pen. Both barren and enriched pens had a space allowance of 1.0 -1.2 m² / pig. depending on the barn. The treatment groups were equally divided over the two barns. Each pen contained a metal chain with ball. To limit excessive tail biting behavior, all pens (including barren pens) received a handful of wood shavings per day from wk 6 onwards. For the same reason, a jute sack was attached to the wall from wk 8 onwards. The jute sack was chewed on and 'consumed' by the pigs and was replaced by a new sack when it was consumed till approximately two third of the length. Pigs were housed in these pens from weaning until slaughter at 23 wk of age. Dry pelleted commercial feed was offered ad libitum. From 4 to 7 wk of age pigs had a feeder offering space to three pigs, and from wk 7 to 23 pigs had a single space feeder. Diet composition changed according to commercial practice (see Table 1) whereby during the first day the previous feed and the new feed were mixed to create a gradual transition. Water was continuously available from a single nipple drinker per pen. Temperature was set at a minimum of 25°C until 10 d after weaning, hereafter at 22°C for 3 wk, followed by 20°C until slaughter. Lights and a radio were on from 7:00 till 19:00 h.

Pigs were twice daily checked for their health. Skin lesions and wounds were treated with an antimicrobial spray (Chlortetracycline spray). Measures to limit tail biting were taken to guarantee a certain level of animal welfare. When a tail wound due to tail biting occurred, a repulsive substance (PHB spray or Stockholm tar, alternated) was smeared on the bitten tails. As soon as a pig's tail was shortened due to being tail bitten (i.e. a severe tail wound) the affected pig, or the biting pig (determined by behavioral observation) was removed from the pen. This led to the exclusion of six bitten high IGE pigs and three low IGE bitten pigs and one tail biter (low IGE). Other health problems (as diagnosed by visual observations) were similar between both IGE groups and were, with the total number of affected pigs between brackets: lameness (5), umbilical hernia (4), meningitis (2), anal prolapse (2), pneumonia (2), or other reasons (3). In total, 17 high IGE pigs and 11 low IGE pigs were lost to follow-up.

TUDIC 1. L	Tuble 1. Diet composition nom birtin to slaughter.							
Wk o	f age	% CP	% Ileal digestible Lys					
0 to 4	1	21	1.5					
4 to 6	5	17.8	1.25					
6 to 8	3	16.0	1.07					
8 to 1	12	16.8	1.05					
12 to	23*	14.5	0.83					

Table 1. Diet composition from birth to slaughter.

* Plus additional Ca, P, Vit D3.

Production parameters and post-mortem measurements

Pigs were weighed individually at d 1 of age (birth), d 27 (weaning), and at wk 5, 10, 17, and 23 (before slaughter). The amount of feed consumed from weaning till slaughter was recorded per pen during the following 5 periods: wk 4, wk 5 to 10, 10 to 17, and 17 to 23. Average daily feed intake (ADFI) per pig was approximated by dividing the ADFI per pen by the number of animals present in the pen (corrected for animals lost to follow-up). Feed efficiency was calculated as average ADG per pig divided by the approximated ADFI per pig.

At 23 wk of age, all high and low IGE pigs of the same batch were jointly transported over a distance of 80 km to a commercial abattoir. At slaughter, records were collected on net carcass weight, back fat thickness, and muscle depth were obtained from the standard measurements from the abattoir. From the net carcass weight, the carcass yield was calculated as the dressing percentage (net carcass weight / live weight × 100). The stomach of each pig was collected and assessed for stomach wall damage with a score of 0 - 5, according to the protocol of Hessing et al. (1994). A score of 0 indicated a normal pars-esophagus, leading up to score 5 for hyperkeratosis with many and severe erosions, or ulcers, or occlusion of the esophagus into the stomach. Due to inaccurate machine settings at the abattoir, the ear tags of pigs in batch 5 got could not be recognized, resulting in n = 375 for post-mortem measurements.

Data analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using SAS (SAS Inst. Inc., Cary, version 9.2). Residuals of the response variables all approached normality.

Before weaning (lactation period) all pigs where housed under the same housing conditions. High IGE sows farrowed on average one day earlier than low IGE sows (P < 0.01), and had less piglets at weaning (High 12.2 ± 0.08; Low 12.8 ± 0.08; P=0.02). Including age at weaning and litter size at weaning as covariates in the

model improved the model fit. The effect of selection for IGEg on the response variables ADG and BW from birth till weaning of the selected pigs (n = 480) was analyzed with the following mixed model (Mixed Procedure),

 $y = \mu + IGE$ group + sex + litter size + weaning age + batch + <u>pen</u> + e, (1)

where pen was a random effect nested within IGE group and batch.

After weaning, housing condition (barren vs. enriched) and its interaction with IGE group and batch were added to the model. Age and litter size at weaning were also significant predictors for most production traits after weaning and therefore remained in the model as covariates. The number of animals (per m²) may influence the amount and type of social interactions, such as tail biting (e.g. Schrøder-Petersen and Simonsen, 2001), and may affect growth (e.g. Hyun et al., 1998). We corrected for reduced group size due to animals being lost to follow-up by assigning for each pig the variable 'pigdays', which is the sum of the number of days that each pen mate (so excluding the pig itself) was present in the pen. 'Pigdays' did indeed affect several parameters and was therefore retained in the model. All response variables except for ADFI were analyzed with the following mixed model (Mixed Procedure),

 $y = \mu + IGE$ group + housing + IGE group*housing + sex + 'pigdays' + weaning age + litter size + batch + batch*housing + <u>pen</u> + *e*, (2)

where pen was a random effect nested within IGE group, housing condition and batch. ADFI was recorded by pen, and therefore analyzed with model 2 excluding the random pen effect (so on pen level) in a general linear model (GLM Procedure). To facilitate interpretation of the data, ADFI was presented per pig by assigning the average ADFI per pen to all pigs present in the pen (see section 'Production parameters'). Data are presented as LSmeans ± SEM.

6.3 Results

Effects of selection on IGEg

ADG during the finishing period was considered the most important parameter in this study, because IGE were estimated based on this trait. ADG during the finishing period, from 10 to 23 wk of age, showed no significant difference between the IGE groups (High 934 ± 8 g; Low 951 ± 8 g; P = 0.16) but high IGE pigs tended to have a lower ADG from weaning to slaughter (High 867 ± 6 g; Low 884 ± 7; P = 0.08). IGE

groups did not differ in ADG during the lactation period, i.e. from birth till weaning (High 248 ± 8 g; Low 249 ± 8; P = 0.74). Both IGE groups had on average a high ADG (Fig. 1). The group of 18 low IGE pigs with expected AGD above 840 g (Fig. 1) is due to three sires with high DBVs. From the group of 16 high IGE pigs with a realized ADG below 750 g (Fig. 1), 14 out of the 16 pigs could be attributed to three sires which were in total mated to ten different dams. Surprisingly, two of these boars had the highest estimated IGEg, whereas estimated IGEg of the third boar dropped in the re-estimation from 4.3 to 0.5.



Figure 1. Realized ADG for high and low IGEg pigs as a function of predicted ADG, calculated as 800 + estimated DBV + sum of estimated IGEg of each pen mate (n = 452), including a regression line for each IGEg group.

BW did not significantly differ between the high and low IGE group during the lactation period, giving both groups an equal BW at weaning (Table 2). In the first week after weaning (wk 5), high IGE pigs gained less BW than low IGE pigs (Table 2), and had a lower ADFI and poorer feed efficiency (Table 3). After wk 5 ADFI and feed efficiency did not differ anymore between the groups, but high IGE pigs tended to be lighter till slaughter (Table 2).

High IGE pigs had a lower carcass weight and less muscle depth than low IGE pigs, but had similar carcass yield, back fat thickness and meat percentage (Table 4). Carcass weight and muscle depth were strongly related (P < 0.001), but when muscle depth was corrected for carcass weight the effect of IGE group remained (P=0.03). High IGE pigs had a higher stomach wall damage score (Table 4).

D/Wk of age	High IGEg	Low IGEg	SEM	P-value
d 1	1.5	1.6	0.06	0.30
d 27	8.1	8.3	0.2	0.17
wk 5	8.9	9.2	0.1	0.008
wk 10	33	34	0.3	0.053
wk 17	84	86	0.6	0.056
wk 23	118	120	0.9	0.052

Table 2. LSmeans with SEM for body weight (BW) for high and low IGEg pigs, by day (d) or week (wk) of age (n = 480).

Table 3. LSmeans with SEM for high IGEg pigs (High) and low IGEg pigs (Low) regarding average daily feed intake (ADFI, kg/pig/d) (calculated on pen level, n = 80), and feed efficiency for wk 4-5, 5-10, 10-17, and 17-23 (n = 480).

	ADFI				Feed efficiency			
Age (wk)	High	Low	SEM	P-value	High	Low	SEM	P-value
4	0.23	0.27	0.01	0.0003	0.79	0.70	0.03	0.03
5 to 10	1.1	1.1	0.03	0.75	0.46	0.45	0.00	0.30
10 to 17	2.2	2.2	0.06	0.80	0.47	0.46	0.01	0.34
17 to 23	2.7	2.7	0.06	0.99	0.33	0.33	0.00	0.89

Table 4. LSmeans with SE for post-mortem measurements for high and low IGEg pigs (n = 375).

Measurement	High IGEg	Low IGEg	SEM	P-value
Carcass weight (kg)	92.0	94.3	0.7	0.02
Carcass yield (dressing %)	78.4	78.8	0.2	0.17
Back fat thickness (mm)	18.2	18.4	0.3	0.64
Meat (%)	55.1	55.2	0.2	0.66
Muscle depth (mm)	58.4	60.6	0.5	0.003
Stomach wall score (0–5)	2.8	2.4	0.1	0.01

Effects of housing condition

Housing conditions did not significantly influence ADG from weaning to slaughter (P=0.36), but from wk 10 to 23 pigs from barren pens had a higher ADG (Table 5). Pigs in barren pens had a lower BW only in wk 10 (Table 5). From wk 10 onwards ADFI was higher in barren pens (Table 5). The feed efficiency did not significantly differ between housing conditions. Housing conditions did not influence carcass weight (P = 0.32), back fat thickness (P = 0.59), meat percentage (P = 0.69), or

muscle depth (P = 0.57), but pigs in enriched housing had a lower stomach wall damage score (Table 5).

The results on housing conditions were strongly influenced by batch effects, as seen in Fig. 2 (interaction batch*housing all P < 0.01). Pigs in enriched pens had during batch 1, 2, and 5 a higher ADG (wk 5-23 and wk 10-23) and BW (wk 17 and 23) than pigs in barren pens, but had a lower ADG than barren pens in batch 3 and 4. Similarly, pigs in pens enriched with straw and wood shavings had a lower, more favorable, stomach wall damage score during batch 1, 2 and 4, but had higher scores in batch 3 (interaction batch × housing P = 0.06).

conventional barren pens and	conventional barren pens and pens enriched with straw and wood shavings.								
Measurement	Wk	of	Barren	Enriched	SEM	P-value			
	age								
BW	10		33.0	34.2	0.3	0.005			
ADG	10-23		955	930	8	0.03			
ADFI	10-17		2.3	2.2	0.06	0.05			
ADFI	17-23		2.7	2.6	0.06	0.04			
Stomach wall score (0–5)	23		2.9	2.4	0.1	0.0007			

Table 5. Significant¹ effects of housing conditions on the production performance of pigs, for conventional barren pens and pens enriched with straw and wood shavings.

¹ Non-significant effects are omitted from the table.



Figure 2. Average daily gain (ADG; g/d) from wk 5-23 for high and low IGEg pigs in barren pens (A) and enriched pens (B), presented by batch (n = 480). Only batch 3 and 4 took place during summer (batch 3: April – August 2014, batch 4: May – September 2014).

G×E interaction

There were no significant G×E interactions between IGE group and housing condition for any of the measurements (all P > 0.10).

6.4 Discussion

Selection on IGEg

The offspring groups resulting from one generation of divergent selection for IGE on growth (IGEg), did not significantly differ in ADG. After re-estimation of the breeding values of the parents, the contrast in ADG between the high and low IGE groups decreased from 3.6 to 2.8 g ADG. This contrast corresponds to a 2.2 kg predicted difference in BW between the high and low IGE group at the end of the trial. Though this difference seems small, power calculations prior to the trial indicated that sample size would be sufficient to detect a difference of this size between the groups. Estimation of IGEg in pigs from field data, however, is difficult due to complex data structure, e.g. no fixed groups during life.

The breeding values were estimated from data from commercial farms. The environmental conditions on the experimental farm, however, differed from commercial circumstances. The larger space allowance, the small number of pigs per pen, ad libitum feeding, more frequent positive exposure to humans, and timely veterinary intervention (e.g. the treatment of tail wounds) made the circumstances in some aspects more favorable for growth as compared to commercial practice (Hemsworth, 2003; Ramaekers et al., 1996; Hyun et al., 1998; Taylor et al., 2010). These circumstances may have affected the effect of selection on IGEg, especially regarding tail biting. Tail biting is a main cause of reduced ADG as a result of behavior between group housed pigs, whereby ADG can reduce 1 to 11% in the recipient (Wallgren and Lindalh, 1996; Camerlink et al., 2012a; Sinisalo et al., 2012). Behavioral studies of the pigs from this trial showed that high IGEg pigs caused less tail damage to their pen mates (Camerlink et al., 2012b; Camerlink et al., submitted). Measures against tail biting were taken to guarantee a certain level of animal welfare and to prevent excessive losses of animals. The control measures that we took (daily treatment of damaged tails, removal of bitten animals, and provision of jute sacks and wood shavings) are reported to reduce tail biting and consequently may have reduced the impact of tail biting on ADG (Moinard et al., 2003).

Moreover, *ad libitum* feeding might have reduced aggression and competition for feed (Petherick and Blackshaw, 1987; Brouns and Edwards, 1994). Behavioral observations showed that the IGEg groups did not differ in amount of aggression at the feeder (Camerlink et al., 2013). Competition for feed might affect the expression of IGEg in pigs (Arango et al., 2005). This suggestion was strengthened by data from the offspring that were genetically selected for high or low IGEg but did not enter the current trial. These pigs where raised at the original farm and

were fed restricted or *ad libitum*. Evaluation of their growth rate indicated significant IGEg in the restricted fed pigs, but not in *ad libitum* fed pigs (personal communication TOPIGS Research Center IPG B.V.).

High IGEg pigs had a higher stomach wall damage score. Severe stomach lesions may reduce ADG with 35 to 75 g (Hessing et al., 1994; Elbers et al., 1995; but see Guise et al., 1997 and Dirkzwager et al., 1998 who found no effect). The difference between the IGEg groups might be attributed to the consumption of jute sacks, which was 30% lower in high IGEg pigs (Camerlink et al., 2014a; submitted). Jute sacks are fibrous and the ingestion of fibers may prevent the formation of stomach lesions (Nielsen and Ingvartsen, 2000; Friendship, 2003).

The higher net carcass weight of low IGEg pigs was not in line with our expectation. Low IGEg pigs also had a higher muscle depth. Weight and muscle depth are related (Ellis et al., 1996), but the effect of IGEg on muscle depth remained even significant after correcting for weight. Genetic estimates showed no contribution of IGE to the heritable variation in muscle depth (Hsu et al., 2010), suggesting that muscle depth is unaffected by IGE. It would therefore require more in-depth study to detect the cause of our findings for muscle depth.

Selection experiments in laying hens did yield positive response to selection on IGE for survival (Rodenburg et al., 2010). The current trial is, besides a small study on pigs mentioned in Rodenburg et al. (2010), and a multiple-generation selection experiment based on groups of half sibs (Gunsett, 2005), the first large scale selection experiment that has been carried out for IGEg in pigs. This makes it us cautious with drawing conclusions about the effect of selection for IGEg on production parameters and, more research would be necessary, preferably under commercial settings and with a larger number of pens.

Housing condition

ADG showed large fluctuations between batches, and these fluctuations were most pronounced in the pens enriched with a deep litter layer of straw and wood shavings (Fig. 2). The fluctuations in ADG may be largely due to season. Average maximum temperature of batch 1, 2, and 5 was 23°C, whereas this was 25.8°C for batch 3 and 26.8°C for batch 4. Temperatures above ~25°C have been reported earlier to lead to reduced ADFI and ADG in pigs (Verstegen et al., 1978; NRC, 1981; Lopez et al., 1991; Hyun et al., 1998). In batch 3 and 4, the maximum temperature was above 25°C during 87 and 98 days, respectively. The profound reduction in ADG in enriched pens in batch 3 and 4, as well as the lower ADFI compared to barren pens, can be partly explained by the higher floor temperature in enriched pens due to the insulating properties of straw and the absence of a slatted floor (Verstegen et al., 1978; Fraser, 1985).

Pigs in pens enriched with straw and wood shavings had less stomach wall damage than pigs in barren pens (Barren 2.8 \pm 0.1; Enriched 2.4 \pm 0.1; *P* = 0.004), which is in accordance with literature (Ramis et al., 2005; Amory et al., 2006; Scott et al., 2006; Bolhuis et al., 2007), and may be due to straw consumption or reduced stress (Nielsen and Ingvartsen, 2000; Guy et al., 2002b; Amory et al., 2006; Van de Weerd and Day, 2009).

G×E interaction

No interaction was detected between IGEg groups and housing conditions for any of the measured parameters. Selection for IGEg, however, did not yield the expected differences in ADG. Further, contrasting effects of straw provision on growth have been reported (reviewed by Van de Weerd and Day, 2009). This makes it at this stage difficult to be conclusive about the absence of G×E interactions. G×E interactions have mainly been shown for performance of different genotypes in a "test environment" vs. a commercial environment (Merks, 1989; Schinckel et al., 1999; Wallenbeck et al., 2009). The "test environment" of the current trial as a whole differed from the commercial environment as outlined at the start of the discussion section (Falconer, 1952; Schinckel et al., 1999). It remains important for both single housing effects like straw enrichment, as well as for the whole environmental circumstances from which performance data is obtained, to consider the possibility of G×E interactions in future trials (Dominik and Kinghorn, 2008).

6.5 Conclusion

A single generation of genetic selection for IGEg did not influence the major production parameters in pigs. The effects of housing pigs on straw on ADG varied with batch, with lower performance in warmer conditions, and overall a slightly lower ADG during finishing, but straw housing had a positive effect on stomach health. No genotype by environment (G×E) interaction was detected for the effect of selection on IGEg and the effect of an enriched environment regarding production parameters in finishing pigs. Control measures to limit harmful behavior might have reduced the expression of IGEg on ADG in our experiment. We conclude that selection on IGEg in pigs did not yield the expected results in the current trial, but that research under commercial circumstances is required to determine the consequence of selection on IGEg.

6.6 Acknowledgements

This work was financially supported by the Dutch science council (NWO) and the Dutch Ministry of Economic Affairs. We would like to acknowledge TOPIGS for providing the animals and pedigree information. Many thanks to the animal care takers of experimental farm 'De Haar' and the colleagues and students from the Adaptation Physiology Group of Wageningen University who helped during the experiment, especially Fleur Bartels.

Appendix 1: Power Calculation

The standard error on the estimated contrast depends on the numbers of selected sires and dams for the high and low direction, and on the prediction error variance (PEV) on their estimated breeding values. Average PEVs reported by ASRemI were $PEV_{D,sires} = 392$, $PEV_{D,dams} = 660$, $PEV_{I,sires} = 7.8$, $PEV_{I,dams} = 13.0$, both for the high and low direction of selection. With 5 group mates, total breeding values are given by $A_T = A_D + 5A_I$. Hence, assuming independence of direct and indirect estimated breeding values, $PEV_T = PEV_D + 25PEV_I$, so that $PEV_{T,sires} = 587$ and $PEV_{T,dams} = 985$. For each direction of selection, 12 boars were selected and 33 sows. Thus the PEV on the average estimated total breeding value as $PEV_{\overline{T},sires} = 587/12 = 48.9$ and $PEV_{\overline{T},dams} = 985/33 = 29.8$. The estimated high-low contrast equals

 $\frac{1}{2}(PEV_{\overline{T},sires} + PEV_{\overline{T},dams})_{high} - \frac{1}{2}(PEV_{\overline{T},sires} + PEV_{\overline{T},dams})_{low}$. Hence, the variance of the contrast equals $2 \times \frac{1}{4}(PEV_{\overline{T},sires} + PEV_{\overline{T},dams}) = 39.4$. Finally, the SE of the applied contrast was $\sqrt{39.4} = 6.3$.

7

Indirect genetic effects for growth in pigs affect aggressive and manipulative biting behaviour

Irene Camerlink^{1,2}, Winanda W. Ursinus^{1,3}, Piter Bijma², Bas Kemp¹, J. Elizabeth Bolhuis¹

¹Adaptation Physiology Group, Department of Animal Sciences, Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands; ²Animal Breeding and Genomics Centre, Department of Animal Sciences, Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands; ³Animal behaviour & Welfare, Wageningen UR Livestock Research, Lelystad, The Netherlands.

Submitted

Abstract

Indirect genetic effects (IGEs) are heritable effects of an individual on trait values of another, and are a result of social interactions. The objective was to determine the consequences of selection for IGEs for growth (IGEg) on the behavioural repertoire of pigs in a G×E set-up. One generation of selection was applied to create a high vs. low IGEg contrast in 480 pigs (4-23 weeks of age) housed in barren and strawenriched pens (n = 80). Results showed that high IGEg pigs showed 44% less aggressive biting (P = 0.03), 24% less ear biting (P = 0.004), and 34% less biting on enrichment material (P = 0.03). High IGEg pigs had a lower tail damage score (high 2.0; low 2.2; P = 0.004), and consumed 30% less jute sacks (P = 0.002). Strawbedding reduced biting behaviours additive to the effects of IGEg (P < 0.01), resulting in no G×E interactions. In conclusion, selection on high IGEg reduced potentially harmful biting behaviours in pigs.

Key words: behaviour, indirect genetic effects, genotype-environment interaction, pig, tail biting, response to selection

7.1 Introduction

Social interactions among individuals may affect a variety of phenotypic traits (e.g. Frank, 2007). If these social effects on others are heritable they may affect response to selection, and thereby alter the outcome of both evolutionary processes in natural populations, and artificial selection programs in agriculture (e.g. Griffing 1967; Bijma and Wade 2008; McGlothlin et al., 2010). The impact of social interactions on response to selection can be studied within the framework of indirect genetic effects (IGEs). An indirect genetic effect (IGE), also known as an associative, social-, or competitive genetic effect, or a social breeding value, is a heritable effect of an individual on the trait values of its social partners (Griffing, 1967; Moore et al., 1997). For example, an individual may reduce the growth of its social partners because it carries genes making it highly competitive. IGEs are relevant both for the evolution of natural populations, and for response to artificial selection in domestic and agricultural populations, ranging from trees to laboratory animals and livestock (Wolf et al., 1998; Bijma, 2011a). Theory predicts that IGEs affect the response to selection (Griffing 1967; Moore et al., 1997; Bijma et al., 2007b), and there is a growing body of evidence for the existence of IGEs (e.g. Peeters et al., 2012; Alemu et al., 2014b). Studies indicate that competitive, aggressive, or injurious behaviours, but also cooperation, may underlie the observed IGEs (Agrawal et al., 2001; Mutic and Wolf, 2007; Wilson et al., 2009; Rodenburg et al., 2010; Alemu et al., 2014a). The link between IGEs and behaviour is especially relevant to livestock populations, where behaviour is an important component of animal welfare. First selection experiments in poultry yielded promising results on production and behaviour (e.g. Muir, 1996; Rodenburg et al., 2010; Muir et al., 2013). Yet, we are only at the start of discovering mechanisms underlying IGEs, and there is an urge for more empirical research (Wilson, 2013). In domestic pigs (Sus scrofa), IGEs affect growth rate (here denoted as IGEg), meaning that pigs differ in the heritable effect they express on the growth rate of their pen mates (e.g. Bergsma et al., 2013). Commercially kept pigs have been selected primarily for growth rate and are kept in barren environments, which both may have increased competitive and aberrant behaviour (Rodenburg and Turner, 2012). Aberrant behaviour, such as repeatedly chewing on tails or ears of group

mates, may affect growth and health of the bitten animal and is considered a severe welfare problem in pig husbandry (e.g. Schrøder-Petersen and Simonsen, 2001). Selection on IGEg might contribute to a solution to simultaneously improve both productivity and welfare (Rodenburg et al., 2010).

Consequences of selection for IGEg on the behavioural repertoire of pigs are largely unknown, as well as the potential dependency of IGEg on the environment. The

genetic disposition for certain behaviours, for example aggression, may be expressed differently depending on the environment (e.g. Barr et al., 2003). It is therefore important to consider genotype-environment interactions (G×E) to assess whether changes due to selection for IGEs are consistent across environments (Danielson-François et al., 2009).

Here we studied whether selection for IGEs for growth (IGEg) alters the behaviour of pigs. Using a one generation selection experiment, we investigated which behaviours are targeted by selection for IGEg. In addition, we studied whether interactions exist between IGEg and the environment (G×E) in which the behaviour is expressed. Hereto, pigs were divergently selected for IGEg, and housed in contrasting conditions (barren versus straw-enriched) that were expected to yield differences in behaviour. This one of the first selection experiments on IGEs in a large mammal. The results will provide insight in the mechanisms underlying IGEs for growth, and in the potential of selection on IGEs to improve social interactions between group living animals.

7.2 Materials and methods

Genetic selection on IGE for growth (IGEg)

Background information on IGEs, and the estimation of IGEs for growth during the finishing phase (from 25 - 110 kg) for the current trial, here denoted as IGEg, has been given in detail in Camerlink et al. (2013). Briefly, sows (64 Topigs-20 sows: sow line of Great Yorkshire × Dutch Landrace) and boars (24 Tempo boars: commercial synthetic boar line with Great Yorkshire genetic background) were selected based on their estimated breeding value for IGEg. Sires and dams with the most extreme high and low IGEg of the available population were mated within their IGEg group (high *vs.* low), while the direct breeding value was kept equal between groups. This resulted in a contrast of 14 g ADG (Average Daily Gain) between high and low IGEg offspring (40 high IGEg litters and 40 low IGEg litters). Hence, high IGEg offspring would increase the growth of their pen mates, whereas low IGEg offspring would decrease the growth of their pen mates. Offspring were studied over five batches of 96 pigs each (n = 480), between September 2010 and February 2012. The Animal Care and Use Committee of Wageningen University approved the experiment (Protocol Number: 2010055f).

Animals and housing

Piglets were born in conventional farrowing pens with farrowing crates (TOPIGS experimental farm, Beilen, The Netherlands). Tails and teeth were kept intact. Male

piglets were castrated (at 3 d of age), because IGEg have currently been estimated on gilts and castrated males. Cross fostering was applied only if litter sizes exceeded 14 piglets, and always within the same IGEg group. At ~14 days of age, piglets were subjected to the backtest to assess their coping style (Hessing et al., 1993). Classification of piglets based on their response in the backtest, for which no relationship with IGEg was found (Reimert et al., 2013a), was used to standardize group composition with regard to coping style. Piglets were weaned at 26 days of age, whereby maximum eight piglets per sow were selected. Selection was based on good health, sex, and backtest response. Selected piglets (n = 480 in total) were transported to experimental farm De Haar (Wageningen, The Netherlands).

From weaning to slaughter (4 - 23 wk of age), a 2×2 experimental arrangement was applied with IGEg (low *vs.* high) and housing conditions (barren *vs.* enriched) as factors at the pen level. Pigs were housed with six per pen, leading to 80 pens in total. Group composition was balanced for sex (1:1) and backtest classification (at least two of each classification). Half of the pigs from each IGEg group, and half of the selected piglets from each sow, were allocated to a barren pen, and the other half to an enriched pen.

Barren pens had a floor which was half solid concrete and half slatted. Enriched pens had a solid floor with a bedding of 12 kg of wood shavings and 1.5 kg of straw. Fresh wood shavings (3 kg / pen) and straw (0.25 – 1.5 kg / pen depending on age) were added to enriched pens daily. Pen dimensions were either 1.90 m × 3.20 m or 2.25×3.25 m (1 – 1.2 m² / pig), depending on batch, and were within batch equal between barren and enriched pens. All pens had a metal chain with ball attached to the pen wall as toy. Dry pelleted commercial feed was offered ad libitum from a single space feeder. Feed was provided according to commercial practice, with a total of four feed changes whereby on the first day the old and new feed types were mixed to create a gradual transition between feed types. Water was continuously available from a single nipple drinker per pen. Temperature was until 10 days after weaning set at a minimum of 25°C, and was hereafter set at 22°C for 3 weeks, followed by 20°C until slaughter. Lights and a radio were on from 7:00 till 19:00 h. To reduce damaging tail biting behaviour, i.e. chewing on the tail of a conspecific which can lead to injury and in extreme cases even to mortality of the bitten animal, all pens received a handful of wood shavings per day from week six onwards and a jute sack was attached to the wall from week eight onwards. Pigs were housed in these pens from weaning until slaughter. Due to diverse health reasons including tail biting, 18 high IGEg and 11 low IGEg pigs were removed from the experiment.

Behavioural observations

Behaviours of individual pigs were recorded at 4, 5, 8, 12, 16, and 21 wk of age. Each pig was identified by a spray marked number on the back, which was refreshed before behavioural observations. Behaviour, as described in Table A1 (Appendix), was scored during live observations using 2-min instantaneous scan sampling for 6 h during the active period of the day, consisting of six 1 h blocks from 8:00 - 11.30 h and from 14.00 - 17:30 h with after each hour a 15 minute break. This procedure resulted in 180 observations per pig per observation day, with one observation day in each of the weeks mentioned. The Observer 5.0 software package (Noldus Information Technology B.V., Wageningen, The Netherlands) installed on a hand-held computer was used for behaviour recordings. Observations were carried out by observers who were unaware of the IGEg of the pigs.

Tail damage scores

Tail damage scores can serve as an indicator for the amount of tail biting behaviour in a pen. Scores were obtained using an adapted procedure from Zonderland et al. (2008). Scores ranged from 1 - 4, with score 1 being no visible tail damage; score 2 for hair removed from the tail; score 3 for bite marks; and score 4 for a clearly visible wound. Tail damage was scored each week on each individual pig, leading up to 20 observations per pig. When a pig had to be removed from the trial due to being bitten severely its score was set to 4 for the remaining period till slaughter. When a tail biter had to be removed from the pen it kept its last score before being removed from the pen. Scores were obtained by multiple observers who were trained to score in the same way, and who were unaware of the IGEg of the pigs.

Interventions to limited damage due to tail biting

Oral manipulation amongst pigs is the repeatedly biting on the tail, ear or paw of a group member, and may result in injury, impaired health or mortality of the bitten animal. Oral manipulation such as tail biting may start harmlessly, but when no measures are taken many animals may be severely damaged (Statham et al., 2009). During the trial, measures were taken to reduce tail biting to an acceptable level to prevent the loss of animals and to guarantee a certain level of animal welfare. Tail biting wounds became significant from six weeks of age. To reduce the amount of damaging tail biting behaviour, a handful of wood shavings was provided to each pen from week six onward and from week eight a jute sack was attached to the pen wall as material to chew on. The jute sack was a commercially available sack of approximately 60 × 105 cm, which was over the width attached to the pen wall and

was replaced when there was less than 1/3 of the sack left (Figure 1). When the sack was replaced, the remainders were approximated in cm². The amount of jute sack that was 'consumed' was noted by pen. To reduce tail biting, the tails of bitten pigs were alternating between days covered with the aversive P.B.H. spray (Kommer Biopharm B.V.) or Stockholm tar (Rapide[®]). Pigs were removed from the pen when they had a reduction in tail length, irrespective of the amount of reduction. Six high IGEg pigs and three low IGE pigs, from 8 different pens in total, were removed from the trial due to reduced tail length. One tail biter (low IGEg) was removed to limit further tail damage of its five pen mates.



Figure 1. Jute sack attached to pen wall as distraction material to limit tail biting. The sack was replaced when the sack was 'consumed' till the dashed line or further.

Data analyses

Statistical analyses were performed using SAS (SAS 9.2, Institute Inc.). Data were analysed and presented by production phase as applied in commercial pig farming to facilitate comparison between animal behaviour studies. The nursery phase is from 4 to 8 wk of age, whereas the finishing phase is generally from 8 wk of age till slaughter (here at 23 wk of age).

Behavioural scans were analysed on pen level (n = 80) and averaged over production phase (nursery phase: observations wk 4, 5, and 8; finishing phase: observations wk 11, 12, 16 and 21). Hereto the behaviours of pigs were averaged

by pen (6 pigs / pen). Residuals of the response variables were checked for normality, and if needed, behaviours were arcsine square root transformed. Behaviours by pen and production phase were analysed in a General Linear Model (GLM Procedure), and included IGEg group, housing condition, the interaction between IGEg group and housing condition, and batch as fixed class effects.

The weekly tail damage scores were averaged into two scores per pig, one for the nursery phase (wk 4 – 7) and one for the finishing phase (wk 8 – 23). Scores were analysed at individual animal level (n = 480) in a Generalized Linear Mixed Model (MIXED Procedure) with IGEg group, housing condition, the interaction between IGEg group and housing condition, sex, and batch as fixed class effects, and as random factor pen nested within IGEg group, housing condition and batch.

The total cm² of 'consumed' jute sacks per pen (from wk 8 – 23) was analysed at pen level (n = 80) in a General Linear Model (GLM Procedure) with IGE group, housing condition, the interaction between IGE group and housing condition, and batch as fixed class effects. To facilitate the interpretation of consumed bags in cm², results are presented in number of jute sacks consumed (total cm² / (60 × 105)). The amount of jute sacks per pen was correlated to the average tail damage scores per pen by Pearson correlation.

In the Results, average trait values for the treatments will be reported as (untransformed) LSmeans ± SEM.

7.3 Results

Nursery phase

Over the observation moments between wk 4 and 8 of age, differences in behaviour between the IGE groups were small, and did not show a systematic pattern. Pigs with high IGEg showed 20% nosing contact with pen mates (nose-nose and nose-body contact), and tended to show 25% less aggressive biting (Table 1). In addition, high IGEg pigs tended to spent less time lying inactive and defecate less than low IGEg pigs (Table 1). There was no difference in overall activity (all activity minus lying inactive and sleeping) (P = 0.54), the sum of all explorative behaviours (see Appendix for behaviours) (P = 0.55), or the sum of all aggressive behaviours (P=0.85). IGEg group interacted with housing condition for drinking and belly nosing, and tended to interact for rooting, nose contact, and head knocks (Table 2). Other behaviours were not significantly affected by IGEg group, or its interaction with housing.

Finishing phase

During the finishing phase, when pigs were observed at 12, 16 and 21 wk of age, high IGEg pigs showed systematically less biting behaviour than low IGEg pigs. Although the frequencies of the observed behaviours are low, of the observed time high IGEg pigs spent 40% less on aggressive biting of pen mates, and 27% less on oral manipulation in the form of biting the ears of pen mates than low IGEg pigs did (Table 1). High IGEg pigs were not only biting their pen mates less, but also their environment. They were chewing 40% less on the distraction materials provided, which were the chain with ball and jute sack (Table 1). High IGEg pigs were 40% more often observed to perform comfort behaviour, such as scratching the skin (Table 1). Similar to the nursery phase, high IGEg pigs tended to urinate and defecate less than low IGEg pigs (Table 1). There was no difference between the IGE groups in overall activity (P = 0.31), explorative behaviour (P = 0.46), or aggressive behaviour (P = 0.29). There was a significant interaction between IGEg group and housing condition for lying inactive and locomotion, and there tended to be G×E interactions for comfort behaviour, drinking, pen exploration, and nosing objects (Table 3).

untransformed data with standard error (SEM).								
Behaviour	High IGEg	Low IGEg	P-value					
Nursery (4 – 7 wk)								
Aggressive biting	0.09 ± 0.01	0.12 ± 0.01	0.06					
Lying inactive	11.2 ± 0.3	11.9 ± 0.3	0.08					
Nose contact	0.24 ± 0.02	0.30 ± 0.02	0.03					
Urinate/defecate	0.37 ± 0.2	0.43 ± 0.2	0.09					
Finishing (8 – 23 wk)								
Aggressive biting	0.03 ± 0.005	0.05 ± 0.005	0.006					
Comfort behaviour	0.10 ± 0.01	0.06 ± 0.01	0.005					
Chewing toy	0.90 ± 0.13	1.50 ± 0.13	0.005					
Ear biting	0.11 ± 0.01	0.15 ± 0.01	0.03					
Urinate/defecate	0.30 ± 0.02	0.34 ± 0.02	0.10					

Table 1. Behaviours during the nursery and finishing phase in percentage of behavioural scans for the difference between high and low IGEg pigs1. Values are LSmeans of untransformed data with standard error (SEM).

1 Only significant results are included in the table (P < 0.10).

Table 2. Behaviours during the nursery phase (wk 4 - 7) in percentage of behavioural scans for each treatment group: high and low IGEg pigs both in barren (B) and enriched (E) pens (n=80 in total), with P-values for the difference between IGEg groups (P-IGE), the difference between housing conditions (P-HC), and their interaction (IGE×HC). Values are LSmeans of untransformed data with standard error (SEM).

	High	High	Low	Low	SEM	P-IGE	P-HC	IGE×
Behav. nursery	E	В	E	В				HC
Sleeping	38	47	39	46	1.1	0.94	<0.001	0.30
Lying inactive	9.6	12.8	10.6	13.2	0.39	0.08	<0.001	0.44
Standing	2.2	2.9	2.0	2.7	0.2	0.31	<0.001	0.91
Locomotion	2.5	2.5	2.6	2.7	0.13	0.24	0.89	0.72
Sitting	0.82	0.90	0.78	1.0	0.06	0.60	0.01	0.25
Comfort behav.	0.31	0.24	0.30	0.24	0.03	0.92	0.02	0.87
Eating	7.9	8.2	8.7	8.3	0.2	0.89	0.09	0.56
Drinking	1.5	1.8	1.6	1.5	0.09	0.26	0.22	0.02
Urinate/defecate	0.29	0.45	0.36	0.5	0.03	0.09	<0.001	0.75
Playing	1.1	0.63	0.96	0.66	0.1	0.66	<0.001	0.46
Exploration floor	16	11	14	11	0.5	0.14	<0.001	0.43
Nosing object	1.8	2.5	1.9	2.9	0.14	0.13	<0.001	0.37
Rooting	5.8	1.6	5.4	2.2	0.4	0.49	<0.001	0.10
Rooting object	0.07	0.26	0.09	0.31	0.03	0.23	<0.001	0.59
Chewing	10	3	10	3	0.5	0.73	<0.001	0.69
Chewing toy	0.28	0.33	0.15	0.37	0.04	0.26	0.0002	0.13
Nosing body	0.60	1.0	0.63	0.96	0.05	0.87	<0.001	0.55
Nose contact	0.26	0.23	0.27	0.34	0.03	0.03	0.47	0.06
Belly nosing	0.05	0.53	0.11	0.25	0.09	0.20	<0.001	0.02
Mounting	0.26	0.23	0.19	0.26	0.03	0.53	0.53	0.12
Fighting	0.19	0.18	0.15	0.25	0.03	0.18	0.15	0.15
Head knock	0.16	0.11	0.09	0.13	0.02	0.17	0.07	0.07
Biting	0.08	0.10	0.09	0.14	0.01	0.06	0.005	0.23
Fighting at feeder	0.09	0.11	0.08	0.10	0.01	0.54	0.23	0.99
Tail biting	0.02	0.15	0.02	0.17	0.02	0.80	<0.001	0.46
Ear biting	0.10	0.40	0.09	0.37	0.03	0.63	<0.001	0.92
Manip. other	0.11	0.50	0.15	0.50	0.04	0.40	<0.001	0.30

-

Table 3. Behaviours during the finishing phase (wk 8 - 23) in percentage of behavioural scans for each treatment group: high and low IGEg pigs both in barren (B) and enriched (E) pens, with *P*-values for the difference between IGEg groups (*P*-IGE), the difference between housing conditions (*P*-HC), and their interaction (IGE×HC). Values are LSmeans of untransformed data with standard error (SEM).

	High	High	Low	Low	SEM	P-IGE	P-HC	IGE×
Behav. finishing	E	В	E	В				HC
Sleeping	51	55	50	53	1	0.14	0.004	0.54
Lying inactive	14	17	16	17	0.4	0.12	0.002	0.03
Standing	1.1	0.88	0.96	0.95	0.1	0.65	0.12	0.15
Locomotion	0.97	0.79	0.76	0.82	0.1	0.11	0.33	0.04
Sitting	1.9	1.3	2.0	1.4	0.1	0.50	< 0.001	0.80
Comfort behav.	0.13	0.07	0.08	0.05	0.01	0.005	< 0.001	0.06
Eating	7.2	8.0	7.2	8.1	0.2	0.72	<0.001	0.91
Drinking	2.8	1.9	2.8	2.3	0.1	0.13	< 0.001	0.08
Urinate/defecate	0.26	0.34	0.32	0.36	0.03	0.09	0.02	0.41
Playing	0.08	0.05	0.13	0.11	0.03	0.14	0.28	0.69
Exploration floor	8.0	6.0	7.5	6.8	0.4	0.73	0.004	0.09
Nosing object	1.9	1.4	1.8	1.7	0.1	0.37	0.004	0.08
Rooting	1.8	0.4	1.6	0.45	0.1	0.82	< 0.001	0.40
Rooting object	0.08	0.06	0.08	0.07	0.01	0.99	0.74	0.85
Chewing	5.8	3.5	5.6	3.4	0.2	0.41	< 0.001	0.86
Chewing toy	0.82	1.1	1.1	1.8	0.2	0.005	0.03	0.22
Nosing body	0.75	0.87	0.79	1.0	0.1	0.21	0.02	0.52
Nose contact	0.17	0.17	0.15	0.15	0.02	0.34	0.76	0.95
Belly nosing	0.03	0.13	0.02	0.09	0.03	0.37	0.002	0.40
Mounting	0.03	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.45	0.18	0.23
Fighting	0.05	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.01	0.25	0.07	0.39
Head knock	0.03	0.04	0.04	0.03	0.01	0.82	0.80	0.92
Biting	0.01	0.04	0.04	0.05	0.01	0.006	0.03	0.30
Fighting at feeder	0.03	0.05	0.05	0.06	0.01	0.30	0.19	0.97
Tail biting	0.05	0.18	0.07	0.17	0.02	0.70	< 0.001	0.51
Ear biting	0.08	0.14	0.11	0.18	0.02	0.03	0.004	0.86
Manip. other	0.17	0.40	0.20	0.40	0.04	0.70	< 0.001	0.73

Effect of housing condition on behaviour

Enrichment with straw significantly influenced almost all behaviours during the nursery and finishing phase (Table 2, Table 3). Pigs in enriched pens were more active compared to pigs in barren pens, which was seen from less time spent on sleeping, lying inactive and standing. Pigs in enriched pens especially showed less tail biting, ear biting, and belly nosing, and instead spent more time on play, comfort behaviour, and nosing and rooting the pen than pigs in barren pens.

Tail damage scores

Pigs already showed tail damage from the moment of weaning, with an average tail damage score of 2.2 (Figure 2). During the nursery phase (wk 4 – 7) there was no difference between the IGEg groups for tail damage (P = 0.93), but a clear difference was present between barren and enriched pens (tail damage score nursery: barren 2.3 ± 0.04; enriched 1.8 ± 0.04; P < 0.001). During the finishing phase (wk 8 – 23) high IGEg pigs had a lower tail damage score (high 2.0 ± 0.05; low 2.2 ± 0.05; P = 0.004), and the positive effect of enrichment remained (mean tail damage score finishing: barren 2.6 ± 0.05; enriched 1.6 ± 0.05; P < 0.001). This resulted in an additive effect of IGEg group and straw enrichment on tail damage, without interactions between these two factors (P = 0.79).



Figure 2. Tail damage score for high IGEg pigs in barren pens, high IGEg pigs in enriched pens, low IGEg pigs in barren pens, and low IGEg pigs in enriched pens. Note that the y-axis ranges from 1 - 3.5 while tail damage scores from individual pigs may range from 1 - 4.
Consumption of jute sacks

From week eight onward a jute sack was attached to the wall of each pen to limit tail biting behaviour (Figure 1). Chewing on a jute sack was indeed related to chewing on a tail, with a positive correlation between the consumption of jute sacks per pen and average tail damage on pen level ($r_p = 0.34$; P = 0.003). In pens with high IGEg pigs these sacks had to be replaced 30% less often than in pens with low IGEg pigs. Over a period of 15 weeks, high IGEg pigs consumed 2.9 ± 0.3 jute sacks per pen, whereas low IGEg pigs consumed 4.2 ± 0.3 sacks per pen (P = 0.002). Pigs in barren pens consumed 4.3 ± 0.3 jute sacks whereas in enriched pens on average 2.8 ± 0.3 jute sacks were consumed (P < 0.001). There was no interaction between IGEg group and housing condition for the consumption of jute sacks (P=0.84).

7.4 Discussion

We have investigated the behavioural consequences of a single generation of divergent selection for IGEg in pigs in two housing systems. The diverging IGEg groups showed structural differences in biting behaviours directed towards pen mates and to the physical environment during the finishing phase. This indicates that selection on IGEg may alter a range of behaviours, and even behaviours not related to group members, such as biting on objects in the environment. This suggests that selection on IGEg does not merely alter social interactions, but rather results in changes in an internal state of the animal from which differences in behaviour may arise.

Potential underlying mechanisms

The origin of biting behaviour may be found in amongst others aggression, frustration, stress, or maintenance of dominance relationships (Scott, 1948; Marler, 1976; Schrøder-Petersen and Simonsen, 2001). Pigs of high IGEg were suggested to be better in establishing dominance relationships (Canario et al., 2012), and pigs selected for high IGEg showed subtle differences in aggressive behaviour (Camerlink et al., 2013). Although the expression of aggressive and competitive behaviours might have been tempered by *ad libitum* feeding (Camerlink et al., 2014a), these behaviours did not seem the major factor underlying the effects of IGEg in the currently studied pigs. Aggression and competition in general, however, are associated with IGE in a wide range of taxa (reviewed by Wilson, 2013).

Another hypothesis is that IGEg might alter activity (Rodenburg et al., 2010), whereby the positive effect on the growth rate of others would occur due to

apathy of the animal, resulting in a reduced number of social interactions, and thus also a reduced negative impact on the growth rate of others. The activity level of high and low IGEg pigs did not differ in in the current study, which suggests no such response to selection.

The varying biting behaviours seem more to originate from frustration or stress. Pigs have a strong intrinsic need to root and forage, and when this need cannot find an outlet in the physical environment it may be redirected to group members (e.g. Schrøder-Petersen and Simonsen, 2001). Tail biting, ear biting, and chewing on distraction material may therefore have a similar motivational background. These behaviours have also been related to frustration, stress, and fearfulness (Taylor et al., 2010; Zupan et al., 2012). Additional behavioural and physiological data suggest that high IGEg pigs may be better capable of handling stressful situations and are less fearful (Camerlink et al., 2013, Reimert et al., 2013a, 2014). Similarly, laying hens selected on IGEs for survival, which is directly related to cannibalistic pecking, were less sensitive to stress and were less fearful (reviewed in Rodenburg et al., 2010). Tail biting and cannibalistic pecking have similar underlying needs (e.g. urge to forage, feed or explore) and causes (e.g. stress or nutritional deficiencies). Though this concerns different species, and selection for IGE on different traits, the behavioural responses to selection have remarkable similarities which may suggest a similar mechanism in pigs and laying hens. Together, the various behaviours that are altered through selection on IGEg seem to reflect an internal state rather than solely social interactions.

The effect of selection

In this study, many behaviours have been tested for statistical significance, which increases the risk of false positives due to chance. However, we found a systematic pattern of less biting behaviour in high IGEg pigs, which was supported by extreme P-values that are unlikely to be chance results. We believe that the four significant results all relating to biting behaviour, with an average *P*-value of ~0.005 (biting, chewing toy, jute sacks consumed, and tail damage score) indicate a true effect. We did not observe differences between IGEg groups in tail biting behaviour itself, which might be due to the scan sampling method, whereby short lasting behaviours are easily missed. The higher tail damage in low IGEg pigs indicates that low IGEg pigs did spent more time on tail biting or were biting more fiercely. Biting behaviour, and especially tail biting, is considered an important animal welfare issue and our results suggest that selection on IGEg may contribute to a solution. The potential effect of IGEg on harmful biting behaviour might have been

underestimated in the current trial. The circumstances of the trial were more

favourable compared to common (Dutch) intensive farming conditions (more space per animal), and control measures were taken to limit tail biting (daily treatment of wounded tails, provision of wood shavings and jute sacks, and the removal of animals with shortened tails). In particular, part of the disposition to bite may have been redirected to chewing on the jute sack (Fraser, 1991; Van de Weerd and Day, 2009). This together may have reduced tail biting and may have prevented a severe outbreak (Zonderland et al., 2008; Statham et al., 2009). Interference in possible underlying mechanisms of IGEs, for example changing resource availability, might alter the effect of selection (Arango et al., 2005; Wilson, 2013). With no interference in the cannibalistic pecking of laying hens, clear differences between high and low IGE selection lines were found (reviewed in Rodenburg et al., 2010). From a scientific perspective, measures to limit tail biting would ideally have been omitted, but this would go against ethical regulations of animal experiments. If biting behaviour would be one of the mechanisms underlying IGEg in pigs, then control measures may have reduced the expression and effect of selection.

Considerations for implementation

Previously, behavioural changes were suggested in a small experiment applying selection on IGEg in pigs (Rodenburg et al., 2010), and in a multiple-generation selected experiment based on the performance of groups of half sibs (Gunsett, 2005). The current study is, however, the first large scale experiment evaluating the behavioural consequences of selection on IGEg in a large mammal. Knowledge on the mechanisms behind IGEg in pigs may contribute to the optimization of pig breeding and farming. For example, insight in which inherited behaviours affect growth rate of group mates may outline the potential possibilities, and potential profitability, of reducing or enhancing specific social interactions. Follow-up research under commercial conditions, and selection over multiple generations, would be essential to gain further insight in the magnitude and potential variability of the behavioural changes on the long term. If selection on high IGEg causes pigs to show less harmful biting behaviour, then over generations, other behaviours might emerge in relation to IGEg.

Benefits from both genetics and environment

G×E interactions may be present for pig production traits (Schinckel et al., 1999), but are to date not shown for pig behaviour (e.g. Guy et al., 2002b). Little G×E interactions for pig behaviour were found in the current study, and it is therefore not expected that genetic selection on IGEg would alter behaviour differently in different housing conditions. Provision of straw resulted in more behaviour directed towards the environment, which is in accordance with literature (e.g. Fraser et al., 1991). The reduction in damaging behaviour and the lower tail damage scores of pigs on straw clearly point out the potential of substrate to improve pig health and welfare. Tail damage was further reduced in pigs selected for high IGEg, which suggests that differences in the genetic disposition to perform tail biting remain present also when suitable substrate is provided. This shows that biting behaviour can be reduced from two approaches, namely by redirecting the biting behaviour towards the environment instead of conspecifics through the provision of suitable substrate, and by reducing the motivation to bite through selection on IGEg. Straw is often regarded the most suitable substrate to reduce tail biting (Zonderland et al., 2008; Van de Weerd and Day, 2009), but selection on IGEg may give an additional reduction that is cumulative over generations, leading to a further increase in animal welfare.

7.5 Conclusion

Selection on high IGE for growth in pigs reduced biting behaviour, which was expressed in lower occurrences of aggressive biting, ear biting, biting on materials provided for chewing (including jute sacks), and less tail damage due to tail biting. The availability of straw in the pen reduced the expression of pen-mate directed behaviours. Hereby straw may redirect the biting behaviour to the environment, whereas selection for IGEg may reduce the disposition to bite. Both may therefore lead to improvements in animal welfare. We outlined some aspects for further research and would like to emphasize that the impact of selection for IGEs for production traits may reach further than solely social interactions.

7.6 Acknowledgements

This research was part of the project 'Seeking Sociable Swine', which was financially supported by The Netherlands Organisation for Scientific Research (NWO) and the Dutch Ministry of Economic Affairs. We would like to thank the colleagues and students from the Adaptation Physiology Group of Wageningen University who helped during the experiment.

Appendix

Table A1. Ethogram.			
Behaviour	Description		
General individual			
Sleeping	Lying without performing any other described behaviour, eyes closed		
Lying inactive	Lying without performing any other described behaviour, eyes opened		
Standing	Standing without performing any other described behaviour		
Locomotion	Walking or running without performing any other described behaviour		
Sitting	Sitting or kneeling without performing any other described behaviour		
Comfort behaviour	Rubbing body against objects or pen mate, scratching body with hind leg or stretching (part of) body		
Eating feeder	Eating at feeder		
Drinking	Drinking from drinking nipple		
Urinate/defecate Exploration	Urinating or defecating		
Exploration floor	Sniffing, touching or scraping floor		
Nosing object	Nosing above floor level		
Rooting	Rooting pen floor or in wood shavings or straw		
Rooting object	Rooting above floor level or object		
Chewing	Non-feed chewing or chewing straw		
Chewing toy	Chewing toy: chain with ball or jute sack		
Social			
Nosing head or body	Touching/sniffing any part of a pen mate except nose		
Nose contact	Mutual nose contact		
Playing	Individual or group wise gamboling, pivoting: running around the		
	pen, sometimes with gently nudging of pen mates		
Belly nosing	Rubbing belly of a pen mate with up and down snout movements		
Mounting	Standing on hind legs while having front legs on other pig's body		
Aggression			
Fighting	Ramming or pushing a pen mate with or without biting the pen mate. Can be either mutual or individual		
Head knocking	Head knock given at place other than feeder		
Biting	Bite given at other place than feeder		
Fighting at feeder	Push, head knock or bite given at feeder		
Oral manipulation of	group mates		
Tail biting	Nibbling, sucking or chewing the tail of a pen mate		
Ear biting	Nibbling, sucking or chewing the ear of a pen mate		
Manipulating other	Nibbling, sucking or chewing part of the body of a pen mate		

8

Indirect genetic effects and housing conditions in relation to aggressive behaviour in pigs

Irene Camerlink^{1,2}, Simon P. Turner³, Piter Bijma², J. Elizabeth Bolhuis¹

¹Adaptation Physiology Group, Department of Animal Sciences, Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands; ²Animal Breeding and Genomics Centre, Department of Animal Sciences, Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands; ³SRUC, Roslin Institute Building, Easter Bush Estate, Edinburgh, UK

PLoS ONE (2013) 8.6: e65136

Abstract

Indirect Genetic Effects (IGEs), also known as associative effects, are the heritable effects that an individual has on the phenotype of its social partners. Selection for IGEs has been proposed as a method to reduce harmful behaviours, in particular aggression, in livestock and aquaculture. The mechanisms behind IGEs, however, have rarely been studied. The objective was therefore to assess aggression in pigs which were divergently selected for IGEs on growth (IGEg). In a one generation selection experiment, we studied 480 offspring of pigs (Sus scrofa) that were selected for relatively high or low IGEg and housed in homogeneous IGEg groups in either barren or enriched environments. Skin lesion scores, a proxy measure of aggression, and aggressive behaviours were recorded. The two distinct IGEg groups did not differ in number of skin lesions, or in amount of reciprocal fighting, both under stable social conditions and in confrontation with unfamiliar pigs in a 24 h regrouping test. Pigs selected for a positive effect on the growth of their group members, however, performed less non-reciprocal biting and showed considerably less aggression at reunion with familiar group members after they had been separated during a 24 h regrouping test. The enriched environment was associated with more skin lesions but less non-reciprocal biting under stable social conditions. Changes in aggression between pigs selected for IGEg were not influenced by G×E interactions with regard to the level of environmental enrichment. It is likely that selection on IGEg targets a behavioural strategy, rather than a single behavioural trait such as aggressiveness.

Keywords. social genetic effect, aggressive behaviour, environmental enrichment, swine, skin lesion scores

8.1 Introduction

The social behaviour of group housed animals is of great importance for their health, welfare, and productivity which may decline due to receipt of harmful social behaviours. Harmful social behaviours, such as aggression, are considered an important problem in commercial livestock farming (Gonyou, 1994; Turner, 2011). Here, we assess the potential of a new breeding method using information on indirect genetic effects, to reduce aggression in pigs.

An Indirect Genetic Effect (IGE), also known as social genetic effect, associative effect or competitive effect, is a heritable effect of an individual on the trait values of its social partners or group mates (Griffing, 1967; Moore et al., 1997; Wolf et al., 1998; Muir, 2005). The classical example of an IGE is the maternal genetic effect of a mother on trait values of her offspring in mammalian species (Dickerson, 1947; Willham, 1972; Kirkpatrick and Lande, 1989; Wolf et al., 1998). Note that the term 'maternal genetic effect' does not refer to the effects of genes transmitted by the mother to her offspring, but to the heritable component of the environment that the mother provides to her offspring, e.g., via maternal care behaviour. In other words, with IGEs, the social environment that an individual experiences contains a heritable component (Wolf et al., 1998). Another well-known case of IGEs in livestock populations occurs in cannibalistic laying hens, where the survival probability of an individual depends on the genotype of its cage mates (Muir, 2005; Peeters et al., 2012). IGEs have been studied in several animal species, such as cattle, mice and deer (Van Vleck and Cassady, 2005; Wilson et al., 2009; Bijma, 2011a; Wilson et al., 2011), as well as in plants and trees (Cappa and Cantet, 2008; Brotherstone et al., 2011; Wolf et al., 2011; Costa e Silva et al., 2013).

IGEs can have a profound effect on heritable variation in traits and on response to selection (Griffing, 1967; Moore et al., 1997). For example, they can fully remove heritable variation in a trait despite a positive classical heritability (Wilson et al., 2011; Costa e Silva et al., 2013), and may cause a negative response to positive selection (Griffing, 1967; Muir, 2005). Hence, when present, IGEs are highly relevant for livestock genetic improvement. By including IGEs in the breeding criteria, both the additive genetic merit of an individual for own performance, the so-called direct genetic effect, and its indirect genetic effect on the performance of its social partners are taken into account. For example, an animal may be a less attractive candidate for selection if it has a high level of individual performance in an economically important trait but shows much aggression towards others, thereby reducing their performance. Due to the potential of IGEs to increase both production and animal welfare, IGEs have become an increasingly important research topic in animal breeding (Bijma, 2011a).

IGEs are hypothesized to be related to behaviour, and in particular to aggression and competition (Moore et al., 1997; Muir, 2005; Wilson et al., 2009; Chen et al., 2007; Rodenburg et al., 2010; Canario et al., 2012). However, the actual behaviour of animals with diverging estimated IGEs has rarely been studied. In mice, IGEs have been shown to affect agonistic behaviours (Wilson et al., 2009) whilst in laying hens, selection for IGEs on survival time reduced harmful feather pecking behavior (Ellen et al., 2008; Rodenburg et al., 2008). In pigs, where IGEs are estimated based on the growth of group members (Chen et al., 2007; Bergsma et al., 2007; Bergsma, 2011), there are indications that pigs with diverging IGEs for growth, though not genetically selected for IGE, differ in the amount of skin lesions (Rodenburg et al., 2010; Canario et al., 2012), which is a commonly used proxy measure of aggression (Marchant-Forde and Marchant-Forde, 2005; Turner et al., 2006).

Aggression is a natural behaviour that contributes to the establishment of dominance relationships, and is most common and intense when unfamiliar conspecifics first meet (Marchant-Forde and Marchant-Forde, 2005; Marler, 1976). Once dominance relationships have been established, aggression is usually limited. In commercial farming, aggression is more likely to escalate, due to management practices such as regrouping unfamiliar animals, and the confined enclosures which may impede retreat after a threat (Petherick and Blackshaw, 1987). Aggression is considered a problem for animal welfare and production (Turner, 2011; Marchant-Forde and Marchant-Forde, 2005; Cutts et al., 1998). Aggressiveness is moderately heritable and can be genetically selected against (Turner, 2011; Benus et al., 1991), but phenotyping behavioural traits or their proxy measures is time consuming. Genetic selection for IGEs on growth does not require additional phenotyping and, moreover, targets social interactions as a whole rather than a single behaviour. Genetic selection for IGEs has therefore been proposed as a potential method to improve group production and to reduce harmful behaviours in livestock (Turner, 2011; Bijma, 2011a).

In commercial pig farming, pigs are regrouped with unfamiliar pigs as standard management practice, with intense aggression as a result. For several weeks after regrouping, pigs may have an impaired immune response and reduced growth (Marchant-Forde and Marchant-Forde, 2005; Stookey and Gonyou, 1994; Hyun et al., 1998; De Groot et al., 2001). The level of aggression may vary among environments, as has been shown in amongst others, humans (Miles and Carey, 1997), mice (Haemisch et al., 1994), fish (Kadry and Barreto, 2010), and pigs (Van de Weerd and Day, 2009). In pigs for example, the availability of bedding substrate suitable for rooting and chewing, such as long-stemmed straw, has been shown to crucially affect behaviour (reviewed by Tuyttens, 2005) and mood (Mendl et al.,

2009; Brydges et al., 2011). Moreover, the expression of a genetic disposition for aggressiveness may largely depend on the environment (reviewed by Nelson and Trainor, 2007). To assess whether the outcome of selection for IGEs differs within different environments, the effect of environmental conditions and the extent of genotype by environment interactions should be estimated.

This study therefore investigated whether pigs selected for either high or low IGE on growth, and housed in either a conventional barren pen or a straw-enriched pen, show differences in aggression under regrouping situations and stable social conditions. The hypothesis that pigs selected for high IGE for growth would show less aggression towards group members was assessed by observations on skin lesion scores and aggressive behaviours in pigs divergently selected for IGE on growth.

8.2 Materials and Methods

Ethics

This study was carried out in strict accordance with the recommendations in the European Guidelines for accommodation and care of animals. The protocol was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Wageningen University (Protocol Number: 2010055f).

Indirect Genetic Effects

This section briefly summarizes the theory on IGEs. In quantitative genetics, phenotypic trait values (*P*) in the absence of IGEs are usually modelled as the sum of a heritable component, the breeding value (A), and a residual component, the environment (E); P = A + E (Falconer and Mackay, 1996). When individuals affect each other's trait values, this model has to be extended with IGEs (Griffing, 1967),

$$P_i = A_{D,i} + E_{D,i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} A_{S,j} + \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} E_{S,j}$$

where *i* denotes the focal individual, *j* one of its *n*-1 group mates, *A* denotes heritable effects (also known as breeding values), subscript *D* denotes direct effects and subscript *S* denotes indirect effects. Hence, with IGEs the trait value of an individual is the sum of its own direct genetic effect, $A_{D,i}$, the sum of the IGEs of

all its group mates,
$$\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} A_{S,j}$$
 , and a non-heritable component, $E_{D,i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} E_{S,j}$.

With this model, response to selection is determined by the change in the so-called

total breeding value (A_{T}) (Moore et al., 1997; Bijma, 2011b),

 $A_{T,i} = A_{D,i} + (n-1)A_{S,i}$, where n-1 is the number of group mates excluding the individual itself. Thus, $A_{T,i}$ represents for each individual the effect of its genes on its own phenotype, plus the effects of its genes on the phenotypes of its group mates.

Indirect Genetic Effect (IGE) estimation

Estimated breeding values (EBV) for IGEs were based on growth rate during the finishing phase (from app. 25 – 110 kg), here abbreviated as IGEg. EBVs were estimated using Best Linear Unbiased Prediction and a so-called animal model (Henderson, 1975). Following (Muir, 2005; Arango et al., 2005; Bijma et al., 2007b), the animal model included both the direct effect of the individual, the IGEg of each of its group mates, and a random group effect. Full details of the model are given in (Bergsma, 2011).

Subsequently, the dams and sires with the most extreme high and low IGEg of the available population were selected to create a F1 population, see Table 1.

Table 1. Selection of animals based on estimated IGEg contrast.					
	High IGEg		Low IGEg		Contrast
	Ν	Est. IGEg*	N	Est. IGEg	(g/day)
Selected sires	13	4.36 ± 0.1	11	-1.65 ± 0.1	6.01
Selected dams	34	-0.35 ± 0.05	31	-1.66 ± 0.05	1.31
Offspring	240	2.00 ± 0.6	240	-1.62 ± 0.5	3.62

Table 1. Selection of animals based on estimated IGEg contrast

* Estimated Indirect Genetic Effect for growth rate in grams per day

Dams (Topigs-20 sows: sow line of Great Yorkshire × Dutch Landrace) were selected out of in total 120 sows from the TOPIGS experimental farm. Sires (Tempo boars: commercial synthetic boar line with Great Yorkshire genetic background) were selected from in total 532 TOPIGS AI boars. The contrast for estimated IGEg between the high and low selected offspring was on average 3.6 g/day (Table 1). Average accuracy of the estimated IGEg of the sires was 0.63. Sires and dams were selected so that the average estimated direct genetic effect was similar for both offspring groups (High: 11 ± 2 g ADG; Low: 8 ± 2 g ADG; P = 0.36). After weaning, offspring were housed in groups of six (see section Animals and housing). The IGE contrast, therefore, corresponds to an expected growth difference of $(6-1) \times 3.6 =$ 18 g/day (Bijma et al., 2007b). Theoretically, this would mean an expected difference of 2.9 kg in body weight between the pigs from the high and low group at the end of the 160-days trial (at ~110 kg). Power calculations, taking into account both the uncertainty in the genetic selection differential and the additional noise in the observed response to selection due to non-genetic effects (the *E*-terms in the above expression for P_i), indicated that this response was expected to be significant (P < 0.05).

Animals and housing

A total of 480 offspring were studied over five batches of 96 piglets each. Piglets were born in conventional farrowing crates (TOPIGS experimental farm, Beilen, The Netherlands). Tails and teeth were kept intact, but male piglets were castrated at three days of age. Cross fostering was applied only if litter sizes exceeded 14 piglets, and always within the same IGE group. At approximately 14 days of age, piglets were subjected to the backtest to assess their coping style (Hessing et al., 1993; Bolhuis et al., 2003). Hereby a piglet is placed in a supine position for 60 s whereby its response is indicative of its behavioural strategy. At 26 days of age, piglets were weaned and a maximum of eight (non-cross fostered) piglets per sow were selected. Selection was based on general health, sex, and backtest classification. At weaning, the average weight did not significantly differ between the high and low IGE group. Selected piglets were transported to experimental farm De Haar (Wageningen, The Netherlands). During transportation, all litters were kept separately to avoid aggression. Transportation did not lead to notable skin lesions.

From weaning on, a 2×2 experimental arrangement was applied with IGE (low vs. high) and housing conditions (barren vs. enriched) as factors at the pen level. Within each batch, pigs were housed in 16 pens of six individuals each, giving a total of 80 pens.

On arrival at the farm, each pig was placed immediately in a pen with five unfamiliar pigs. Each pig was identified by a spray marked number on the back, which was refreshed before tests and observations. Group composition was within pen balanced for sex (1:1) and backtest classification (1:3 pro-active to re-active coping style, according to the distribution of the whole tested population). The distinct IGE groups were never mixed. Half of the pigs from each IGE group, and half of the selected piglets from each sow, were allocated to a barren pen, and the other half to an enriched pen.

Barren pens had a floor which was half solid concrete and half slatted whilst enriched pens had a solid floor with a deep litter bedding of sawdust and straw. All pens had a space allowance of ~1.0 m²/pig, and contained a metal chain with galvanized ball (75 mm diameter). Dry pelleted commercial feed was offered *ad libitum* from a single space feeder. Water was continuously available from a single

nipple drinker per pen. Lights were on from 7:00 till 19:00 h. From week eight onwards, all pens received a handful of sawdust per day and a jute sack attached to the wall to reduce damaging tail biting behaviour. Pigs were housed in these pens from weaning until slaughter at 23 weeks of age. Due to diverse health reasons, 18 high IGE pigs and 11 low IGE pigs were removed from the experiment.

Tests and observations

The timeframe in which the tests and observations were carried out are presented in Table 2. Data on tests and skin lesions were recorded by a single observer, who was unaware of the IGE group of the pigs. Live behavioural observations were performed by several observers who were unaware of the IGE group of the pigs. These observers were trained beforehand to score in the same way and were balanced across treatment groups.

or age.			
Age	Test	Behavioural	Skin lesions
		observations	
2 w	Backtest		
4 w	Weaning (d 26)	Scan sampling*	4 h before weaning
		(d 27 and d 29)	24 h after weaning
5 w		Scan sampling	
8 w		Scan sampling	
9 w	Regrouping test (24 h)	Scan sampling	1 h before regrouping
		Continuous	24 h after regrouping
		observation (video)	
10 w	Response to weighing	Scan sampling	
16 w		Scan sampling	
18 w			9 w after regrouping
21 w		Scan sampling	

Table 2. Tests and observations by week of age (w). Pigs (n = 480) were slaughtered at 23 w of age.

*2-min Instantaneous scan sampling, generally for 6 h per day of observation per pig.

Regrouping test

In commercial farms, pigs are usually relocated and regrouped at around nine weeks of age. To simulate this situation, pigs of nine weeks of age were regrouped for 24 h within IGE group and housing condition. The (temporary) new group consisted of three unfamiliar pairs of pigs and within each pair was balanced for sex (1:1) and within group was balanced for backtest classification (1:3 pro-active to reactive coping style). None of the pigs in the newly composed groups were full-sibs.

Pigs were relocated, within 15 min, into a pen that was unfamiliar to all pigs. Pigs were kept in the new group composition for 24 h, after which they were relocated to their initial pens and reunited with their original pen mates. Behaviour was video recorded from 2 h before the regrouping test until 48 h after the start of the test.

Skin lesion scores

Skin lesions were counted as the number of lesions by body region, following the procedure of Turner et al. (2006). Body regions were front (head, neck, shoulders and front legs), middle (flanks and back), and rear (rump, hind legs and tail). For each body region, a differentiation was made between superficial and deep skin lesions. Deep skin lesions were lesions where skin was broken, showing signs of haemorrhage. Skin lesions were counted before and after encounters with unfamiliar pigs, see Table 2. For the skin lesion score 24 h after regrouping, a cell counter was used to facilitate the counting of lesions.

Live behavioural observations

Behaviours of individual pigs were recorded on eight days in total, see Table 2. The ethogram included reciprocal fighting, aggressive non-reciprocal biting, head knocks and aggression at the feeder. Aggression at the feeder included all reciprocal fights, aggressive non-reciprocal bites, and head knocks given within <1m distance from the feeder. All other active behaviours were summed to approximate a general activity level. Behaviour was scored during live observations using 2-min instantaneous scan sampling, for 6 h per day between 8:00 and 17:00 h. The Observer 5.0 software package (Noldus Information Technology B.V., Wageningen, The Netherlands) installed on a hand-held computer, was used for behavioural recordings.

Video observations after the regrouping test

Videos from immediately after the regrouping test, when pigs were reunited with their original pen mates, were analysed for number of aggressive interactions per pen. From the moment that all six pigs had returned to their home pen until 30 min thereafter, the number of reciprocal fights, non-reciprocal (series of) bites, head knocks and fights at the feeder were counted per pen. Reciprocal fights and non-reciprocal series of bites were counted from the start of a series of aggressive interactions until either the end of the fight or series of non-reciprocal bites, or a pause of at least 3 s.

Response to handling at weighing

Response to handling at weighing previously showed a positive genetic correlation with aggression ($r_g 0.41 - 0.60$) (D'Eath et al., 2009), and was therefore included in this study. At 10 weeks of age pigs were weighed and the response of the pigs to handling at weighing was scored. This was the first time that the pigs experienced a weigh crate. Behaviour during weighing was scored as previously described (D'Eath et al., 2009). Briefly, each pig received three scores: a 1 - 5 score for the ease of entering the crate, a 1 - 3 score for movements in the crate and, a 1 - 3 score for ease of leaving the crate. The lower the score, the more resistance the pig showed to handling or being in the crate. The number of vocalizations was recorded from entering the crate until the moment the pig left the crate.

Data analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using SAS (SAS 9.2, Institute Inc.). Residuals of the response variables were checked for normality.

To test whether the skin lesion score differed between IGE groups and housing conditions, pre-mixing skin lesion scores were subtracted from the number of skin lesions after regrouping. Negative values were set to zero. The number of skin lesions on the body as a whole (sum front, middle and rear) was square root transformed to achieve a normal distribution, and analysed in a mixed model (Mixed Procedure), with IGE group, housing condition, the interaction between IGE group and housing condition, sex and batch as fixed effects and pen nested within IGE group, housing condition and batch as random effect. Scores on the separate body parts were not normally distributed after transformation and were analysed as described above, but with the raw data in a generalized linear model with Poisson distribution (Glimmix Procedure).

Scan samples from the live behavioural observations were expressed as the proportion of total observation time spent on a behaviour and were analysed separately for each observation day. To obtain a normal distribution, behaviours were arcsine square root transformed. Effects of IGE group and housing condition on aggressive behaviour were analysed in a mixed model as described above (Mixed Procedure). Including general activity in the model did not lead to considerable changes in the reported P values and was therefore omitted from the model. The number of aggressive interactions as observed from video footage was recorded on a pen level and therefore analysed with a general linear model (GLM Procedure) including the effects of IGE group, housing condition and batch.

Response to handling at weighing was tested for differences between IGE groups and housing conditions. Data on batch 3 had to be omitted due to technical problems with the weigh crate. Scores on entering the crate were analysed with a mixed model as described above for skin lesions (Mixed Procedure). For movements in the crate and leaving the crate, score 1 was combined with score 2, since only 3 pigs had score 1 for movements in the crate, and 15 pigs had score 1 for leaving the crate. Scores for movement in the crate and on leaving the crate were therefore analysed using a generalized mixed model with a binary distribution and a logit link function (Glimmix Procedure).

Data are presented as (untransformed) means ± SEM.

8.3 Results

Skin lesions

The number of skin lesions did not significantly differ between high IGE and low IGE pigs at any scoring time or on any body region (Table 3). Intensity of the lesions (superficial or deep) did not significantly differ between high and low IGE pigs (P=0.54). Pigs housed in enriched pens had higher skin lesion scores at all sampling points under stable social conditions and at 24 h after the regrouping test on the middle and rear of the body, and had also more deep lesions on the total body (Barren: 6.8 ± 0.4; Enriched: 8.1 ± 0.4 lesions; P = 0.004). The interaction between IGE group and housing condition had no significant effect on the lesion scores (P=0.87). Female pigs had more skin lesions on all scoring days (mean total lesion score over all scoring days: females 139 ± 5 vs. male 124 ± 5; P = 0.05), but this effect differed by body region on each recording day.

groups (IGE) and housing conditions (HC).								
		High IGE Low IG		Low IGE	GE		P-value	
Age		Barren	Enriched	Barren	Enriched	IGE	HC	
4w	F	17.8 ± 2.4	22.2 ± 2.4	20.4 ± 2.4	23.0 ± 2.4	0.16	0.18	
	Μ	6.9 ± 1.1	9.9 ± 1.1	8.5 ± 1.1	10.1 ± 1.1	0.41	0.14	
	R	4.5 ± 0.8	5.1 ± 0.8	4.3 ± 0.8	6.1 ± 0.8	0.61	0.16	
9w	F	2.8 ± 0.4	4.2 ± 0.4	3.0 ± 0.4	4.9 ± 0.4	0.18	<0.001	
	М	1.9 ± 0.4	4.7 ± 0.4	1.9 ± 0.4	3.6 ± 0.4	0.66	<0.001	
	R	0.7 ± 0.2	1.7 ± 0.2	0.6 ± 0.2	1.5 ± 0.2	0.64	<0.001	
9w	F	34.6 ± 3.0	41.9 ± 3.0	33.4 ± 3.0	35.4 ± 3.0	0.96	0.64	
RT	М	25.3 ± 3.1	35.4 ± 3.1	27.6 ± 3.0	31.4 ± 3.0	0.75	0.23	
	R	11.1 ± 1.8	15.5 ± 1.8	14.5 ± 1.8	17.5 ± 1.8	0.07	0.17	
16w	F	3.3 ± 0.4	5.1 ± 0.4	3.3 ± 0.4	5.4 ± 0.4	0.79	<0.001	
	Μ	1.9 ± 0.4	3.7 ± 0.4	2.1 ± 0.4	3.9 ± 0.4	0.87	<0.001	
	R	1.5 ± 0.3	2.7 ± 0.3	1.5 ± 0.3	2.9 ± 0.3	0.86	<0.001	

Table 3. Number of skin lesions for high and low IGE pigs in barren and enriched housing, for each body region (F=front; M=middle; R=rear), by week of age (w) with weaning at 4 w of age and the regrouping test (RT) at 9 w. P-values are given for the difference between IGE groups (IGE) and housing conditions (HC).

Behavioural observations

High IGE pigs showed less non-reciprocal biting behaviour than low IGE pigs in week 4 (High: 0.10 ± 0.02; Low: 0.17 ± 0.02 % of observations; *P* =0.006), three days after weaning, and week 10 (High: 0.02 ± 0.01; Low: 0.07 ± 0.01; P < 0.001), seven days after the regrouping test (Figure 1). There was no significant difference between high and low IGE pigs in the number of reciprocal fights, except for week 16, when high IGE pigs in enriched pens fought more (High: 0.06 ± 0.01 ; Low: $0.02 \pm$ 0.01; P = 0.02). The IGE groups did not differ in the amount of head knocks (P=0.32) or fights at the feeder (P = 0.62). Housing conditions influenced the amount of aggression during the weeks after the regrouping situations, whereby pigs in barren pens showed more biting in week 5 (Barren: 0.15 ± 0.02; Enriched: 0.09 ± 0.02 % of observations; P = 0.03) and week 16 (Barren: 0.06 ± 0.01; Enriched: 0.02 ± 0.01; P = 0.03; Figure 1). Pigs in barren pens also showed more reciprocal fighting in week 5 (Barren: 0.2 ± 0.03 ; Enriched: 0.1 ± 0.03 ; *P* = 0.008) and week 8 (Barren: 0.14 ± 0.02 ; Enriched: 0.08 ± 0.02 ; P = 0.04; Figure 1). There tended to be an interaction between IGE group and housing condition for non-reciprocal biting in week 4 (P = 0.06), due to a higher in amount of biting in low IGE pigs in barren pens as compared to high IGE pigs in enriched pens (High-E: 0.11 ± 0.02 ; Low-B: $0.21 \pm$ 0.02 % of observations; P = 0.004). An opposite interaction tended to exist for



fighting in week 16, where high IGE pigs in enriched pens fought more than low IGE pigs in barren pens (High-E: 0.09 ± 0.01 ; Low-B: 0.02 ± 0.01 ; P = 0.004).

Figure 1. Aggressive behaviour from life observations. Percentage of observation spent on reciprocal fighting and non-reciprocal biting for IGE group (low and high IGE) and housing condition (HC, barren and enriched) over weeks of age outside regrouping situations (4 w and 9 w). Significant differences are indicated by *P < 0.05.

On the day after weaning, the amount of non-reciprocal biting and reciprocal fighting did not differ between IGE groups (Biting: P = 0.97; Fighting: P = 0.63) or between housing conditions (Biting: P = 0.78; Fighting: P = 0.12). During the regrouping test at 9 weeks of age, the amount of non-reciprocal biting and reciprocal fighting did not differ between IGE groups (Biting: P = 0.98; Fighting: P = 0.14). Pigs in enriched pens showed more biting during the regrouping test (Barren: 0.32 ± 0.04 ; Enriched: 0.46 ± 0.05 % of observations; P = 0.02), but not more reciprocal fighting (P = 0.35). Female pigs showed more aggressive behaviour during all observation days (Females: 0.42 ± 0.02 ; Males: 0.35 ± 0.02 ; P = 0.02), except for weaning and the first week after weaning (weeks 4 and 5). In week 5, males showed more aggression (Females: 0.53 ± 0.04 ; Males: 0.64 ± 0.04 ; P = 0.03).

Aggression at reunion

The distinct IGE groups showed considerable behavioural differences upon reunion with familiar group members after having been separated for 24 h during the

regrouping test. In the first 30 min after reunion, pigs from high IGE pens had on average 8.0 ± 1.8 aggressive interactions, whereas pigs from low IGE pens had 15.7 ± 1.8 aggressive interactions (P = 0.004). In high IGE pens, there was less nonreciprocal biting (High: 3.4 ± 0.6; Low: 6.8 ± 1.3 occurrences in 30 minutes; P=0.008) and there were fewer head knocks (High: 1.4 ± 0.2; Low: 2.6 ± 0.4 occurrences in 30 minutes; P = 0.02; Figure 2). In 9 out of 60 cases low IGE pens had more than 20 aggressive interactions (range 0 – 49), while none of the high IGE pens reached this number of encounters (range 0 – 18). There was no effect of housing condition on the amount of aggression shown (P = 0.85), nor an interaction between IGE group and housing condition (P = 0.44).



Figure 2. Aggression at reunion. Frequency of aggressive interactions within low and high IGE pens during the 30 min after reunion by type of aggressive behaviour. Aggression at feeder includes fighting, biting and head knocks given within <1 m of the feeder. Significant differences are indicated by *P < 0.05.

Response to handling at weighing

In general, pigs entered the weigh crate after little encouragement by an animal handler. High IGE pigs entered the weigh crate more easily than low IGE pigs (High: score 3.8 ± 0.1 ; Low: score 3.6 ± 0.1 ; P = 0.03). Pigs housed in enriched pens also entered the crate more easily (Enriched: score 3.8 ± 0.1 ; Barren: score 3.6 ± 0.1 ; P=0.04). Pigs mostly stood still in the crate (score 2.8 ± 0.02) and left the crate after some encouragement of the animal handler (score 2.4 ± 0.04). There was no significant effect of IGE group on movements in the crate (P = 0.75) or resistance to leaving the crate (P = 0.79), nor for housing conditions (P = 0.97 for movements on

the crate; P = 0.50 for leaving the crate). There was no interaction between IGE group and housing condition on any of the measurements for response to weighing (overall P = 0.30).

8.4 Discussion

We hypothesized, as aggression may reduce growth (Stookey and Gonyou, 1994; Hyun et al., 1998) that animals selected for high IGE for growth (IGEg) would be less aggressive than animals selected for low IGEg. In this study, high IGE and low IGE pigs did not differ in number of skin lesions or in time spent fighting. High IGE pigs, however, performed less biting and showed considerably less aggression at reunion with familiar group members after they had been separated during a 24 h regrouping test at 8 w of age. Pigs in enriched housing conditions had more skin lesions but showed less aggressive behaviour. There was no significant interaction between IGE group and housing condition. It therefore seems unlikely that possible changes in aggressive behaviour of pigs selected for IGEg would differ between barren and enriched pens.

IGEg and skin lesions

Previous studies on pigs with estimated breeding values for IGE on growth showed that high IGE pigs had more skin lesions on the front of the body after regrouping, but had fewer lesions under stable social conditions in the weeks after regrouping (Rodenburg et al., 2010; Canario et al., 2012). Skin lesions on the front of the body are typically received during reciprocal fighting and those on the rear of the body indicate that the pig has been bullied (Turner et al., 2009). It was therefore suggested that high IGE pigs are more competent at establishing dominance relationships. In the current study, skin lesion scores did not significantly differ between the IGE groups. This discrepancy with the previous study might be due to differences in the experimental design. This was the first study where a large number of pigs were selected on extremes of estimated IGEg and housed in distinct IGE groups, whereas in previous studies pigs were randomly grouped together without prior knowledge of their IGEg (Canario et al., 2012). Based on skin lesion scores alone, we could not confirm that high IGE pigs would show less aggression, or would be better able to establish dominance relationships, than low IGE pigs.

IGEg and aggressive behaviour

Behavioural observations did reveal differences in aggression between high and low IGE pigs. The main result was that high IGE pigs showed considerably less aggression in the first 30 min after reunion with familiar pen mates after 24 h exposure to unfamiliar pigs in a regrouping test. We expected to see a difference within the 24 h of regrouping because this period is often studied for the intense aggression that occurs in this timeframe. In commercial farming, animals are not reunited after regrouping, but this unexpected finding may provide important information on behavioural strategies that may change in animals selected for IGEg. We here outline three potential mechanisms.

One hypothesis for why high IGE pigs fought less when they were reunited with familiar pen mates could be that dominance relationships were more stable in high IGE groups beforehand, or that high IGE pigs apply a different dominance style (Ruis et al., 2002) and, that therefore, high IGE pigs could re-establish their dominance relationships with less aggression at reunion. High IGE pigs showed less non-reciprocal biting in both weeks after a regrouping situation, which would be in line with this hypothesis (Rodenburg et al., 2010; Canario et al., 2012). Also when aggression is limited, as non-reciprocal biting in the weeks after regrouping occurred on an average of only 0.4% of the behavioural scans, dominance relationships may still have an effect on health and stress levels (Sapolsky, 2005; Creel, 2001). Although instantaneous scan sampling may underestimate the amount of short lived behaviours such as non-reciprocal biting (Altmann, 1974), and in reality the amount of aggressive interactions would be higher as observed from scan samples, we are cautious about drawing conclusions based upon this difference in IGE groups.

Another hypothesis could be that low IGE pigs experience more stress after social interruptions such as regrouping, or that they were more inclined to direct their stress or frustration towards pen mates than high IGE pigs given the same level of stress (Hyun et al., 1998; Scott, 1984). Differences between the IGE groups became apparent after weaning and regrouping, expressed in non-reciprocal biting. Non-reciprocal biting is also referred to as bullying behaviour (D'Eath et al., 2009), but may also have an important function in stress-induced aggression as biting may suppress the release of stress-induced noradrenaline and ulcer formation (Tanaka et al., 1998; Dudink et al., 2006). Potentially, low IGEg pigs evaluate a social interruption differently or are more likely to direct their response towards group members.

A third hypothesis could be that high IGE animals are better able to recognize or remember their original group members. During stressful situations, social recognition or social memory may be impaired (Takahashi et al., 2004; Souza and Zanella, 2008), which may increase aggression (Zayan, 1990; Ferguson et al., 2002; Bielsky et al., 2004). It is possible that high IGE animals have better social recognition, or are better able to cope with stressful situations as the differences in

aggressive behaviour between IGE groups were in all cases present in the week after a stressful regrouping event.

From both this study and the studies of Rodenburg et al. (2010) and Canario et al. (2012) it seems that selection for IGEg does affect aggression related behaviour in pigs. Previous studies showed that selection for IGEs influenced aggression in mice (Wilson et al., 2009), and influenced feather pecking behaviour in laying hens (Rodenburg et al., 2008). It is possible that selection for IGEg affects a range of behavioural traits of which aggression is one. This range of traits may for example affect the way in which dominance relationships are established (Rodenburg et al., 2010; Canario et al., 2012) or social cohesion is maintained (De Waal, 1986). The fact that high IGE pigs entered the weigh crate more easily shows that selection for IGEg changes more than the expression of aggression alone. Difficulty with entering the crate might reflect an aggressive temperament (D'Eath et al., 2009; Crump, 2004), but may also reflect, for example, stress susceptibility, fear of humans or novel situations, or sociability by moving towards or away from group members.

Housing conditions and aggression

The environment can contribute to the expression of aggression, irrespective of the genetic merit of an individual for aggressiveness (Van Loo et al., 2002; Nelson and Trainor, 2007). The direction in which the environment affects aggression, however, appears to differ both between and within species (Haemisch et al., 1994; Loo et al., 2002; Van de Weerd and Day, 2009). The same holds for pigs, where enriched pens may lead to less aggression (Lyons et al., 1995), no difference in aggression (Arey and Franklink, 1995; Bolhuis et al., 2005a; Scott et al., 2006), or more aggression (Morgan et al., 1998; Spoolder et al., 2000) as compared to barren pens of equal size. In the current study, pigs in straw-enriched pens had more skin lesions under stable social conditions, but showed less non-reciprocal biting than pigs in barren pens. Though the number of skin lesions may be underestimated due to skin dirtiness (Whittaker et al., 1999; Spoolder et al., 2000; Guy et al., 2002c), as pigs in the barren pens had a more dirty skin (unpublished results), lesions were clearly visible and were scored when the observer was in close proximity to the animal.

Animals in an enriched environment may have more injuries, like skin lesions (Arey and Franklink, 1995; Van de Weerd and Day, 2009), due to higher activity levels or due to competition over resources (Elwood et al., 1998), such as fresh substrate or a dry lying area (Andersen et al., 2000). Skin lesions under stable social conditions may have also been caused by play behaviour or comfort behaviour, like scratching, which occurred more in enriched environments (Dudink et al., 2006; Camerlink et al., submitted). When skin lesions, which are considered as a heritable trait (Turner et al., 2006; Turner, 2011), are used to reduce aggression through direct breeding, the likelihood of increased skin lesions due to an enriched environment should be taken into account. During regrouping situations, housing conditions may have less effect on the number of skin lesions as animals will fight regardless of their environment when they first meet an unfamiliar conspecific (Marler, 1976), and lesion scores may better reflect the amount of aggressive interactions.

Selection for IGEg

At present, very little is known of the mechanisms underlying IGEs for growth rate in pigs. When behaviours underlie IGEg, differences in behaviour may be a precursor to differences in growth. If that is true, one generation of selection might not be sufficient to detect differences in growth between groups despite the a priori power calculations which suggested a sufficient contrast. For the trait under selection, i.e. growth rate, indeed no phenotypic differences were found between both IGE groups (Camerlink et al., 2014a). Differences in behaviour, however, may already be present after one generation of selection. Differences in aggressive behaviour between the IGE groups in this study were small and point to a difference in behavioural strategy rather than aggressiveness per se. Similar indications come from a selection experiment in laying hens selected based on total breeding value for survival time, which showed distinct patterns in harmful pecking behaviour (Rodenburg et al., 2008) while the differences in pecking-related mortality were less clear (personal communication ED Ellen). It would be worthwhile to investigate these behavioural differences after multiple generations of selection for IGEg.

8.5 Conclusion

This is the first study where a large number of pigs was selected and grouped based on IGE for growth (IGEg). Selection for high IGEg did not affect the major aggression parameters in pigs, namely skin lesion scores and fighting during regrouping. The results show, however, that this first stage of selection considerably reduced aggression at reunion with familiar group members and gave a small reduction in non-reciprocal biting in the weeks after regrouping. Changes in aggressive behaviour as a consequence of selection for IGEg do not seem to be influenced by a G×E interaction with regard to the level of environmental enrichment. Aggression may be one facet of the possible ways in which group housed animals may influence each other's growth. If IGEg are included in the breeding criteria it would be important to consider the possible changes in behaviour over generations.

8.6 Acknowledgements

This research was financially supported by the Netherlands Organisation for Scientific Research (NWO) and the Dutch Ministry of Economic Affairs. We would like to acknowledge the animal care takers of experimental farm 'De Haar' and the colleagues and students from the Adaptation Physiology Group of Wageningen University who helped during the experiment, especially Fleur Bartels and Monique Suer.

9

Aggression and affiliation during social conflict in pigs

Irene Camerlink^{1,2}, Simon P. Turner³, Winanda W. Ursinus^{1,4}, Inonge Reimert¹, J. Elizabeth Bolhuis¹

¹Adaptation Physiology Group, Department of Animal Sciences, Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands; ²Animal Breeding and Genomics Centre, Department of Animal Sciences, Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands; ³SRUC, Roslin Institute Building, Easter Bush Estate, Edinburgh, UK; ⁴Animal behaviour & Welfare, Wageningen UR Livestock Research, Lelystad, The Netherlands.

Submitted

Abstract

Social conflict is mostly studied in relation to aggression. A more integral approach, including aggressive and affiliative behaviour as well as physiology, may however give a better understanding of the animals' experience during social conflict. The experience of social conflict may also be reflected in the spatial distribution between conspecifics. The objective was to assess the relationship between behaviour, physiology, and spatial integration in pigs (Sus scrofa) during social conflict. Hereto, 64 groups of pigs (9 wk of age) were studied in a 24 h regrouping test whereby pairs of familiar pigs were grouped with 2 unfamiliar pairs, in either barren or straw-enriched housing. We recorded inter-individual distances, lying in body contact, aggressive and affiliative behaviour, skin injuries, body weight, and haptoglobin. These variables could be summarized into three principal component analysis factors. The three factors were analysed in relation to spatial integration. Results show that pigs stayed up to 24 h after encounter in closer proximity to the familiar pig than to unfamiliar pigs. Pigs with a high factor 1 score were more inactive, gave little social nosing, had many skin lesions and a high body weight. They spaced further away from the familiar pig (b = 3.7 cm; P = 0.02) and unfamiliar ones (b = 1.5 cm; P < 0.01). Pigs with were much involved in aggression (factor 2), and had a strong increase in haptoglobin (factor 3 describing stress), tended to be relatively further from unfamiliar pigs than from familiar ones (b = 0.07 times further; P = 0.06). Results on lying in body contact were coherent with results on distances. Pigs in enriched housing spaced further apart than pigs in barren housing (P < 0.001). The combined analysis of measures revealed animals may either promote or slow down group cohesion, which would not have been revealed from single parameters. This emphasizes the importance of an integral approach to social conflict.

Keywords: pig, spatial integration, cohesion, aggressive behaviour, distance, social interaction, haptoglobin

9.1 Introduction

When unfamiliar animals first meet this may result in social conflict. Social conflict may involve excessive aggression, and efforts have been made to reduce aggression within this context (Marchant-Forde & Marchant-Forde, 2005; Turner, 2011). Aggression, however, only samples part of the behavioural repertoire that animals may express to solve social conflicts. Alongside aggression there may be subtle affiliative behaviours, such as social grooming and body contact, that may promote reconciliation and group cohesion (De Waal, 2000; Kaburu & Newton-Fisher, 2013). These behaviours are well studied in primates (Arnold & Aureli, 2007), but largely ignored in most other species (Spruijt et al., 1992; Lim & Young, 2006; Kutsukake & Clutton-Brock, 2008). Assessing animals, or their welfare, should not only require assessment of aggression, but might also require taking into account cognitive processes and social skills that may promote social cohesion (Turner, 2011; Duboscq et al., 2014).

In gregarious animals, social cohesion may be measured by the distance between group members (i.e. their spatial integration) and their affiliative interactions (Warburton & Lazarus, 1991; Blumstein et al., 2009; Turner et al., 2013). These measures may reflect social acceptance, and have been suggested to reflect the animals' experience of a stressful situation (Arnold & Aureli, 2007; Turner et al., 2013). Animals may show clear preferences for whom they allow in close proximity and will move away or show aggression when disliked animals approach too closely (McBride, 1971; Durrell et al., 2004). This is especially relevant in livestock farming, where animals may be introduced to unfamiliar conspecifics several times during the production cycle and are commonly kept under minimal space requirements, allowing little room to move away from each other (Andersen et al., 2004; Febrer et al., 2006).

In commercially kept pigs, regrouping aggression is considered to be a major welfare issue (Arey & Edwards, 1998). Regrouping, whereby unfamiliar animals encounter each other, is a common management strategy in commercial farming. Regrouping results in aggressive interactions, which amongst others causes (skin) injuries (e.g. Turner et al., 2006; Stukenborg et al., 2011), and alters stress physiology (e.g. Fernandez et al., 1994). Aggression in pigs has been studied for decades (reviewed by Petherick & Blackshaw, 1987), but up to now remains a persistent problem, which may emphasize the need for a different approach. Insight into pigs' experience of social conflict might contribute to a solution, but this has hardly been studied (Mendl et al., 1992; Turner et al., 2013).

To solve complex behavioural issues, and to achieve sustainable welfare improvement, an integral approach might be required (Blumstein et al., 2010). We

aimed to take such an approach in pigs. Our objective was to assess behavioural and physiological characteristics that may be related to the spatial integration between pigs during social conflict. We hypothesized that the spatial integration of regrouped pigs would depend on aggressive interactions as well as on positive social contact. The objective was to investigate which characteristics in behaviour and physiology would contribute most to small inter-individual distances, indicative of social cohesion.

9.2 Material and methods

This study was part of a larger trial in which animals were selected for diverging indirect genetic effects for growth (IGEg) and either housed in barren and enriched pens (described in Animals and housing). Because these factors may influence the social interactions between animals, they were taken into account in the current study. All protocols were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee of Wageningen University (Protocol Number: 2010055f).

Animals and housing

A total of 384 pigs of 9 weeks of age, housed in 64 pens, were studied over four batches. These animals were offspring from 64 Topigs-20 sows (sow line of Great Yorkshire × Dutch Landrace) and 24 Tempo boars (commercial synthetic boar line with Great Yorkshire genetic background), which were selected on either 'high' or 'low' indirect genetic effects for growth (IGEg). IGEg is a breeding value that accounts for the genetic effect that a pig may have on the growth rate of its group members (Griffing, 1967; Muir, 2005 and Bijma et al., 2007). Details of the selection on IGEg are described in Camerlink et al. (2013). Piglets were housed in conventional farrowing crates until weaning (at 26 days of age).

From weaning until slaughter, pigs were housed in groups of six (three females and three castrated male pigs) of the same IGEg classification. Each group contained at least one pig from both sexes that had an active response in the backtest, with a maximum of three (Camerlink et al., 2014b). The response of piglets in a backtest may be indicative of a piglet's coping style or behavioural strategy (Benus et al., 1991), and may relate to its aggressive behaviour as well as other traits (Bolhuis et al., 2005).

In the 2 × 2 experimental arrangement that was applied from weaning, half of each IGEg group (high vs. low) was housed in barren pens and the other half was housed in enriched pens. The barren conventional pens had a 60% solid concrete and 40% slatted floor. Enriched pens had a solid floor with a deep litter bedding of straw and wood shavings. Space allowance in both housing conditions was between 1.0 - 1.2

 m^2 per pig, depending on the barn. Pen dimensions were 1.90 m × 3.20 m in two batches, whereas in the other two batches pens measured 2.25 × 3.25 m. Each pen contained a single space feeder, a nipple drinker, and a metal chain with a ball. Lights were on between 07:00 and 19:00 h. The thermostat was set at 20°C and pigs were fed *ad libitum* with dry pelleted feed.

Regrouping test and skin lesion score

At nine weeks of age, pigs were regrouped for 24 h (~12:00 h to ~12:00 h the following day) within their IGEg group and housing condition. From each pen, one male and one female pig were relocated into an unfamiliar pen where they were joined with two unfamiliar other pig pairs from different pens. None of the pigs in the new pen were full-sibs, and pen composition was balanced for backtest response. Pigs received a number sprayed on their back for recognition, and a coloured dot on their neck (stock marker spray) to identify the pig pair. Video cameras were mounted above the pens to enable video recordings. After 24 h, pigs were returned to their initial pen, and the number of fresh skin lesions was counted for the anterior, middle, and rear regions of the body immediately upon return (Turner et al., 2006). In addition to the number of skin lesions was observed was noted as the predominant location. For each pig, body weight at 9 weeks of age was known.

Spatial distribution

Data on spatial distribution of pigs were obtained from the video footage that was available from the regrouping test. For each pen there were video recordings from 11:00 - 19:00 h at the day of regrouping, and from 07:00 - 12:00 h the following day. Every hour, from the moment that all six pigs had entered the new pen, a screenshot was made from the video footage. The screenshot was made when at least 4 of the 6 pigs were lying. In case more than 2 pigs were standing, the video was forwarded until the moment that at least 4 pigs were lying. In this way, 13 to 14 images were obtained per pen. For each pen, a grid with corresponding x and y coordinates was made at an appropriate scale to be overlaid on the video playback. For each pig, the x and y coordinate at the height of the neck was noted. When the neck of a pig could not be located due to objects in front of the lens (e.g. feeder), the middle of the pig was taken as a reference point. When the distances were calculated, a distinction was made between the familiar pig of the pair and the 4 unfamiliar pigs. It was also noted whether a pig was lying with at least 50% of its body in direct contact with a familiar or unfamiliar pig.

Blood collection and haptoglobin determination

Haptoglobin is an acute phase protein that may reflect amongst others immune activation and distress (human: Langois & Delanghe, 1996; cattle: Lomborg et al., 2008; pigs: Pineiro et al., 2007; Salamano et al., 2008). Pigs were blood sampled in the week before the regrouping test (wk 8) and at the third day after the test (wk 9) by puncture of the jugular vein. The order of sampling was randomized over IGEg group and housing condition. Blood was collected in a serum tube and stored at room temperature. The samples were incubated for one hour at 37°C, and thereafter centrifuged at 20°C at a speed of 5251 g for 12 min. The serum obtained was stored at -80°C. The haptoglobin concentration was determined from the serum using a commercial kit based on the hemoglobin-binding capacities of haptoglobin (PhaseTM Haptoglobin, Tridelta Development Limited, Maynooth, Ireland), which has been validated for pigs (GD Animal Health Service, Deventer, the Netherlands). Hemoglobin (100 μ l) was added to sera (7.5 μ l) and gently mixed. Thereafter, chromogen (140 μ l) was added and the solution was incubated for 5 min at RT and the absorbance read immediately at 600 nm in a microplate reader. The concentration of haptoglobin (mg/ml) was calculated with a standard linear curve for known concentrations of haptoglobin. The difference between the basal level and the level following regrouping (wk 8 subtracted from the levels at wk 9) was used for analyses, and is here referred to as Δ haptoglobin.

Live behavioural observations

Behaviour of the pigs was observed live during the regrouping test by 2-min instantaneous scan sampling for six hours. The Observer 5.0 software package (Noldus Information Technology B.V., Wageningen, The Netherlands) installed on a hand-held computer was used for behaviour recordings. Observations were divided into 1 h blocks (with 15 min breaks between each block) from 14:00 - 17:30 h on the day of regrouping and from 08:00 - 11:30 h the following day. This procedure resulted in 180 observations per pig. Behaviours that were analysed were inactivity (lying with the eyes closed or eyes open), aggression (reciprocal fighting, head knocks, and unilateral biting), and social nosing (nosing the body of a pen mate and nose-nose contact with a pen mate). For aggressive behaviour and social nosing both the giver and receiver of the behaviour were recorded as either a familiar pig or an unfamiliar one.

Data preparation

The distance between two spatial coordinates was calculated using $a^2 + b^2 = c^2$, in which $a = x_{pig1} \cdot x_{pig2}$, where x_{pig1} is the x-coordinate of the chosen pig and x_{pig2} is the x-coordinate of another pig. The same procedure was used for b, which is the difference between the y-coordinates of two pigs. The square root of the resulting c^2 was the distance between two pigs.

The distances to the four unfamiliar pigs were averaged, resulting in one value for the distance to the familiar pig and one value for the average distance to the unfamiliar pigs. Due to the lying positions of the pigs, the individual markings on the back of the pigs could not always be identified, but the pig pairs could always be identified due to different colour markings (each pen was composed of 3 familiar pig pairs). Therefore, the average distance to unfamiliar pigs was only available per pig pair. Pig pairs where one of the pigs was removed from the experiment were excluded from analysis (n = 5). A relative distance between familiar pigs to the unfamiliar pigs by the distance to the familiar pig.

Residuals of the variables were obtained from a general linear model (Proc GLM) with housing condition, IGEg group, and batch as fixed effects. For Δ haptoglobin one outlier was removed (3.2 mg/ml) which was 4.4 SD higher than the mean (0.14 mg/ml) and 1.3 SD higher than the second highest value. The skin lesion scores were square root transformed, and the behavioural observations were transformed by arcsine square root. After transformation, all residuals followed a normal distribution.

Principal component analysis (PCA)

The behavioural and physiological data were correlated with Pearson correlations on the residuals of the GLM. Most variables were moderately correlated (data not shown) and were therefore analysed in a principal component analysis (PCA). The skin lesions on the anterior, middle, and rear of the body were strongly correlated ($r_p 0.45 - 0.73$; all P < 0.001), and therefore only the total number of skin lesions was entered into the PCA with orthogonal rotation. The PCA resulted in three factor with an Eigenvalue above 1 (Table 1).

Measure	Factor 1	Factor 2	Factor 3
Skin lesions	0.55	0.45	0.04
Body weight	0.60	-0.02	0.10
ΔHaptoglobin	0.09	-0.02	0.92
Aggression given	-0.09	0.80	0.16
Aggression received	0.13	0.75	-0.22
Social nosing given	-0.65	-0.08	0.11
Social nosing received	0.37	-0.36	-0.30
Inactivity	0.78	-0.11	0.03
Eigenvalue	1.85	1.56	1.03
Variance explained (%)	23.5	19.4	12.8

Table 1. Loadings on the factors extracted by the principal component analysis, after orthogonal rotation, of variables recorded on individual pigs (n = 480).

Values between 0.30 – 0.50 are in italics, values above 0.50 are in bold.

Data analysis

The relationship between spatial integration and the behaviour and physiology of pigs was analysed using a mixed model (Proc MIXED) with IGEg group, housing condition, and batch as fixed effects, and the pen during regrouping as a random effect (nested within IGEg group, housing condition, and batch). The response variables were the distance to the familiar pig, the average distance of a pig pair to unfamiliar pigs, the relative distance between the two, and the proportion of observations that pigs spent in body contact with a familiar or an unfamiliar pig. The three PCA factors were included as explanatory variables, and interactions between these variables were explored.

The effect of familiarity was analysed by pig pair in a repeated model whereby for each pair the distance toward the familiar pig was known and the average distance toward the unfamiliar pigs, and similar for lying in body contact. In a mixed model the spatial integration measures were included as response variables whereas the variable 'familiarity' (familiar or unfamiliar) and batch were the explanatory variables. Pig pair was included as a random effect to account for the repeated observation (n=2) per pair, and was nested within pen, IGEg group, housing condition, and batch. The model on observations over time (~14 observations within 24 h) included the observation as fixed effect (1 - 14), while the pair (nested with pen, IGEg group, housing condition, and batch) was included as random effect. Data preparation, the PCA analysis, and data analysis were carried out with SAS 9.2. Values presented are (untransformed) LSmeans ± SEM.

9.3 Results

Familiarity

Pigs stayed in close proximity to the pig they were familiar to, whereas they spaced away from unfamiliar pigs (Figure 1). On average, familiar pigs lay 125 ± 2 cm apart, whereas their average distance to unfamiliar pigs was 158 ± 2 cm ($F_{1,187}$ = 205; P<0.001). Pigs stayed in closer proximity to the familiar pig than to the unfamiliar pigs until night time (Figure 2; all P <0.001). On the following morning, the distance between unfamiliar pigs (all P <0.05), except at 07:00 h (P = 0.39), which was the first hour after the dark period, and at 10:00 h (P = 0.07).

The closer proximity between familiar pigs was also reflected in the amount of body contact. Familiar pigs lay with at least half of their body in direct contact with each other on an average of $14 \pm 0.7\%$ of the observations (range 0 - 71%), but in contact with one or more of the unfamiliar pigs on $21 \pm 0.7\%$ (range 0 - 54%) of observations. If pigs did not differentiate between familiar and unfamiliar pigs when resting, the chance that a pig would lie next to the familiar pig would be four times smaller ($^{1}/_{5}$) than to one of the unfamiliar pigs ($^{4}/_{5}$). When corrected for chance, the frequency of lying in body contact with an unfamiliar pig would equate $5 \pm 0.7\%$. Therefore, pigs lay in contact with the familiar pig more often than with unfamiliar pigs as would be expected by chance ($F_{1.187} = 22$; P < 0.001).



Figure 1. Pigs resting closely together with their familiar pig while resting far apart from unfamiliar pig pairs.



Figure 2. Distance between familiar pigs and their average distance to the four unfamiliar pigs over the course of 24 hour after regrouping, n = 192 pig pairs.

Principal component analysis

The principal component analysis revealed three factors, which together explained 55.6% of the variation (Table 1). A high score of factor 1 related to inactivity, a low amount of giving social nosing towards others, a high number of skin lesions, and a high body weight. Pigs with a high factor 1 score are hereafter mentioned as 'antisocial' pigs. A high score of factor 2 was mainly explained by a high amount of aggressive behaviour given and received, as well as a high number of skin lesions. Pigs with a high factor 2 score are hereafter mentioned as 'fighting' pigs (not termed as 'aggressive', because it also includes pigs that received much aggression and are therefore not necessarily aggressive themselves). A high score of factor 3 explained the increase in the level of haptoglobin, i.e. Δ haptoglobin. As haptoglobin was here included as a physiological measure of stress, pigs with a high factor 3 score were termed 'stressed' pigs. The receipt of social nosing was the only variable that did not clearly associate with one of the factors (Table 1). Separate analysis of this variable in the mixed models indeed did not reveal a relationship with measures on the distances or body contact.
Inter-individual distances

The 'antisocial' pigs (high factor 1 score) spaced far away from the familiar pig ($b = 2.8 \pm 1.2 \text{ cm}$; $F_{1,303} = 5.37$; P = 0.02), as well as from unfamiliar pigs ($b = 1.0 \pm 0.4 \text{ cm}$; $F_{1,301} = 5.71$; P = 0.02). Opposite, animals that were active, involved little in aggression, and gave much social nosing were closely situated to other pigs. Pigs spent 1.8 \pm 1.3% of the behavioural scans giving social nosing, of which on average 20% was directed towards the familiar conspecific.

The 'fighting' pigs (high factor 2 score) gave and received high amounts of aggressive behaviour. Aggressive behaviour, which occurred on average on $1.1 \pm 1.4\%$ of the behavioural scans, was directed towards unfamiliar pigs on 90% of occasions. 'Fighting pigs' did not significantly differ in their distances toward the familiar pig or toward unfamiliar pigs (P = 0.53; P = 0.96, respectively).

'Stressed' pigs did not differ in their distance toward the familiar pig (P = 0.23) or unfamiliar pigs (P = 0.45). The haptoglobin concentration after regrouping was on average 0.70 ± 0.03 mg/ml (range 0.04 – 3.5), whereas the difference between the concentration after and before regrouping (Δ) was on average 0.14 ± 0.03 mg/ml (range -2.0 – 2.3). These values are within a normal range for healthy animals.

Relative distance

Pigs were on average 1.3 ± 0.02 times further away (range 0.8 - 3.3) from unfamiliar pigs than from the pig they were familiar to, which is here referred to as the relative distance. Although 'antisocial' pigs spaced further away from the unfamiliar pigs as well as from the familiar pig, this was only in absolute distance, and not relative to each other ($F_{1,303} = 0.92$; P = 0.43). Since both absolute distances were increased, the relative distance to unfamiliar pigs as compared to the distance to the familiar pig remained the same. The distance of a pig toward its familiar pair mate as compared to its distance toward unfamiliar pigs, i.e. the relative distance, tended to increase by the interaction between factor 2 'fighting' and factor 3 'stressed' ($b = 0.03 \pm 0.02$; $F_{1,303} = 3.04$; P = 0.08). Hereby 'fighting' pigs which were 'stressed' were on average 0.3 times further away from unfamiliar pigs than other pigs were (Figure 3A). The relative distance to unfamiliar pigs was not affected by the separate contribution of factor 2 ($F_{1,303} = 0.35$; P = 0.55) or factor 3 ($F_{1,303} = 0.86$; P = 0.36).



Figure 3. The effect of the interaction between factor 2 (fighting) and factor 3 (stress) on the relative distance (number of times that a pig is further apart from the unfamiliar pig than from the familiar pig) (A); and the percentage of lying in body contact with the familiar pig (B). The interaction is analysed linearly, but for clarity here presented in categories. The bars represent the average value of pigs with a factor 2 score below (L) or above (H) zero, and a factor 3 score below (L) or above (H) zero (zero was the mean factor score).

Lying in body contact

Lying in body contact with the familiar pig tended to be affected by the interaction between factor 2 and factor 3, whereby 'fighting' pigs which were 'stressed' tended to lie most in body contact (Figure 3B; $b = 1.0 \pm 0.5$; $F_{1,303} = 3.67$; P = 0.06). Lying in body contact with the familiar pig was not affected by factor 1 (antisocial) ($F_{1,303} = 0.18$; P = 0.67), or the separate contribution of factor 2 ($F_{1,303} = 0.0$; P = 0.98) or factor 3($F_{1,303} = 0.30$; P = 0.58). Lying in body contact with unfamiliar pigs was not affected by the interaction between factor 2 and factor 3 ($F_{1,303} = 2.14$; P = 0.14), nor by the single contribution of factor 1 ($F_{1,303} = 0.29$; P = 0.59), factor 2 ($F_{1,303} = 0.04$; P = 0.84), or factor 3 ($F_{1,303} = 0.10$; P = 0.75).

Enriched housing conditions

Pigs in pens that were enriched with a deep litter layer of straw and wood shavings kept a larger distance to familiar and unfamiliar pigs than those in barren pens (Table 2). However, the relative distance to unfamiliar pigs was smaller, which means that pigs in enriched pens were relatively closer to unfamiliar pigs than to the familiar pig as compared to pigs in barren pens (Table 2). Pigs in barren pens lay

twice as much in body contact with familiar or unfamiliar pigs than pigs in enriched pens (Table 2). Straw bedding conserves heat and temperature may affect proximity between pigs. At observation days that ambient temperature was highest, there was no significant difference between housing conditions (Figure 4), whereas the difference between housing conditions was apparent in the batches where ambient temperature was lower (Figure 4).

Table 2. Effect of barren and enriched housing on the distances between pigs, n = 369. Absolute distances are in cm, whereas the relative distance equals the number of times that a pig is further away from the unfamiliar pig compared to the familiar pig. Body contact is expressed in percentage of observations. Values are LSmeans ± SEM.

	Barren	Enriched	P-value
Distance to familiar pig	115 ± 3	136 ± 3	< 0.001
Distance to unfamiliar pigs	151 ± 3	165 ± 3	< 0.001
Relative distance	1.4 ± 0.04	1.3 ± 0.04	0.04
Body contact with familiar pig	18 ± 1.3	11 ± 1.3	< 0.001
Body contact with unfamiliar pigs	28 ± 1.4	14 ± 1.4	< 0.001



Figure 4. Distances between familiar and unfamiliar pigs in barren and enriched pens, presented by the month in which the regrouping took place (batch). The secondary axes shows the maximum temperature in the barn at the day of regrouping.

Indirect genetic effects

There were no significant effects of selection on 'indirect genetic effect for growth' (IGEg) as a main effect (all P > 0.10). The genotype by environment set-up, however, revealed an interaction for laying in body contact with the familiar pig ($F_{1,57} = 4.1$; P=0.048). Pigs which are genetically selected to have a positive effect on the growth rate of their group members (high IGEg pigs) were lying most frequently in body contact with their familiar pig when they were housed in barren pens. In contrast, of the four treatment group (IGEg × housing condition), high IGEg pigs were lying least frequently in body contact with the familiar pig when they were housed in enriched pens (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Percentage of observations that a pig was lying in body contact with the familiar pig, given for pigs which were genetically selected for either high or low IGEg, and housed in barren (B) and enriched (E) pens.

9.4 Discussion

We aimed to assess the relationship between behavioural and physiological characteristics of pigs and their spatial integration during social conflict. Pigs clearly distinguished between familiar and unfamiliar pigs over the 24 h period after mixing, whereby they remained closer to the familiar pig. Behavioural and physiological measures were largely interrelated. The results highlight that reduced aggression does not necessarily equate to reduced social tension, which may be reflected by large spatial distances. It is therefore important to consider a spectrum of parameters before conclusions are drawn upon the contribution of an animal to the functioning of a group.

Characteristics of pigs with a large inter-individual distance

Pigs with a high factor 1 score in the principal component analysis, i.e. 'antisocial' pigs, were inactive pigs with a high number of skin lesions, high body weight, and little social nosing behaviour. These pigs spaced further away from all other pigs irrespective of familiarity. It seems plausible that these pigs were exhausted of fighting and were therefore less active. As a result of fighting and higher body weight, they may have had an increased body temperature (De Jong et al., 1999), which might make them space further away from all others. This withdrawn position may have led to less social interactions in the form of social nosing. These pigs might also have been unsuccessful in their fights and consequently might not have been allowed in close proximity (Ewbank & Meese, 1971). It could also be that these pigs were dominant. Dominant pigs may keep a larger portable (personal) space than subordinates (McCort & Graves, 1982) which may reflect their own choices or the unwillingness of other animals to closely approach them (McBride, 1971). This high dominance status would be in line with the high body weight (Rushen, 1987), and high amount of aggression as reflected in the skin lesions (Turner et al., 2006). Irrespective of the underlying cause, the response of the 'antisocial' pigs hampered the social cohesion.

The role of aggression

A high factor 2 score, i.e. 'fighting' pigs, described much involvement in aggressive behaviour, which was apparent through a high amount of aggressive behaviour given and received. 'Fighting' pigs did not have any significant effect on the measures of spatial integration, which indicates that studying aggression alone may miss important aspects of social conflict. A potential reason why factor 2 did not relate to any of the measures of spatial integration might be the simultaneous inclusion of given and received aggression in the PCA. The amount of aggressive behaviours that are given and received are correlated (e.g. Turner et al., 2006). Giving aggression may provoke a different behavioural repertoire than receiving aggression, and this may be reflected in the inter-individual distances. That these different types of involvement in aggression loaded equally on factor 2 may have caused that factor 2 did not reveal any significant effects on the spatial integration.

The role of social nosing

Factor 1 comprised social nosing behaviour, in counter direction to measures on inactivity, aggression, and body weight. Social nosing in pigs may amongst others contribute to recognition and affiliation, and may result in acceptance of a conspecific within the group (Ewbank & Meese, 1971; Camerlink & Turner, 2013). From the current observations, it was not possible to determine whether pigs were nosing a conspecific to recognize the individual, or to express affiliative behaviour. Both may be true, as pigs can easily recognize and remember familiar conspecifics (Ewbank & Meese, 1971), yet twenty percent of the social nosing was directed towards the familiar group mate. Studies from other species indicate that both recognition and affiliative behaviour may have a positive effect on social cohesion (McComb et al., 2000; Arnold & Aureli, 2007). Most studies are based on stable social groups, whereby affiliative behaviour may for example function as a tool to reconsolidate (Kutsukake & Clutton-Brock, 2008). The current study, however, concerned newly formed groups, and the social nosing towards unfamiliar conspecifics might therefore be more likely related to recognition and getting acquainted to each other, which may include sorting out dominance relationships (Kutsukake, 2009; Bonnani et al., 2010). The establishment of dominance relationships may depend on amongst others aggressiveness and physiological differences such as body weight (Rushen, 1987; Andersen et al., 2000; Li and Johnston, 2009; but see a.o. Jensen and Yngvesson, 1998). Pigs with a low factor 1 score were lighter, had less skin lesions, and were more active. These small pigs might have actively avoided fights, or may have gained their rank without the necessity to fight as a result of their low weight compared to others (Andersen et al., 2000). The pigs with a low factor 1 score gave more social nosing and were more likely to approach other pigs, including unfamiliar ones. This suggests that these pigs could better cope with social conflict than pigs with other predominant factor scores.

The role of stress

Factor 3 score described the increase in haptoglobin concentration in the blood. Haptoglobin concentrations may be heightened with physical stress such as infection, but also with psychological stress (humans: Langois & Delanghe, 1996; cattle: Lomborg et al., 2008; pigs: Pineiro et al., 2007; Salamano et al., 2008). Factor 3 had no influence on the spatial integration between pigs. The interaction with factor 2, however, did affect the integration. The largest relative distances, thus stronger distinction between familiar and unfamiliar pigs, was seen in 'fighting' pigs that were 'stressed'. As a response to psychological stress, these animals may have remained closer to the familiar conspecific, as was reflected in the high frequency of lying in body contact with the familiar pig. The presence of a familiar conspecific may have a stress-buffering effect due to social support in pigs (Ruis et al., 2001; Rault, 2012; Reimert et al., 2013). Pigs have been reported to prefer lying beside a familiar pig for up to six days after mixing, especially in more aggressive groups (Erhard et al., 1997; D'Eath, 2002). The increased Δhaptoglobin concentration, as well as the tendency to remain in close proximity to the familiar conspecific, suggests that these animals indeed experienced more stress, either by unsuccessful fights or by a heightened vulnerability to stress (Mendl et al., 1992).

Enriched housing conditions

Apart from the individual pig characteristics that may influence the distance between pigs, the enriched housing caused a considerable increase in the distances between animals, regardless of familiarity. The relative distance towards unfamiliar pigs, however, became smaller in enriched pens, which may have been due to the constraints of the pen dimensions imposing a maximum distance that could be reached within the limited space requirements. Activity in general will increase body temperature, and the insulating properties of straw may preserve body heat more than concrete (Fraser, 1985; Camerlink et al., in press), which might cause animals to space further apart. The increased ambient temperature in the month of June, however, hardly affected the distances (Figure 4), which suggests a role for other factors.

The increased distance might, however, also indicate increased social tension or aggression in enriched pens. Straw-enrichment may increase aggressive behaviour (van de Weerd & Day, 2009) due to the availability of defensible resources such as fresh straw or a dry lying area (Elwood et al., 1998; Camerlink et al., 2013). A reduction, or lack of impact on aggression from straw enrichment has however also been reported (Munsterhjelm et al., 2009; van de Weerd & Day, 2009). In an earlier study we reported that the pigs on straw did not show more aggressive behaviour, but did have more skin lesions as a result of enriched housing (Camerlink et al., 2013), which might be related to increased activity (Munsterhjelm et al., 2009; Camerlink et al., 2009; Camerlink et al., 2013). Environmental enrichment may direct the attention

towards the physical environment rather than to the social environment (Fraser, 1991), which might have influenced the distances between pigs in enriched pens.

Indirect genetic effects

Pigs that were selected on high IGEg, this a positive genetic effect on the growth of pen mates, and housed in barren pens, spent almost twice as many observations in body contact with the familiar pig than pigs from other treatment groups. The inter-individual distance between animals may decrease with genetic selection for social traits, as has been observed in quail selected for social reinstatement behaviour, and this may decrease further in novel and potentially stressful environments (François et al., 1999). Stress is likely to be greater in barren housed animals as compared to enriched housed animals (Hughes & Duncan, 1988; pigs: De Jonge et al., 1996). As argued above, being in close contact with a familiar conspecific may reduce stress. Previous studies suggested that high IGEg pigs are better capable of handling stress (Camerlink et al., 2013; Reimert et al., 2013; Reimert et al., 2014). It might be that this capacity to cope with stress relates to a higher tendency to give or seek social support.

An integral approach to social conflict

The combination of behavioural and physiological data revealed that spatial integration depends mostly on aggression, sociability, and stress vulnerability. If we would like to improve spatial integration between unfamiliar animals upon encounter, this would not necessarily require animals with little aggression, but would rather require animals that cope well with social stress, either through social behaviour or by effective fighting strategies. Absence of fighting is not the same as being free of social tension, and therefore an integral approach may be necessary when assessing animal welfare.

9.5 Acknowledgements

This study was part of the project 'Seeking Sociable Swine', which was financially supported by the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research (NWO) and the Dutch Ministry of Economic Affairs. We are grateful to Monique Suer for her contribution to the data and analysis, Rosalie van Emous, Suzanne Hendrikx, and David Jansen for their work on the data, and Bas Kemp for his advice on the analysis. We would like to acknowledge the colleagues from the Adaptation Physiology Group of Wageningen University and animal care takers of experimental farm 'De Haar' that helped during the trial.

10

General discussion

Outline

- 10.1 Introduction
- 10.2 Effects on productivity
- 10.3 Effects on behaviour

Harmful effects on others

Positive effects on others

Personality

- 10.4 Effects on animal welfare
- 10.5 Genotype by environment interactions
- 10.6 Estimation of IGEg in pigs
- 10.7 Potential underlying mechanisms
- 10.8 Improving welfare of pigs

Solutions from genetics

Solutions from housing

Implementation of strategies to improve welfare

10.9 Conclusions

10.1 Introduction

Social interactions occur in any given situation where animals encounter each other and may influence health and welfare. When these social interactions are harmful, the recipient may show a reduced performance. In these cases, interactions between animals may put constraints on the response to genetic selection, both in natural populations and agriculture (e.g. Griffing, 1967; Goodnight, 1985; Agrawal et al., 2001). Social interactions are therefore relevant for genetic and behavioural studies. The interplay between these scientific disciplines may give insight in novel methods to improve animal welfare related to social interactions. Social interactions partly depend on genetics and this can be addressed through selection on indirect genetic effects, which account for the heritable component of social effects. An indirect genetic effect (IGE), also referred to as associative-, competitive-, or social genetic effect or social breeding value, is the heritable effect of an individual on trait values of its social partners (Griffing, 1967; Muir, 2005, Bijma et al., 2007b). For example, highly aggressive individuals may harm group members, and their aggressiveness may have a genetic background. IGE-models may be used to account for this genetic effect on group members, which is not accounted for in traditional breeding value estimation.

Including IGE in the estimation of breeding values is suggested as a new method that might improve production performance as well as animal welfare related to social interactions (Muir and Craig, 1998; Muir, 2005; Rodenburg et al., 2010). This is especially relevant to livestock in intensive farming systems. Here, high stocking densities and the occurrence of harmful behaviours often affect health, productivity, and welfare of the animals. Harmful behaviours, such as excessive aggression and cannibalism, are mostly derived from natural behaviours which are, due to housing conditions and management, redirected or overexpressed into aberrant or maladaptive behaviours. The consequences are often harmful for the group mates as well as for the animal itself. Research has offered much insight in harmful behaviours, but up to now their occurrence forms a persistent problem to livestock farming. Currently, the problems arising from harmful behaviours are mostly controlled through measures against the consequences rather than against the cause, e.g. pigs are tail docked and hens are beak trimmed to reduce the severity of the injuries on victims. For the welfare of animals and the sustainability of farming systems, it is of great importance that harmful behaviours between group housed animals are minimized. If a new breeding strategy could improve welfare of those animals within several generations of selection, than it is worth to investigate the merit of this method compared to other efforts to improve animal welfare. As only a handful of animal breeding companies dominate the vast

majority of the genetic improvement of all intensively kept pigs and poultry, the consequences of an improved selection method has the potential to reach livestock production worldwide.

IGE, thus the heritable effects on others, are usually demonstrated by statistical data analysis, but selection experiments to identify the biological background of the effects are rare. The potential underlying mechanisms behind IGE are largely unknown, and unravelling these is complicated by the fact that social interactions, and thus IGE, are presented differently within and across species. Independent of fundamental questions on the mechanisms, there are questions surrounding the application of IGE into breeding that need to be investigated. Especially the suggested contribution of IGE to production performance, behaviour, and animal welfare (e.g. Rodenburg et al., 2010) requires confirmation.

In this chapter, these main issues on IGE are addressed with regard to pigs. Through several studies, among which a large scale one-generation selected experiment, I discuss the contribution of 'IGE on growth rate' (**IGEg**) to pig production performance, behaviour, and welfare, the potential underlying mechanisms, and issues surrounding genetic estimation of IGEg in pigs. Thereafter I discuss the potential of genetic selection and enriched housing conditions to improve the welfare of pigs.

Conclusion 1. IGE on production traits are suggested to improve pig production, behaviour, and welfare but this requires confirmation. Also, potential underlying mechanisms are largely unknown and the estimates of genetic parameters need validation. In this chapter, these main questions are addressed focussing on IGE for growth rate (**IGEg**) in pigs.

10.2 Effects on productivity

The demand for animal products worldwide is estimated to increase roughly around 60-100% in the coming 30 years (FAO, 2011; Valin et al., 2014). Thereof, the demand for pork may increase ~60% in middle income countries and ~170% in low income countries (estimates for 2030; FAO, 2011). As a response, farmers may aim to increase productivity and production efficiency. Animal breeding has been very effective in increasing productivity and production efficiency, but in a number of cases selection may also have contributed to trade-offs (Rauw et al., 1998), such as an increase in undesired behaviour (Cassady, 2007; D'Eath et al., 2010; Turner, 2011). For example, a high growth rate may coincide with high aggressiveness, as aggressiveness may contribute to access to feed resources (Andersen et al., 2004).

Group members of animals that show harmful behaviour may be negatively affected in their productivity, and thus a negative response to selection may occur due to social interactions (e.g. Griffing, 1967; Goodnight, 1985; Agrawal et al., 2001). By including IGE into the selection criterion, the heritable social effects of individuals on their group mates may be accounted for in the genetic parameter estimations for productivity, resulting in more accurate estimated breeding values (Griffing 1967; Bijma et al., 2007b). More accurate estimated breeding values would enable to increase response to selection, i.e. meaning that group productivity would increase (Lynch and Walsh, 1998).

Prior to the application of the IGE model, several extensive group selection trials have been carried out. Multiple generations of group selection in laying hens (Muir, 1996) and pigs (Gunsett, 2005) resulted in profound increases in productivity and favourable changes in behaviour, e.g. reduced cannibalism (Muir, 1996). Group selection also accounts for social interactions, and the trials applying group selection have built a base for the later IGE models (Muir, 2005). The few selection experiments where animals were selected based on the application of IGE-models indicated a positive response in poultry, which was related to changes in behaviour (Muir, 2005; Ellen et al., 2008; Muir et al., 2013). In pigs, genetic parameters have been estimated which show an important role for IGE on growth rate during the finishing phase (IGEg) (Bergsma et al., 2013). The effects of IGEg on productivity, however, could not be confirmed through (pilot) trials based on IGEg (Chapter 6; Camerlink et al., 2010; Rodenburg et al., 2010). Our large scale selection experiment, where parents were selected for either high or low IGEg, did not result in the expected response in growth rate of offspring, which was the trait under selection (Chapter 6). More remarkable, results on body weight and growth rate even tended to be in the opposite direction (Chapter 6). These observations conflict with the significant variance due to IGEg found by Bergsma et al. (2013) in a statistical analysis of a similar population. Possible reasons for this may relate to the difficulties in estimation, and the expression of IGEg, and are discussed in section 6 'Estimation of IGEg in pigs'.

The selection experiment did reveal changes in pig behaviour, whereby potentially harmful behaviour such as biting pen mates and the resulting tail damage were reduced in high IGEg pigs (Chapter 7; discussed in following paragraph). Selection on IGEg is suggested to improve productivity through a change in behaviour that may affect productivity. The responses in behaviour suggest that selection was effective, but that the extent to which harmful behaviour was expressed was not profound enough to affect growth rate. This may be due to measures that were taken to limit harmful behaviour in order to guarantee a certain level of animal

welfare. Preliminary results showed that these measures may have halved the expression of tail biting behaviour (Ursinus, 2014 personal communication). Moreover, pigs in the current study had intact tails and this may have reduced the consequences of tail biting on growth. Tail biting leads to wounds on the tail of the recipient. In tail docked pigs, these wounds are close to the spinal cord, which is a quick route for infections to spread through the body (Schrøder-Petersen and Simonsen, 2001). Internal organs may be infected and a growth reduction is then a likely consequence (Schrøder-Petersen and Simonsen, 2001). With intact tails, which are ~10 cm longer than docked tails, the tail base may be affected less rapidly.

In the trials up to now, selection on IGEg did not significantly influence productivity. This may partly to be a result of the lower intensity of tail biting behaviour as compared to commercial practice, in combinations with a reduced chance that tail wounds would result in a growth reduction. A selection experiment under commercial circumstances would therefore be recommended.

Conclusion 2. Quantitative genetic data analysis suggests the presence of IGE on growth rate in pigs. However, this could not be confirmed in a one-generation selection experiment.

10.3 Effects on behaviour

IGE result from social interactions that may be of different origin, e.g. individuals may influence each other through not only behaviour but also through disease transmission (Lipschutz-Powell et al., 2012; trees: Costa e Silva et al., 2013). In the majority of studies, IGE are suggested to be associated with behaviour (Rodenburg et al., 2010; Bijma, 2011a). Depending on the sign of the genetic correlation between direct and indirect genetic effects, IGE may contribute positively or negatively to response to selection, and these cases have been termed as cooperation and competition.

Harmful effects on others

The harmful effects between group members can well be observed in intensively reared farm animals, such as poultry and pigs. Due to barren and confined housing conditions and management procedures, a considerable part of the herd or flock develops aberrant harmful behaviour. In pigs, this is expressed in excessive aggression and oral manipulation of pen mates, whereby tail biting is most evident. Aggressive encounters may result in stress, and the physiological responses to stress may result in a (temporary) growth reduction (Tan et al., 1991; Ekkel et al., 1995; Marchant-Forde and Marchant-Forde, 2005). Oral manipulation, which is the repeated biting, sucking, rooting, or nibbling on body parts of a conspecific, may vary in intensity (e.g. Schrøder-Petersen et al., 2004). For tail biting, which is the specific biting on the tail of another pig, the reported effects vary from a reduction in growth rate up to 11%, to the dead of the victim (Chapter 2; Smith and Penny, 1998; Schrøder-Petersen and Simonsen, 2001). The effect that behaviour may exert on growth may thus vary in severity.

In our experiment, pigs selected for a high IGEg, e.g. a positive effect on the growth of their group mates, showed less biting behaviour (Chapter 7). This reduced biting behaviour was reflected in less unilateral aggressive bites, less ear biting, and less chewing on pen objects such as a toy and jute sack (Figure 1). High IGEg pigs also inflicted less tail damage due to tail biting (Figure 1). The biting on pen objects such as the jute sack (i.e. burlap, hessian or gunny bag / sack) might have reduced the biting on group mates (Chapter 7).

Previous studies on IGEg in pigs suggested a relationship with aggression, whereby pigs with a high IGEg would show more aggressive behaviour when pigs are regrouped with unfamiliar pigs, but less aggression later on when dominance relationships are assumed to be settled (Rodenburg et al., 2010; Canario et al., 2012). Regrouping of unfamiliar animals may result in excessive aggression (Marler, 1976; Marchant-Forde and Marchant-Forde, 2005). Our detailed study of pigs selected on IGEg showed only minor changes in parameters related to aggression (Chapter 8). During a 24 h regrouping test no differences were found between the IGEg groups (Chapter 8 and 9), but when the pigs where reunited with the former pen mates, directly after the 24 h regrouping test, high IGEg pigs showed considerably less aggression than low IGEg pigs (Chapter 8). We hypothesized that this might be related to a better establishment of dominance relationships in the initial groups (Chapter 8), which would be in line with the suggestions of Rodenburg et al. (2010) and Canario et al. (2012). The difference in biting behavior after the regouping test may, however, also relate to stress sensitivity. Analysis of the behaviour and physiology, inclusing stress physiology, around regrouping indicated that animals which were involved in much aggressive interactions were not necessarily the ones that experienced most stress or fear (Chapter 9). Rather, the interaction between a PCA factor describing involvement in aggression and a PCA factor describing stress through the increase in haptoglobin levels (Δ), showed that pigs which were much involved in aggression and had a higher Δ haptoglobin spaced considerably further away from unfamiliar pigs, whether this was not apparent for aggressive pigs having low Δ haptoglobin. Commonly, the animals that show the most extreme social interactions are studied, and conclusions upon welfare may be drawn based on the animals that show clear signs of (received) aggression, such as skin lesions. The severity of skin lesions may also be used to reduce aggression through direct breeding (Turner et al., 2006; 2009; Turner, 2011). Our work, however, suggests that clear signs of aggression such as skin lesions, gives limited information about how the animal perceives the situation. Breeding against outer signs of behaviour might reduce the expression of that behaviour, e.g. create resilient or stoic animals (D'Eath et al., 2010), but might result in negative emotional states, such as fear, and may thereby be detrimental for animal welfare.



Figure 1. Tail damage score and number of jute sacks consumed for low IGEg (Low) and high IGEg (High) pigs in barren and enriched pens.

Positive effect on others

Most work on IGE in livestock focusses on harmful social interactions. Positive interactions, however, should not be neglected as these may as well influence productivity, behaviour, and welfare. Although the effects may seem less explicit, positive interactions are essential to physical and mental health in social species (e.g. House et al., 1988; humans: Diener and Chan, 2011). For example, the presence of a mother to interact with may drastically improve health and cognitive development of the offspring (e.g. primates: Harlow, 1958; Ruppenthal et al., 1967; pigs: Oostindjer et al., 2011b). Maternal effects, amongst which mother-offspring interactions and the uterine environment, are a well-known type of across-generation IGE of the mother on her offspring (reviewed by Wolf et al., 1998; Hunt

and Simmons, 2001; but see Bouwman et al., 2010 for parameter estimates in pigs).

IGE have been associated with cooperation in terms of the positive sign of the genetic correlation between direct-indirect genetic effects (pigs: Chen et al., 2010), but has to my knowledge not been related to biologically positive, i.e. beneficial, social interactions in animals. In farm animals, positive interactions are far less studied than harmful interactions (reviewed by Boissy et al., 2007; Yeates and Main, 2008), which is partly due to priorities to reduce harmful behaviours in the light of welfare regulations. Recent work on amongst others social support, indicate that animals, including farm animals, may influence each other's emotional state in a positive and negative way (e.g. Rault et al., 2012; pigs: Reimert et al., 2013b).

Positive social interactions are associated with hormones such as oxytocin (reviewed by e.g. Insel, 2010; IsHak et al., 2011). Oxytocin has many positive aspects for health and welfare (e.g. IsHak et al., 2011; pigs: Rault et al., 2013a; Reimert et al., submitted), and may have a beneficial effect on growth (Uvnäs-Moberg et al., 1998). In pigs, gentle tactile contact in the form of social nosing, whereby an individual gently touches another with its snout, was found to be positively associated with growth rate (Chapter 2). This effect on growth, however, was not confirmed in a later study (Chapter 3), and a suggested link between social nosing and oxytocin (administered intranasally) could not be confirmed (Chapter 4). In line with the theory on IGE, however, pigs with an estimated IGEg above group average (those pigs were not selected for IGEg and kept in mixed IGEg groups) showed more social nosing than pigs with an estimated IGEg below group average (Camerlink et al., 2011). The association between IGEg and social nosing, however, was not apparent in our selection experiment (Chapter 7). Although the effect of social nosing on growth rate is still uncertain and needs confirmation, these studies do give indications that pigs can have a beneficial effect on the growth rate of pen mates, and that this might be reflected in IGEg. Although selection on IGEg did not result in differences in behaviour that might be classified as positive, another selection experiment in pigs, which was based on selection of half sib groups over multiple generations, reported that pigs had become more docile (Gunsett, 2005)². An improvement in welfare related to behaviour may be reached through the reduction of harmful behaviour as well as the enhancement of behaviours that may be beneficial to group members. For future research, it would

²Gunsett (2005) reported the results of the group selection experiment on a conference. The conference paper unfortunately did not include data on the behaviour, except the statement that pigs had become more docile.

be recommended to continue to consider both harmful and beneficial social interactions to gain insight in the full scope of IGE.

Personality

Personality is highly related to the expression of behaviour and, moreover, is also associated with growth (Stamps, 2007; Biro and Stamps, 2007). It was hypothesized that personality, which may be reflected in coping styles (e.g. Koolhaas, 2007), might be related to IGE, potentially as a confounding factor between behaviour and growth. Pigs with a more proactive coping style were previously found to be more rigid in their aggression (Bolhuis et al., 2005a; Melotti et al., 2011), and differ in their growth rate (but the direction of results on growth are inconsistent; Van Erp-Van der Kooij et al., 2003; Cassady, 2007; Spake et al., 2012). If selection on IGEg would result in less proactive coping styles, potentially through the link with aggressive interactions, this might affect productivity. All animals in our selection experiment were subjected to multiple personality tests (Reimert et al., 2013a; 2014). In an explorative study of the behaviour of the piglets before they were selected for the trial, we found that piglets with a lower growth rate and lower weight around test day responded more proactively in a backtest, which is a test that may reflect the coping strategy of pigs (Chapter 5). The response in the backtest, however, did not relate to the IGEg classification (Reimert et al., 2013a). The behavioural tests later in life indicated a reduced fearfulness in high IGEg pigs (Reimert et al., 2014), but from the results it is not expected that a shift will take place in the distribution of coping styles.

Conclusion 3. Selection for IGEg revealed that after one generation, pigs already showed structural changes in behaviour. High IGEg pigs, i.e. the offspring of parents selected for a positive effect on the growth rate of their pen mates, showed less potentially harmful biting behaviour.

10.4 Effects on welfare

Animal welfare is of growing concern to society worldwide. Animal welfare has been formulated as one of the pillars of sustainable livestock farming, and is thereby an integral part in global aims for sustainable food production (e.g. Keeling, 2005; Tucker et al., 2013). Animal welfare has been defined based on animals' physiological state, emotional state, or their expression of natural behaviour (reviewed in Duncan, 2005). Most definitions relate to the five freedoms, which state that an animal should be free of hunger, discomfort, pain, stress & disease, and should be able to express normal behaviour (FAWC, 1979). This broad concept, which is moreover largely influenced by humans' perception on animal welfare, makes it difficult to make clear statements on when 'overall' welfare is improved, rather than single parameters (e.g. McGlone, 2001; Ohl and Van der Staay, 2012). Improving animal welfare is an important issue in Europe (e.g. Veissier et al., 2008; Johnston, 2013), but international trade and the rapidly emerging economy of the BRIC countries³ are likely to cause that animal welfare issues will increasingly be addressed globally (e.g. Maciel and Bock, 2013).

It has often been hypothesized that selection on positive IGE may improve animal welfare (Muir, 2005; Rodenburg et al., 2010), but the overall welfare of animals selected for IGE has never been quantified by a welfare assessment method, although the extreme mortality rates in poultry selection experiments leave little to doubt (reviewed by Muir and Craig, 1998). Here, I assess the welfare of pigs that were selected for IGEg and kept in diverging housing conditions, by means of the Welfare Quality[®] (WQ) protocol. The WQ protocol is a standardised protocol that has been developed to assess on-farm animal welfare in the main livestock species (Blokhuis et al., 2010), and the first validations of the protocol for pigs have been made (Temple et al., 2011a; 2011b). The measures that are included in the WQ protocol for pigs are briefly described in Table 1. As input to the assessment I used the part of the data that was described in the previous chapters, supplemented with weekly obtained data on the vitality of the animals (Camerlink et al., in prep.). The details of the animals and housing are described Chapter 6 to 9. Results are divided into regular observations days (wk 6-23 of age), and observation days around regrouping, which were the first 14 days after weaning (14 observations) and once in the first week after a 24 h regrouping test (wk 9 of age; details of the regrouping test can be found in Chapter 8). Regrouping is commonly applied for production purposes and causes many behavioural and physiological disturbances, whereby adverse effects may be noticeable up to several days to weeks (e.g. Arey, 1999; De Groot et al., 2001). Data obtained around regrouping may not be comparable to the common 'steady' situation and were therefore presented separately. Separate analysis of these periods after regrouping may also give insight in these situations where welfare is most at stake.

³BRIC countries refer to Brazil, Russia, India, and China. For pig production, mainly Brazil is an emerging producer which can, partly due to low cost prices, relatively easy integrate animal welfare standards to comply with European demands for pork products.

Principles	Measures
Good feeding	Body condition score, water supply
Good housing	Bursitis, absence of manure on the body, shivering, panting,
	huddling, space allowance
Good health	Lameness, wounds on the body, tail damage, mortality, coughing,
	sneezing, pumping, rectal prolapse, scouring, skin condition,
	ruptures and hernias, castration, tail docking
Appropriate behaviour	Social behaviour, exploratory behaviour, fear of humans ¹ ,
	Qualitative Behavioural Assessment ¹

Table 1. Measures included in the welfare assessment of the Welfare Quality[®] protocol.

 Principles indicate the welfare categories that are specified in the protocol.

¹Not included in current calculation.

Assessment of the welfare by means for the WQ protocol revealed no differences in overall welfare of the four different treatment groups: low IGEg pigs in barren pens, high IGEg pigs in barren pens, low IGEg pigs in pens enriched with straw bedding, and high IGEg pigs in enriched pens. Selection for IGEg did neither alter any of the welfare categories during regular observation moments (Figure 3), nor during regrouping moments. In the period around regrouping all welfare scores were slightly lower, which was mainly due to more wounds on the body (skin lesions), reduced thermo comfort (huddling and shivering), more diarrhoea (weaning diarrhoea), and more negative behaviour (aggression). Enriched housing resulted in higher scores in the category 'appropriate behaviour' during regular observation moments. During regrouping the contrast between the housing conditions became slightly more apparent. In the category 'good housing' barren pens had a score of 65 during regrouping, whereas enriched pens scored 70 (both classified as 'enhanced' by WQ), which was approximately 5 to 10 points lower than in the regular situation (Figure 3). In the category 'appropriate behaviour' barren pens scored 50, whereas enriched pens scored 58 (both classified as 'appropriate' by WQ), approximately 5 points lower than in the regular situation (Figure 3). The differences in housing conditions around regrouping were mainly due to more huddling in barren pens (barren: score 40 out of 100; enriched: score 3 out of 100), and more diarrhoea in barren pens (barren: score 80 out of 100; enriched: score 70.5 out of 100). Overall, regrouping reduced the welfare as compared to the regular situation.



Figure 3. Overall assessment of welfare of pigs selected for high or low IGEg and housed in barren (B) or enriched (E) pens. Scores are averages of multiple observations over wk 6 - 23 of age (excluding regrouping moments).

Differences in welfare due to genetic selection did not become evident from the assessment with the WQ protocol, and were only marginally shown for enriched housing. This can mean that there were no differences in welfare, or that the WQ protocol was unable to detect the differences. The previous chapters and paragraphs clearly outline that high IGEg pigs showed less potentially harmful behaviour and had less tail damage, and that enriched housing greatly reduced the occurrence of harmful oral manipulation. The WQ assessment combines tail wounds with other wounds and lameness, and in the final score, the percentage of pigs with tail damage is hardly visible. Although frequencies of biting behaviour were low (Chapter 7), these differences were significant and should have been reflected in the category of appropriate behaviour and the subcategory for absence of injuries (category good health). The weighing on tail biting and tail damage in the WQ protocol seems hardly to account for the possible consequences of tail wounds, and may thereby underestimate the importance of tail biting at its onset. As tail biting is highly related to the welfare of pigs (e.g. Anonymous, 2001⁴), a

⁴Anonymous 2001 refers to a paper by 22 scientists who assess which factors were important for animal welfare. For the welfare of growing and finishing pigs, they indicated abnormal behaviour (tail biting) and aggression as most detrimental for welfare considering Dutch pig husbandry. Health problems were ranked second.

recommendation would be to put more weight on the scores for tail biting behaviour and tail damage.

The effect of enriching the environment with a deep litter layer of straw and wood shavings resulted in a slightly higher welfare score only on appropriate behaviour, and on the days around regrouping. In practice, the differences between the two housing conditions were substantial at each given moment in time (Chapter 7). Straw applied as bedding may amongst others increase thermal and physical comfort (Day et al., 2002; Tuyttens, 2005), which was in the WQ assessment reflected in the lower scores on huddling after weaning. The minor difference in the scores on housing as compared to the major differences in practice, suggest that the WQ protocol is unable to detect the enormous welfare improvement of straw housing as compared to barren housing (but see Temple et al., 2011b). Providing straw to pigs has proven its beneficial effect on pig welfare (reviewed by Arey, 1993; Tuyttens, 2005). Moreover, the result that barren pens scored 'enhanced' in the category housing, disregards the many welfare problems that arise from this type of housing.

Another point that merits discussion is that the WQ assessment categories may not reflect what is truly going on. Namely, tail wounds (category health) exist because of the receipt of maladaptive behaviour (category behaviour), whereas this behaviour develops as a consequence of the barren housing conditions in which natural behaviour cannot be expressed in an appropriate manner (category housing). In the current assessment the category housing is 'enhanced' and behaviour scores high within the classification of 'acceptable', whereas health scores are relatively low within the range of 'acceptable'. The actual situation was reverse; pigs were of good health, whereas the barren housing conditions and the occurrence of maladaptive behaviour, expressed by oral manipulation, may be considered as inacceptable to animal welfare.

The WQ assessment did not reveal the full welfare benefits that were clearly visible from the original data, and the results should therefore be interpreted with care. The Welfare Quality[®] protocol is one way to assess animal welfare (e.g. Broom, 1991; Smulders et al., 2006; Smulders, 2009; Brscic et al., 2009). The first scientific validations from the WQ protocol for pigs report that it can be a useful method to assess welfare (Temple et al., 2011a), but also concerns were raised for little variation in the scores for health (Temple et al., 2011a), and that with comparing diverging housing conditions the results on behaviour might not clearly reflect the actual situation (Temple et al., 2011b). In line with the studies by Temple et al., the current results also suggest that the protocol might need some

amendments, especially regarding harmful behaviours and its subsequent effects on health.

As outlined at the beginning of this paragraph, animal welfare is hard to define due to the many perspectives on welfare. Consequently, animal welfare is hard to measure, and might never fulfil everyone's perception of 'good welfare'. The aim to improve animal welfare would require specification in objective terms to enable quantification of the improvements. Both selection on IGEg and enriched housing did reduce aggressive and manipulative biting behaviour. These behaviours have been widely acknowledged as harmful to the welfare of pigs (e.g. reviewed by Spoolder et al., 2011). Based on that, I would conclude that selection on IGEg in pigs may result in improved welfare.

Conclusion 4. Assessment of welfare by the Welfare Quality[®] protocol did not show effects of selection on IGEg and only a minor improvement due to enriched housing. The Welfare Quality[®] protocol for pigs may require amendments, and results should therefore be interpreted with care. It is widely acknowledged that biting behaviour such as tail biting harms the welfare of pigs. Biting behaviour was reduced through selection on IGEg, and selection on IGEg may therefore contribute to improving aspects of animal welfare.

10.5 Genotype by environment interaction

Genotypes may be expressed differently depending on the environment, which is known as genotype by environment (G×E) interaction. Although intensive pig farming is quite similar worldwide, G×E interactions are present for growth rate in pigs (Schinckel et al., 1999), and may depend on differences in climate (Bloemhof et al., 2008) or housing conditions (Guy et al., 2002a). G×E interactions for pig behaviour have been reported for maternal behaviour of sows (Baxter et al., 2011) but have, to my knowledge, not been reported for behaviour in finishing pigs (Hill et al., 1998; Guy et al., 2002b). Present farming requires that animals have the ability to cope well with a range of environments, and therefore it is important to know whether effects of selection on IGEg would give consistent results across environments. Moreover, a G×E set-up would enable to compare the welfare improvements due to genetic selection and housing conditions. In our selection experiment, half of each IGEg group was housed in conventional barren pens and the other half was housed in pens enriched with a deep litter layer of straw and wood shavings. Provision of enrichment material to current pen designs may be

increasingly applied as current EU regulations state that pigs should have provision of substrate (EC Directive 2001/93/EC, 200). Straw is thereby one of the most effective enrichment materials to reduce tail biting in pigs (Bracke et al., 2006). Theoretically, the least harmful behaviour would occur when pigs selected for high IGEg would be housed in straw-enriched pens, whereas most would occur in low IGEg pigs housed in barren pens. The welfare impacts of the two intermediate treatment groups, i.e. high-barren and low-enriched, were uncertain at the start of the trial, but should especially reveal the separate impact of genetics and housing. The results of the selection experiment revealed hardly any G×E interactions for production and behaviour. Few interactions of minor significance are described in Chapter 6 to 9. Several parameters, such as tail damage and biting, which were profoundly lower in the enriched pens, were for both IGEg groups almost equally altered in both housing conditions (Chapter 7). This resulted in an additive rather than interactive effect of genetics and environment. Thus as hypothesized, high IGEg pigs in enriched pens indeed showed least harmful behaviour, whereas low IGEg pigs in barren pens showed most (Figure 1). From the two intermediate treatment groups, low IGEg pigs in enriched pens showed less harmful behaviour than high IGEg pigs in barren pens. This revealed that the improvements of enriched housing are more profound than the current one-generation selection for IGEg. However, that one generation of divergent selection already resulted in a significant reduction of biting behaviour implies that these effects might further increase over multiple generations of selection. The additive effect of selection suggests a certain robustness of the selection method across housing conditions, and moreover shows that both strategies, i.e. genetic selection and enriched housing, may contribute to improved animal welfare.

Conclusion 5. A genotype by environment experiment, with selection on IGEg (high *vs.* low) and housing conditions (barren *vs.* enriched) as treatments at pen level, revealed no profound G×E interactions for productivity or behaviour, which suggest a certain robustness of the selection method. Selection on high IGEg reduced biting behaviour additive to the reduction due to enriched housing.

10.6 Estimation of IGEg in pigs

Prior to the selection experiment, direct and indirect breeding values were estimated for growth rate during the finishing phase. In the selection, the average direct breeding value was kept around zero for both IGEg groups. Power calculations indicated that the size of the trial would be sufficient to detect differences in growth rate. Nevertheless, growth rate was not affected in the expected direction. Estimation of IGEg for pigs faces several difficulties. Studies that aimed to estimate IGEg in pigs reported either that effects could not be estimated on the current data (Arango et al., 2005), that effects were marginal (Chen et al., 2008; 2009), or that effects were very substantial (Bergsma et al., 2008). Improved analysis of these studies, partly with additional data, indicated that IGEg were present but that the initial calculations included errors (Muir et al., 2010). New estimates indicated smaller but significant effects of IGEg (Bergsma et al., 2013). The small effects, however, can till a certain extent increase with the number of group mates (Bijma et al., 2007b; Bijma, 2010). With the correct model, estimation remains difficult due to the data structure in which the group composition of pigs changes several times during the production cycle. Another potential relevant issue that complicates accurate estimation of IGEg effects might be the exclusion of pigs that do not have records on growth rate. If the lack of a growth record was due to death or replacement as a result of social interactions, for example due to tail biting which may indeed result in death (reviewed by Schrøder-Petersen and Simonsen, 2001), a detrimental social effect is not captured in the estimates.

Estimates of IGEg are based on data from commercial farms. This means that pigs were mostly gilts (females) and barrows (castrated males) which were housed in conventional barren pens and were tail docked. The selection experiment was in line with these characteristics of commercial farming, apart from that all pigs had intact tails and that half of the animals were housed in enriched pens. Some characteristics of the selection experiment, however, fundamentally differed from the commercial situation. Mainly, pigs where kept under more favourable circumstances, whereby especially more measures were taken to limited tail biting behaviour (for extensive discussion see Chapter 6 and 7). Tail biting can reduce ADG up to 11% (e.g. Wallgren and Lindalh, 1996; Camerlink et al., 2012a; Sinisalo et al., 2012), and limiting this behaviour may have mitigated the effects on growth, and thus the expected effect of selection on IGEg.

It has been suggested before that the effect of selection on IGE, both in pigs as in poultry, may depend on the severity of the social interaction (laying hens: Craig, 1982; Craig 1994 cited in Muir and Craig, 1998; pigs: Arango et al., 2005). In laying

10 General discussion

hens, cannibalistic behaviour may result in increased mortality and consequently in reduced production. In pigs, changes in social behaviour due to selection on IGEg may be less noticeable as social behaviours in pigs have more subtle effects on growth (Chapter 2). Although moderate tail biting may already result in reduced growth (Chapter 2), growth is mostly reduced in the extreme cases (Wallgren and Lindalh, 1996; Sinisalo et al., 2012). These extreme cases may eventuate in mortality when the pig has been injured for longer time and management failed to respond timely. In commercial pig farming these extremes in behaviour are, sadly, not an exception (as amongst others tail lesion data from abattoirs reveal) (EFSA, 2007; reviewed by Taylor et al., 2010). The estimation of IGEg on commercial data may indicate true effects under these conditions, and might then relate to biting behaviour. This would require conformation through selection under commercial circumstances.

Conclusion 6. Estimating IGEg for pigs faces various difficulties and the relatively favourable circumstances in our experiment may have obscured the effects of IGEg. Evaluation under circumstances where social interactions do result in reduced growth, are required to give clarity on the effects of IGEg in practice.

10.7 Potential underlying mechanisms

IGE are estimated for various traits, as social interactions are expressed differently within and across species. Therefore, multiple underlying mechanisms may exist. In animal studies, competition, aggression, and cannibalism have been suggested (Moore et al., 1997; Muir, 2005; Wilson et al., 2009; Chen et al., 2007; Rodenburg et al., 2010; Canario et al., 2012). Selection on IGE hypothetically might also originate from apathy or a reduced activity, which may reduce the frequency of interactions, and thereby causes the animal to not affect group members (D'Eath et al., 2010; Rodenburg et al., 2010; Turner, 2011). Apart from behaviour, individuals may also affect each other's performance though disease transmission (Lipschutz-Powell et al., 2012; trees: Costa e Silva et al., 2013).

Our behavioural studies of pigs selected for IGEg indicated that high IGEg pigs differed in aggressive biting, and showed less manipulative biting behaviour. The aggressive bites may reflect, apart from aggression itself, frustration and stress (e.g. Scott, 1948; Hori et al., 2004) (Figure 2). Manipulative behaviour mainly originates from the inability to express natural behaviour such as foraging and

rooting (e.g. Van Putten, 1979; Studnitz et al., 2007), and may in addition be triggered by stress (reviewed by Schrøder-Petersen and Simonsen, 2001) (Figure 2). Our selection experiment revealed a range of differences in behaviour and stress physiology (as reflected in haptoglobin levels), suggesting that high IGEg pigs were less sensitive to stress or were less fearful than low IGEg pigs (Chapter 8; Reimert et al., 2013a; 2014). Stress is a broad concept, e.g. physiological stress or mental stress, and the exact context under which high IGEg pigs would be better capable of handling stress, for example specific stressful events such as novel situations, would require more study. The fact that a behavioural category within a species, i.e. biting in pigs, may already have different underlying causes emphasizes the complexity of unravelling potential underlying mechanisms of IGE.



Figure 2. Schematic representation of the occurrence of biting behaviour in pigs. Boxes with shade indicate that selection for IGEg significantly altered these aspects (this thesis; Reimert et al. 2013; 2014).

Conclusion 7. The various biting behaviours that were altered through selection on IGEg, together with differences in stress physiology, seem to indicate a reduced stress sensitivity of high IGEg pigs. This would however require more study.

10.8 Improving welfare of pigs

Animal welfare concerns are mostly raised with regard to intensive livestock production due to its massiveness, painful interventions on animals, and behavioural problems. Regarding solutions there has been the question whether we should adapt the environment to the animal, or whether we should adapt the animal to the environment (D'Eath et al., 2010). Given the current situation, where both genetics and housing conditions have contributed to the development of aberrant behaviours in farm animals, solutions have to come from both sides (De Goede et al., 2013).

Solutions from genetics

One reason why animal breeding may be required to solve welfare issues, is that even in outdoor production systems animals may still perform aberrant, potentially harmful behaviour (laying hens: Bestman and Wagenaar, 2003; pigs: Walker and Bilkei, 2006, Olsen, 2001). Housing conditions may thus not eliminate all welfare problems. It has been raised that genetic selection could harm the integrity of the animal (e.g. Olssen et al., 2006; D'Eath et al., 2010; Thompson, 2010). Genetic selection has, however, taken place ever since domestication and behaviour has therefore been subject to deliberate genetic selection for centauries. Hence, the current livestock populations are already a result of human intervention. The ethical concerns about integrity mainly regard the extremes of selection, e.g. selection for blind hens, and such extremes conflict with aims formulated for sustainable breeding (e.g. Gamborg and Sandøe, 2005; Ellen et al., 2009). Direct genetic selection against harmful behavioural is possible (e.g. D'Eath et al., 2010; Turner, 2011), but requires specific trait records which are time consuming to obtain (D'Eath et al., 2010), and possible trade-offs may arise (Rauw et al., 1998; D'Eath et al., 2010; Thompson, 2010). Moreover, targeting a single behaviour may only contribute to solving part of the welfare problem, and often ignores the actual cause of the behavioural problems, namely the housing conditions or management procedures. Animal welfare is a broad concept, and selection on IGE, which rather targets an overall positive effect on others, may therefore be a better approach to improve welfare than direct selection against specific behaviours. Moreover, research on cannibalism in laying hens reveals both an IGE originating from the actor (the pecker) and a direct genetic effect originating from the victim, and both effects contribute significantly to the total heritable variation in mortality due to cannibalism (Ellen et al., 2008). This indicates that behaviours may not only depend on the individual performing the behaviour, but also on the recipient being more predisposed to receive or to provoke certain behaviour. This may also be the case

in recipients, i.e. victims, of tail biting (Zonderland et al., 2011; Brunberg et al., 2013). The predisposition to be recipient or to provoke the receipt of behaviour may easily be overlooked in direct behavioural observation, whereas selection for the combination of direct and indirect genetic effects utilizes the full heritable variation underlying the trait.

Solutions from housing

Solutions to improve animal welfare through adapted housing conditions have received much attention, but implementation into practice often requires large investments in labour and housing, and is hampered by differences in perceptions or lack of knowledge-transfer between parties, e.g. initiatives of farmers to start innovative large scale farm concepts may be obstructed by society (De Bakker et al., 2012). Mainly in Europe, improvements have been made in space allocation and the possibility to roam freely and to interact with conspecifics (Veissier et al., 2008). Some crucial elements, however, still lack in the majority of housing systems. This refers mainly to material or substrate that enables the expression of internal needs such as foraging, exploring, and body care, which have proven to decrease behavioural problems in all kinds of species to a great extent (e.g. pigs: Tuyttens, 2005; Bracke and Hopster, 2006; Studnitz et al., 2007; captive wild animals: Mason et al., 2007; rats: Simpson and Kelly, 2011). Providing substrate to pigs, such as straw or peat, seems the most effective method to improve welfare within the current barren housing systems (Beattie et al., 1998; Tuyttens, 2005; Pedersen et al., 2005; Bracke et al., 2006; Vanheukelom et al., 2011; Chapter 7).

Implementation of strategies to improve welfare

The implementation of a new genetic selection method mainly depends on breeding companies. As conflicting results have been found in quantitative genetic data analysis and a one-generation selection experiment, and economic values attached to animal welfare related traits are yet unclear, pig breeding companies may be hesitant to include IGEg in their breeding programs for productivity, even though the results seem promising for the reduction of biting behaviour.

The effect of straw has been studied extensively in research, but is in most pork producing countries only little implemented in practice. Implementation into practice, and investigation of possible constraints with the implementation into current farm designs, deserves priority.

Improving animal welfare relates to better health and productivity, and thereby may increase profit (e.g. Kingwell, 2002). The profit, however, may be overshadowed by many costs (e.g. Bornett et al., 2002). Changes in the farming

system or management often encompass a trial and error phase which most farms cannot afford to risk (Bock and Van Huik, 2007). For example, keeping pigs with long instead of docked tails may result in tail biting outbreaks when management is not yet adapted to the situation⁵. As a consequence, the farmer may face substantial losses before the farming system and management are fully adapted, and not in the least, animal welfare may (temporary) be worse than before. To implement a welfare-enhancing strategy it is therefore crucial that the possible consequences of a transition, e.g. from tail docking to keeping pigs with long tails, are well known and accounted for in terms is risk management. Currently, it seems that animal welfare solutions are not primarily a matter of gaining more scientific knowledge, but of gaining more practical knowledge on problems that farmers experience when taking initiative to make such a transition. Providing advice and support to farmers is thereby essential. As part of the 'Seeking sociable swine' project, two stakeholder workshops were organized. At these workshops relevant stakeholders from the sector participated, including amongst others farmers, feed companies, veterinarians, and scientists working on pig welfare. The workshops showed that much of the scientific knowledge on, for instance, the causes of harmful behaviour has not reached farmers and farm advisers, and that information transfer would require the right format of communication, e.g. dialogues (Benard, submitted).

Animal welfare is only one part of a sustainable agriculture, and has to be in balance with other aspects, such as productivity and environmental footprint (Tucker et al., 2013). Before implementation, it is important to evaluate all aspects of a strategy, and not only animal welfare aspects. For example, organic farming may be favourable for animal welfare, but may be less favourable in terms of environmental impact as compared to conventional farming (De Boer, 2003)⁶. Thus, an apparent improvement on one aspect can have a negative impact on other aspects of sustainability of the system (Tucker et al., 2013). To assess the sustainability of selection on IGEg in pigs, it might be important to gain more insight in the impact on productivity, as growth rate and feed efficiency may influence the overall sustainability of a system (e.g. pigs: Eriksson et al., 2005).

⁵In Europe there is a ban on tail docking, which originates from animal welfare concerns about surgical interventions inflicted to the animal. In practice, an estimated 90% of the pigs are tail docked because farms can receive an exception on this regulation if it seems not feasible to keep pigs with long tails (EFSA, 2007). This exception on the regulation is likely to be withdrawn in the near future. First initiatives are taken to keep pigs with intact tails.

⁶Such an assessment may be made through for example Life Cylce Analysis.

Thus, the welfare of pigs may be improved both by genetic selection for IGEg and by enrichment of the housing conditions with substrate such as straw. For the implementation of genetic selection on IGEg more knowledge is required from application in practice. For the integration of enrichment materials to current housing conditions, and for the success of transitions towards improved welfare, e.g. intact tails, it is important that constructive dialogues, e.g. two-way knowledge transfer, are formed between science and sector to come to solutions. Multidisciplinary (research) programmes may be an effective method to construct such dialogues, and bring together the specific knowledge from each stakeholder group (e.g. Neef and Neubert, 2011; current program: Benard and de Cock-Buning, 2014).

Conclusion 8. Genetic selection and housing conditions may both contribute to improved animal welfare. Given the current body of scientific research on farm animal welfare, it is now most essential that knowledge reaches the sector, and that a bridge between science and sector results in constructive welfare improvements.

10.9 Conclusions

A single generation of selection for IGEg did not improve production performance of pigs, but did lead to structural behavioural changes whereby high IGEg pigs showed less aggressive and manipulative biting behaviour and inflicted less tail damage. The estimation of IGEg in pigs is complex, and a selection trial in commercial practice might give insight in the true effects. The differences in biting behaviour, together with the reduced fearfulness of high IGEg pigs in behavioural tests and stress physiology, suggest that high IGEg pigs may be less sensitive to stress, and that potential underlying mechanisms of IGE may thus reach further than the expression of single behaviours that can be harmful to others. No profound genotype by environment interactions were found, which suggests that effects of selection on IGEg may apply to diverse housing conditions. Assessment with the Welfare Quality[®] protocol did not demonstrate a welfare improvement due to genetic selection, but the separate physiological and behavioural differences indicate otherwise, whereby selection would positively influence the welfare of pigs. As to improve pig welfare, it would be recommended to establish constructive two-way knowledge transfer between science and sector.

Summary

Social interactions occur in any given situation where animals encounter and, depending on the nature and strength of interaction may influence health, performance, and welfare. When social interactions originate from heritable traits, for example inherited behaviour, the effect of these interactions can be approximated through indirect genetic effects. An indirect genetic effect (IGE) is a heritable effect of an individual on the production performance of others. Social behaviours, either positive or negative, have been most often suggested as underlying mechanism for IGE. IGE are relevant to genetic studies as they account for heritable social interactions, and thereby may increase the accuracy of genetic estimates. IGE would enable selection of animals that have a good own performance as well as a positive effect on the performance of their group mates. IGE may also be relevant for improve social behaviour, and thus welfare.

In intensively reared pigs, harmful behaviours may affect the health and growth of others, and may result in serious welfare problems that require a solution. IGE have been proposed as a method to improve productivity and welfare simultaneously. In this thesis, this was studied through a selection experiment whereby pigs were selected based on IGE on growth rate (IGEg), meaning that the IGE is the inherited effect that a pig has on the on the growth rate of its group mates.

The objectives of this thesis were a) to investigate the effect of selection for IGEg in pigs on their production performance, behaviour, and welfare in different housing conditions; and b) to gain insight in potential mechanisms underlying these effects in pigs. It was hypothesized that selection for higher IGEg would improve growth rate, behaviour, and welfare when pigs of the high IGEg category would be housed together. It was also hypothesized that harmful behaviours would underlie IGEg. Hereto, the possible relationships between pig behaviours and growth were explored through several studies which are outlined in the first part of the thesis (Chapter 2 to 5). The second part of the thesis (Chapter 6 to 10) reports the results of a one-generation selection experiment where 480 pigs were divergently selected for either high or low IGEg, and housed in either conventional barren pens or pens enriched with a deep litter layer of straw and wood shavings.

Chapter 2 shows that pigs may reduce each other's growth rate through oral manipulation. In contrary, growth rate may increase in pigs that receive much social nosing. Social nosing was further investigated in chapter 3, were the relationship between growth rate and social nosing could not be confirmed, and neither depended on dominance relationships. Social nosing was suggested as form of affiliative behaviour, but in chapter 4 social nosing was unaffected by intranasal

Summary

administration of oxytocin. The link between behaviour and growth may be intertwined with personality. Chapter 5 explored this through the backtest, a test which may indicate coping strategies or personality in piglets. Piglets that responded more active in the backtest had a lower growth rate.

One generation of divergent selection for IGEg in pigs did not result in the expected response in growth rate (Chapter 6). In contrary, results on body weight even tended to be in opposite direction. Selection did lead to structural behavioural changes which could, under commercial conditions, explain a reduced growth (Chapter 7). Pigs selected for a positive effect on each other's growth rate, i.e. high IGEg pigs, showed less biting behaviour, which was apparent from less unilateral aggressive bites, less ear biting, less chewing on enrichment material, and less tail damage due to tail biting. Tail biting itself did not differ between the IGEg groups in the behavioural observations, but the less severe tail damage did indicate that high IGEg pigs were tail biting less or less severe. In chapter 8, aggressive behaviour was further explored, as aggression had been suggested to underlie IGEg in pigs. High IGEg pigs showed only minor changes in the major aggression parameters, but did show considerably less aggression when they were reunited with familiar pen mates after being separated for 24 h during a regrouping test. Chapter 9 approached the same regrouping test from a more integral perspective, combining behavioural and physiological data with the distances between pigs, whereby the distances may reflect social tension. This revealed that pigs that are involved in much aggression are not necessarily the ones that experience most stress, but that the animals that don't stand out might be most affected.

Enrichment with straw and wood shavings resulted in more pen-directed behaviour, e.g. rooting and nosing, and less pig-directed behaviour, e.g. oral manipulation (Chapter 7). The effects of selection were similar in both housing conditions, with no profound genotype by environment interactions for production performance or behaviour. Genetic selection and enrichment had additive effects on the observed behaviours, and in particular chewing and biting.

The biting behaviour of the selected pigs related to aggression and oral manipulation. Aggression may have a background in stress, frustration, and fear, whereas oral manipulation may have a background in redirected foraging behaviour as well as stress. Other tests and observations on the same pigs suggested a reduced fearfulness and reduced stress sensitivity in high IGEg pigs. If selection would continue, biting behaviours might reduce, however, over time other behaviours may arise in relation to IGEg in pigs.

In chapter 10 all data on the selection experiment were combined to assess the welfare by means of a Welfare Quality[®] protocol. This did not reveal improved

welfare due to selection for IGEg, and only showed minor welfare improvements due to enriched housing conditions. The separate physiological and behavioural differences, however, did reveal welfare improvements in favour of selection for IGEg and enriched housing.

The selection experiment suggested that the severity of the social interactions may play an important role in the expression of IGEg (Chapter 7 and 8). If IGE for growth rate in pigs function through behaviour, and the behaviours that might affect growth rate are limited by the experimental set-up to comply with animal welfare standards, then the expected effect of IGEg, as estimated from field data, may not surface in the experimental setup. The observed systematic behavioural differences, which might have led to reduced growth had they not been limited, suggested that selection was effective. This, however, requires further validation. That no profound G×E interactions were found suggests that selection for IGEg would be effective in a range of housing conditions, and indicates a certain robustness of IGEg.

This thesis was part of the project 'Seeking sociable swine', which addressed strategies to improve animal welfare. The pig experiments confirmed the expectations that selection on high IGEg, and enriched housing, are beneficial to the welfare of pigs, and that the two strategies complement each other. To improve animal welfare, it is however of utmost importance that there is constructive two-way information transfer between science and sector.

To conclude, several studies among which a one-generation selection experiment, suggested that including IGE on growth rate in the breeding criterion reduced biting behaviour which may have its origin in aggression and oral manipulation. Implementation of selection on IGEg would require further study in commercial practice, where social interactions may be more profound than under experimental conditions. The results showed that both selection on IGEg and enriched housing are effective in reducing harmful behaviour and may thereby improve the welfare of pigs. Thus, most 'sociable swine' are found when pigs are selected for positive IGEg and housed in enriched pens.
Samenvatting

Sociale interacties komen voor in elke situatie waar individuen elkaar treffen, en afhankelijk van het type en de intensiteit van de interacties kan gezondheid, productiviteit, en welzijn worden aangetast. Wanneer sociale interacties voortkomen uit erfelijke eigenschappen, bijvoorbeeld erfelijk gedrag, kunnen de sociale effecten geschat worden door middel van indirect genetische effecten. Indirect genetische effecten (IGE) zijn de erfelijke effecten van een individu op de (productie) prestatie van anderen. De hypothese is dat sociale gedragingen, positief danwel negatief, ten grondslag liggen aan IGE. IGE zijn relevant voor genetische studies omdat ze de genetische component van sociale effecten weergeven waardoor het mogelijk is om de nauwkeurigheid van genetische (fokwaarde) schatting te verbeteren. IGE geven de mogelijkheid om dieren te selecteren die een goede prestatie van zichzelf hebben, alsmede een positief effect op de prestatie van hun groepsgenoten. IGE zijn eveneens relevant voor studies naar diergedrag en welzijn, gezien de aanname dat selectie op IGE sociaal gedrag positief zou beïnvloeden, en dus een positief effect zal hebben op dierenwelzijn.

In de intensieve varkenshouderij kunnen schadelijke gedragingen, zoals orale manipulatie (op elkaar kauwen) en extreme agressie, de gezondheid en groei van groepsgenoten aantasten. Dit leidt regelmatig tot serieuze welzijnsproblemen en een oplossing is noodzakelijk. Genetische selectie op IGE is voorgesteld als een methode om productiviteit en welzijn gelijktijdig te bevorderen. In dit proefschrift is dat bestudeerd door middel van een selectie experiment waarbij varkens waren geselecteerd gebaseerd op IGE voor groei (IGEg). Dit betekent dat de IGE de erfelijke effecten zijn die een varken heeft op de groeiprestatie van zijn groepsgenoten.

De doelstellingen van dit promotieonderzoek waren a) het onderzoeken van het effect van selectie op IGEg op de productie, het gedrag en het welzijn van varkens in verschillende huisvestingscondities; en b) inzicht verwerven in mogelijke onderliggende mechanismen van deze effecten. De hypothese was dat selectie voor een hoge IGEg de productie, het gedrag en het welzijn ten goede zou komen wanneer varkens van uitsluitend de hoge IGEg categorie gezamenlijk zouden worden gehuisvest. Een andere hypothese was dat schadelijk gedrag een onderliggende factor zou zijn van IGEg. Het mogelijk verband tussen gedrag en groei in varkens werd onderzocht in verscheidene studies welke zijn samengevoegd in het eerste deel van dit proefschrift (hoofdstuk 2 t/m 5). Het tweede deel van dit proefschrift (hoofdstuk 6 t/m 10) beschrijft de resultaten van een één-generatie selectie experiment waarbij 480 varkens uit de extremen van de populatie werden geselecteerd voor hoog danwel laag IGEg. De helft van de varkens werd gehuisvest

in gangbare kale hokken en de andere helft in hokken verrijkt met een dikke laag stro en zaagsel.

Hoofdstuk 2 toont dat varkens die oraal manipulatief gedrag vertonen richting groepsgenoten, zoals staart- en oorbijten, de groei aantasten van het slachtoffer. Tegenovergesteld, varkens die veel sociaal gesnuffel ontvangen groeien beter. Dit sociaal snuffelen was benoemd als 'social nosing'. Social nosing was verder onderzocht in hoofdstuk 3, waar het verband tussen groei en social nosing niet kon worden herbevestigd en evenmin beruste op dominantie hierarchie. Social nosing was geopperd als een vorm van affiliatief gedrag maar social nosing werd niet beïnvloed door intranasale toediening van oxytocine (hoofdstuk 4). De relatie tussen gedrag en groei kan beïnvloed worden door persoonlijkheid. Hoofdstuk 5 ging hier op in middels de 'backtest'. Dit is een test die een indicatie kan geven van het type persoonlijkheid van biggen. Biggen die actiever reageerden in de backtest hadden een lagere groei.

Eén generatie van selectie op IGEg in varkens leidde niet tot de verwachte toename in groei (hoofdstuk 6). Gewicht neigde zelfs lager te zijn in hoog IGEg varkens dan in laag IGEg varkens. Selectie had wel structurele gevolgen voor gedrag. Dit gedrag zou onder commerciële omstandigheden een groei reductie kunnen verklaren (hoofdstuk 7). Varkens die waren geselecteerd op een positief effect op de groei van anderen, dus varkens met een hoog IGEg, vertoonden minder bijtgedrag. Dit was te zien in een reductie van zowel agressief bijtgedrag, oorbijten, kauwen op verrijkingsmateriaal en staartschade ten gevolge van staartbijten. Staartbijten zelf verschilde niet tussen de IGEg groepen in de gedragsobservaties, maar de minder ernstige staartschade duidt erop dat hoog IGEg varkens minder of minder hard beten. In hoofdstuk 8 was agressie nader onderzocht vanwege een eerder gesuggereerde rol met betrekking tot IGEg. Hoog IGEg varkens verschilden minimaal in de hoofdparameters die op agressie duiden, maar vertoonden aanzienlijk minder agressie tijdens hereniging met hokgenoten van wie zij 24 uur gescheiden waren geweest tijdens een hergroeperingstest. Hoofdstuk 9 benaderde diezelfde hergroeperingstest met een meer integrale aanpak, waarbij gedrag en fysiologie werden gecombineerd met de afstanden tussen varkens. Afstanden tussen varkens werden gemeten als reflectie van sociale spanningen. De combinatie van parameters toonde aan dat varkens die vaak betrokken waren in agressie niet per se degenen zijn die het meeste stress ervaren, maar dat juist de dieren die niet opvallen in gedragsanalyses mogelijk het meeste lijden onder de situatie.

Verrijking met stro en zaagsel resulteerde in meer omgevingsgericht gedrag, zoals wroeten en snuffelen, en minder gedrag gericht op hokgenoten, zoals orale

manipulatie (hoofdstuk 7). De effecten van selectie waren evenredig in beide huisvestingscondities, met geen nadrukkelijke genotype × omgeving interacties met betrekking tot productie of gedrag. Genetische selectie en omgeving waren additief aan elkaar voor de geobserveerde gedragingen, met name voor kauwen en bijten.

Het bijtgedrag van de geselecteerde varkens relateerde aan orale manipulatie en agressie. Agressie kan worden veroorzaakt door stress, frustratie en angst terwijl orale manipulatie een achtergrond heeft in omgericht fourageer gedrag en ook stress. Andere testen en observaties aan dezelfde dieren lijken erop te wijzen dat hoog IGEg varkens minder angstig en minder stressgevoelig zijn. Als selectie zou worden doorgezet zouden bijtgedragingen mogelijk afnemen. Echter, in de loop der tijd kunnen andere gedragingen zich ontwikkelen in relatie tot IGEg in varkens.

In hoofdstuk 10 zijn alle gegevens van het selectie experiment gecombineerd om het welzijn te beoordelen. Dit werd gedaan middels het Welfare Quality[®] protocol. De waardering volgens het Welfare Quality[®] protocol toonde geen verbetering van het welzijn door selectie op IGEg en slechts kleine verbeteringen in het welzijn vanwege de verrijkte huisvestingscondities. De afzonderlijke fysiologische en gedragsverschillen duiden echter wel op een welzijnsverbetering ten gunste van IGEg en verrijkte huisvestingscondities.

Het selectie experiment suggereert dat de ernst van de sociale interacties een belangrijke rol speelt in de expressie van IGEg (hoofdstuk 7 en 8). Indien IGE voor groei in varkens zouden worden veroorzaakt door gedrag, en de gedragingen die groei kunnen aantasten zijn gereduceerd om het welzijn in de experimentele opzet te waarborgen, dan kan het verwachte effect van IGEg, zoals geschat van praktijkgegevens, mogelijk niet tot uitdrukking komen. De waargenomen systematische gedragsverschillen, welke tot een groeireductie hadden kunnen leiden mits de gedragingen niet ingeperkt waren, suggereert dat selectie wel effectief was. De schatting van IGEg behoeft echter verdere validatie. De afwezigheid van genotype × omgeving interacties suggereert dat selectie op IGEg effectief zou zijn in diverse huisvestingscondities en duidt op een zekere robuustheid van IGEg.

Dit promotieonderzoek was onderdeel van het project 'Seeking sociable swine', welke betrekking heeft op strategiën om dierenwelzijn te verbeteren. De experimenten bevestigden de verwachtingen dat zowel selectie op hoog IGEg als verrijkte huisvestingscondities gunstig zijn voor het welzijn van varkens en dat de twee strategiën elkaar aanvullen. Om dierenwelzijn daadwerkelijk te verbeteren is het echter uiterst belangrijk dat er functionele wederzijdse informatieuitwisseling is tussen wetenschap en de sector. In conclusie, meerdere studies, waaronder een één-generatie selectie experiment, wijzen erop dat het opnemen van IGE voor groei in de fokstrategie de mogelijkheid heeft om bijtgedrag te verminderen, wat relateert aan agressie en orale manipulatie. Implementatie van selectie op IGEg behoeft nader onderzoek in commerciële praktijksituaties waar sociale interacties mogelijk intenser zijn dan in experimentele studies. De resultaten tonen aan dat zowel selectie op IGEg en verrijkte huisvestingscondities effectief kunnen zijn in het reduceren van schadelijk gedrag en daarmee een verbetering kunnen geven in het welzijn van varkens. Dus, genetische selectie op een hoog IGEg in combinatie met een verrijkte huisvesting zal resulteren in meest 'sociale zwijnen'.

References

A

- Agrawal, A. F., Brodie III, E. D., Wade, M. J. (2001) On indirect genetic effects in structured populations. *Amer Nat* 158(3):308-323.
- Alemu, S. W., Berg, P., Janss, L., Bijma, P. (2014a) Indirect genetic effects and kin recognition: estimating IGEs when interactions differ between kin and strangers. *Heredity* 112(2): 197-206.
- Alemu, S. W., Bijma P., Møller S. H., Janss, L., Berg, P. (2014b) Indirect genetic effects contribute substantially to heritable variation in aggression-related traits in group-housed mink (Neovison vison). *Genet Sel Evol*, in press.
- Altmann, J. (1974) Observational study of behavior: sampling methods. *Behaviour:* 227-267.
- Anonymous (2001) Scientists' assessment of the impact of housing and management on animal welfare. *J Appl Anim Welfare Sci* 4:1-52.
- Amory, J. R., Mackenzie, A. M., Pearce, G. P. (2006) Factors in the housing environment of finisher pigs associated with the development of gastric ulcers. *Vet Rec* 158: 260-264.
- Andersen, I. L., Andenæs, H., Bøe, K. E., Jensen, P., Bakken, M. (2000) The effects of weight asymmetry and resource distribution on aggression in groups of unacquainted pigs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 68(2): 107-120.
- Andersen, I. L., Nævdal, E., Bakken, M., & Bøe, K. E. (2004). Aggression and group size in domesticated pigs, *Sus scrofa*: 'When the winner takes it all and the loser is standing small'. *Anim Behav* 68(4): 965-975.
- Anisman, H., Zaharia, M. D., Meaney, M. J., Merali, Z. (1998) Do early-life events permanently alter behavioral and hormonal responses to stressors? Int J Develop Neurosci 16(3): 149-164.
- Arango, J., Misztal, I., Tsuruta, S., Culbertson, M., Herring, W. (2005) Estimation of variance components including competitive effects of Large White growing gilts. *J Anim Sci* 83(6): 1241-1246.
- Arey, D. S. (1993) The effect of bedding on the behaviour and welfare of pigs. *Anim Welfare* 2(3): 235-246.
- Arey, D. S., Franklin, M. F. (1995) Effects of straw and unfamiliarity on fighting between newly mixed growing pigs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 45(1): 23-30.
- Arey, D. S., Edwards, S. A. (1998) Factors influencing aggression between sows after mixing and the consequences for welfare and production. *Livest Prod Sci* 56(1): 61-70.

- Arey, D. S. (1999) Time course for the formation and disruption of social organisation in group-housed sows. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 62(2): 199-207.
- Arnold, K., Aureli, F. (2007) Postconflict reconciliation. In: Primates in Perspective. Campbell, C., Fuentes, A., MacKinnon, K., Bearder, S., Stumpf, R. (Eds). Oxford University Press. pp. 592-608.

В

- Barr, C. S., Newman, T. K., Becker, M. L., Parker, C. C., Champoux, M., Lesch, K. P., ...
 & Higley, J. D. (2003) The utility of the non-human primate model for studying gene by environment interactions in behavioral research. *Genes Brain Behav* 2(6): 336-340.
- Baxter, E. M., Jarvis, S., D'Eath, R. B., Ross, D. W., Robson, S. K., Farish, M., ... & Edwards, S. A. (2008) Investigating the behavioural and physiological indicators of neonatal survival in pigs. *Theriogenology* 69(6): 773-783.
- Baxter, E. M., Jarvis, S., Sherwood, L., Farish, M., Roehe, R., Lawrence, A. B., Edwards, S. A. (2011) Genetic and environmental effects on piglet survival and maternal behaviour of the farrowing sow. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 130(1): 28-41.
- Baxter, E. M., Rutherford, K. M. D., DEath, R. B., Arnott, G., Turner, S. P., Sandøe, P.,
 ... & Lawrence, A. B. (2013) The welfare implications of large litter size in the domestic pig II: Management factors. *Anim Welfare* 22: 219-238.
- Beattie, V. E., Walker, N., Sneddon, I. A. (1996) An investigation of the effect of environmental enrichment and space allowance on the behaviour and production of growing pigs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 48(3): 151-158.
- Beattie, V. E., Walker, N., Sneddon, I. A. (1998) Preference testing of substrates by growing pigs. *Anim Welfare* 7(1): 27-34.
- Beattie, V. E., Breuer, K., O'Connell, N. E., Sneddon, I. A., Mercer, J. T., Rance, K. A., ... & Edwards, S. A. (2005) Factors identifying pigs predisposed to tail biting. *Anim Sci* 80: 307-312.
- Bell, A. M. (2007) Evolutionary biology: animal personalities. *Nature* 447(7144): 539-540.
- Benard, M., De Cock-Buning, T. (2014) Moving from monodisciplinarity towards transdisciplinarity: insights into the barriers and facilitators that scientists faced. *Sci Public Pol*: 10.1093/scipol/sct099.
- Benard, M. Multi-stakeholder learning around animal welfare research: presentation of dialogue design principles, submitted.
- Benard, M. Multi-stakeholder learning processes around animal welfare research. *PhD Dissertation*. VU University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, in prep.

- Benus, R. F., Bohus, B., Koolhaas, J. M., Van Oortmerssen, G. A. (1991) Heritable variation for aggression as a reflection of individual coping strategies. *Experientia* 47(10): 1008-1019.
- Bergmüller, R., Taborsky, M. (2010) Animal personality due to social niche specialisation. *Trends Ecol Evol* 25(9): 504-511.
- Bergsma, R., Kanis, E., Knol, E. F., Bijma, P. (2008) The contribution of social effects to heritable variation in finishing traits of domestic pigs (*Sus scrofa*). *Genetics* 178(3): 1559-1570.
- Bergsma, R. (2011) Genetic aspects of feed intake in lactating sows. *PhD Dissertation*. Wageningen University Press, Wageningen, The Netherlands.
- Bergsma, R., Mathur, P. K., Kanis, E., Verstegen, M. W. A., Knol, E. F., Van Arendonk, J. A. M. (2013) Genetic correlations between lactation performance and growing-finishing traits in pigs. *J Anim Sci* 91(8): 3601-3611.
- Bestman, M. W. P., Wagenaar, J. P. (2003) Farm level factors associated with feather pecking in organic laying hens. *Livest Prod Sci* 80(1): 133-140.
- Bielsky, I. F., Young, L. J. (2004) Oxytocin, vasopressin, and social recognition in mammals. *Peptides* 25(9): 1565-1574.
- Bielsky, I. F., Hu, S. B., Szegda, K. L., Westphal, H., Young, L. J. (2004) Profound impairment in social recognition and reduction in anxiety-like behavior in vasopressin V1a receptor knockout mice. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 29(3): 483-493.
- Bijma, P., Muir, W. M., Van Arendonk, J. A. M. (2007a) Multilevel selection 1: quantitative genetics of inheritance and response to selection. *Genetics* 175(1): 277-288.
- Bijma, P., Muir, W. M., Ellen, E. D., Wolf, J. B., Van Arendonk, J. A. M. (2007b) Multilevel selection 2: estimating the genetic parameters determining inheritance and response to selection. *Genetics* 175(1): 289-299.
- Bijma, P., Wade, M. J. (2008) The joint effects of kin, multilevel selection and indirect genetic effects on response to genetic selection. *J Evol Biol* 21(5): 1175-1188.
- Bijma, P. (2010) Multilevel selection 4: modeling the relationship of indirect genetic effects and group size. *Genetics* 186(3): 1029-1031.
- Bijma, P. (2011a) Breeding for social interaction, for animal welfare. Encyclopedia of sustainability science and technology. New York: Springer Science and Business Media LLC.
- Bijma, P. (2011b) A general definition of the heritable variation that determines the potential of a population to respond to selection. *Genetics* 189(4): 1347-1359.

- Bijma, P. (2013) The quantitative genetics of indirect genetic effects: a selective review of modelling issues. *Heredity* 112: 61-69.
- Biro, P. A., Stamps, J. A. (2008) Are animal personality traits linked to life-history productivity? *Trends Ecol Evol* 23(7): 361-368.
- Blackshaw, J. K. (1981) Some behavioural deviations in weaned domestic pigs: persistent inguinal nose thrusting, and tail and ear biting. *Anim Prod* 33: 325-332.
- Blackshaw, J. K., Hagelsø, A. M. (1990) Getting-up and lying-down behaviours of loose-housed sows and social contacts between sows and piglets during day 1 and day 8 after parturition. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 25(1): 61-70.
- Bloemhof, S., Van der Waaij, E. H., Merks, J. W. M., Knol, E. F. (2008) Sow line differences in heat stress tolerance expressed in reproductive performance traits. *J Anim Sci* 86(12): 3330-3337.
- Blokhuis, H. J., Veissier, I., Miele, M., Jones, B. (2010) The Welfare Quality[®] project and beyond: Safeguarding farm animal well-being. *Acta Agriculturae Scand Section A* 60(3): 129-140.
- Blumstein, D. T., Wey, T. W., Tang, K. (2009) A test of the social cohesion hypothesis: interactive female marmots remain at home. *Proc Roy Soc B: Biol Sci* 276: 3007–3012.
- Blumstein, D. T., Ebensperger, L. A., Hayes, L. D., Vásquez, R. A., Ahern, T. H., Burger, J. R., ... & Young, L. J. (2010) Toward an integrative understanding of social behavior: new models and new opportunities. *Front Behav Neurosci* 4: 34.
- Bock, B. B., Van Huik, M. M. (2007) Animal welfare: the attitudes and behaviour of European pig farmers. *Brit Food J* 109(11): 931-944.
- Boissy, A., Manteuffel, G., Jensen, M. B., Moe, R. O., Spruijt, B., Keeling, L. J., ... & Aubert, A. (2007) Assessment of positive emotions in animals to improve their welfare. *Physiol Behav* 92(3): 375-397.
- Bolhuis, J. E., Parmentier, H. K., Schouten, W. G., Schrama, J. W., Wiegant, V. M. (2003) Effects of housing and individual coping characteristics on immune responses of pigs. *Physiol Behav* 79(2): 289-296.
- Bolhuis, J. E., Schouten, W. G., Leeuw, J. A. D., Schrama, J. W., Wiegant, V. M. (2004) Individual coping characteristics, rearing conditions and behavioural flexibility in pigs. *Behav Brain Res* 152(2): 351-360.
- Bolhuis, J. E., Schouten, W. G., Schrama, J. W., Wiegant, V. M. (2005a) Individual coping characteristics, aggressiveness and fighting strategies in pigs. *Anim Behav* 69(5): 1085-1091.

- Bolhuis, J. E., Schouten, W. G., Schrama, J. W., Wiegant, V. M. (2005b) Behavioural development of pigs with different coping characteristics in barren and substrate-enriched housing conditions. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 93(3): 213-228.
- Bolhuis, J. E., Van den Brand, H., Staals, S., Gerrits, W. J. J. (2007) Effects of pregelatinized vs. native potato starch on intestinal weight and stomach lesions of pigs housed in barren pens or on straw bedding. *Livest Sci* 109(1): 108-110.
- Bonanni, R., Cafazzo, S., Valsecchi, P., Natoli, E. (2010) Effect of affiliative and agonistic relationships on leadership behaviour in free-ranging dogs. *Anim Behav* 79: 981-991.
- Bornett, H. L. I., Guy, J. H., Cain, P. J. (2003) Impact of animal welfare on costs and viability of pig production in the UK. *J Agr Environ Ethic* 16(2): 163-186.
- Bouwman, A. C., Bergsma, R., Duijvesteijn, N., Bijma, P. (2010) Maternal and social genetic effects on average daily gain of piglets from birth until weaning. J Anim Sci 88(9): 2883-2892.
- Bracke, M. B. M., Hopster, H. (2006) Assessing the importance of natural behavior for animal welfare. *J Agr Environ Ethic* 19(1): 77-89.
- Bracke, M., Zonderland, J. J., Lenskens, P., Schouten, W. G., Vermeer, H., Spoolder, H. A., ... & Hopster, H. (2006) Formalised review of environmental enrichment for pigs in relation to political decision making. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 98(3): 165-182.
- Brennan, P. A., Kendrick, K. M. (2006) Mammalian social odours: attraction and individual recognition. *Philos Trans Roy Soc B: Biol Sci* 361(1476): 2061-2078.
- Brennan, P. A., Zufall, F. (2006) Pheromonal communication in vertebrates. *Nature* 444(7117): 308-315.
- Breuer, K., Sutcliffe, M. E. M., Mercer, J. T., Rance, K. A., Beattie, V. E., Sneddon, I. A., Edwards, S. A. (2003) The effect of breed on the development of adverse social behaviours in pigs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 84(1): 59-74.
- Broom, D. M. (1991) Animal welfare: concepts and measurement. J Anim Sci 69(10): 4167-4175.
- Brotherstone, S., White, I. M. S., Sykes, R., Thompson, R., Connolly, T., Lee, S., Woolliams, J. (2011) Competition effects in a young sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis, Bong. Carr*) clonal trial. *Silvae Genet* 60(3-4): 149-155.
- Brouns, F., Edwards, S. A. (1994) Social rank and feeding behaviour of grouphoused sows fed competitively or ad libitum. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 39(3): 225-235.
- Brscic, M., Wemelsfelder, F., Tessitore, E., Gottardo, F., Cozzi, G., Van Reenen, C. G. (2010). Welfare assessment: correlations and integration between a Qualitative

Behavioural Assessment and a clinical/health protocol applied in veal calves farms. *Italian J Anim Sci* 8(2s): 601-603.

- Brunberg, E., Jensen, P., Isaksson, A., Keeling, L. J. (2013) Brain gene expression differences are associated with abnormal tail biting behavior in pigs. *Genes Brain Behav* 12(2): 275-281.
- Brydges, N. M., Leach, M., Nicol, K., Wright, R., Bateson, M. (2011) Environmental enrichment induces optimistic cognitive bias in rats. *Anim Behav* 81(1): 169-175.

С

- Camerlink, I., Bergsma, R., Duijvesteijn, N., Bolhuis, J.E., Bijma, P. (2010) Consequences of selection for social genetic effects on ADG in Finishing Pigs: a pilot study. In: Book of Abstracts of the 9th World Congress on Genetic Applied to Livestock Production (WCGALP), Leipzig, Germany. Accessible online http://www.kongressband.de/wcgalp2010/. Last accessed May 2014.
- Camerlink, I., Bijma, P., Bolhuis, J.E. (2011) Improving pig welfare and production simultaneously by breeding for social genetic effects. In: Book of abstracts of the 62nd Annual Meeting of the European Federation of Animal Science 2011. Book of abstracts No. 17, p. 20.
- Camerlink, I., Bijma, P., Kemp, B., Bolhuis, J. E. (2012a) Relationship between growth rate and oral manipulation, social nosing, and aggression in finishing pigs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 142(1): 11-17.
- Camerlink, I., P. Bijma, W. W. Ursinus, J. E. Bolhuis. (2012b) Behaviour of finishing pigs divergently selected for social genetic effects in barren and straw-enriched pens. In: Proc. 46th Int. Congr. ISAE, Vienna, Austria. p. 35.
- Camerlink, I., Turner, S. P. (2013) The pig's nose and its role in dominance relationships and harmful behaviour. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 145(3): 84-91.
- Camerlink, I., Turner, S. P., Bijma, P., Bolhuis, J. E. (2013) Indirect genetic effects and housing conditions in relation to aggressive behaviour in pigs. *Plos One* 8(6): e65136.
- Camerlink, I., Bolhuis, J. E., Duijvesteijn, N., Van Arendonk, J. A. M., Bijma, P. (2014a) Production traits in pigs selected for indirect genetic effects on growth in two environments. *J Anim Sci*: 10.2527/jas.2013-7220
- Camerlink, I., Ursinus, W.W., Bolhuis, J.E. (2014b) Struggling to survive: early life challenges in relation to the backtest response of piglets. *J Anim Sci:* in press.
- Camerlink, I., Ursinus, W.W., Bijma, P., Kemp, B., Bolhuis, J.E. Indirect genetic effects for growth in pigs alter behaviour beyond competition and cooperation, submitted.

- Canario, L., Turner, S. P., Roehe, R., Lundeheim, N., D'Eath, R. B., Lawrence, A. B., ...
 & Rydhmer, L. (2012) Genetic associations between behavioral traits and directsocial effects of growth rate in pigs. J Anim Sci 90(13): 4706-4715.
- Cappa, E. P., Cantet, R. J. (2008) Direct and competition additive effects in tree breeding: Bayesian estimation from an individual tree mixed model. *Silvae Genet* 57(2): 45-55.
- Carere, C., Drent, P. J., Koolhaas, J. M., Groothuis, T. G. (2005) Epigenetic effects on personality traits: early food provisioning and sibling competition. *Behaviour* 142: 1329-1355.
- Cassady, J. P. (2007) Evidence of phenotypic relationships among behavioral characteristics of individual pigs and performance. *J Anim Sci* 85(1): 218-224.
- Champagne, F., Diorio, J., Sharma, S., Meaney, M. J. (2001) Naturally occurring variations in maternal behavior in the rat are associated with differences in estrogen-inducible central oxytocin receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 98(22): 12736-12741.
- Chen, C. Y., Johnson, R. K., Newman, S., Van Vleck, L. D. (2007) A general review of competition genetic effects with an emphasis on swine breeding. *Genet Mol Res* 6(3): 594-606.
- Chen, C. Y., Kachman, S. D., Johnson, R. K., Newman, S., Van Vleck, L. D. (2008) Estimation of genetic parameters for average daily gain using models with competition effects. *J Anim Sci* 86(10): 2525-2530.
- Chen, C. Y., Johnson, R. K., Newman, S., Kachman, S. D., Van Vleck, L. D. (2009) Effects of social interactions on empirical responses to selection for average daily gain of boars. *J Anim Sci* 87(3): 844-849.
- Chen, C. Y., Misztal, I., Tsuruta, S., Herring, W. O., Holl, J., Culbertson, M. (2010) Influence of heritable social status on daily gain and feeding pattern in pigs. J Anim Breed Genet 127(2): 107-112.
- Churchland, P. S., Winkielman, P. (2012) Modulating social behavior with oxytocin: how does it work? What does it mean? *Horm Behav* 61(3): 392-399.
- Coutellier, L., Arnould, C., Boissy, A., Orgeur, P., Prunier, A., Veissier, I., Meunier-Salaün, M. C. (2007). Pig's responses to repeated social regrouping and relocation during the growing-finishing period. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 105(1): 102-114.
- Costa e Silva, J., Potts, B. M., Bijma, P., Kerr, R. J., Pilbeam, D. J. (2013) Genetic control of interactions among individuals: contrasting outcomes of indirect genetic effects arising from neighbour disease infection and competition in a forest tree. *New Phytologist* 197(2): 631-641.

- Craig, J. V., Muir, W. M. (1996) Group selection for adaptation to multiple-hen cages: beak-related mortality, feathering, and body weight responses. *Poultry Sci* 75(3): 294-302.
- Creel, S. (2001) Social dominance and stress hormones. *Trends Ecol Evol* 16(9): 491-497.
- Crump, R. E. (2004) Genetics of temperament: Flight time and the movement meter. In: AGBU Pig Genetics Workshop Notes, pp. 107-115.
- Cutts, C. J., Betcalfe, N. B., Caylor, A. C. (1998) Aggression and growth depression in juvenile Atlantic salmon: the consequences of individual variation in standard metabolic rate. J Fish Biol 52(5): 1026-1037.

D

- Danielson-François, A. M., Zhou, Y., Greenfield, M. D. (2009) Indirect genetic effects and the lek paradox: inter-genotypic competition may strengthen genotype × environment interactions and conserve genetic variance. *Genetica* 136(1): 27-36.
- Day, J. E. L., Burfoot, A., Docking, C. M., Whittaker, X., Spoolder, H. A. M., Edwards, S. A. (2002) The effects of prior experience of straw and the level of straw provision on the behaviour of growing pigs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 76(3): 189-202.
- D'Eath, R. B. (2002) Individual aggressiveness measured in a resident-intruder test predicts the persistence of aggressive behaviour and weight gain of young pigs after mixing. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 77: 267–283.
- D'Eath, R. B., Lawrence, A. B. (2004) Early life predictors of the development of aggressive behaviour in the domestic pig. *Anim Behav* 67(3): 501-509.
- D'Eath, R. B. (2005) Socialising piglets before weaning improves social hierarchy formation when pigs are mixed post-weaning. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 93(3): 199-211.
- D'Eath, R. B., Turner, S. P. (2009) The natural behaviour of the pig. In: The welfare of pigs. Marchant-Forde, J.N. (Ed.). Springer Netherlands. pp. 13-45
- D'Eath, R. B., Roehe, R., Turner, S. P., Ison, S. H., Farish, M., Jack, M. C., Lawrence, A. B. (2009) Genetics of animal temperament: aggressive behaviour at mixing is genetically associated with the response to handling in pigs. *Animal* 3(11): 1544-1554.
- D'Eath, R. B., Conington, J., Lawrence, A. B., Olsson, I. A. S., Sandoe, P. (2010) Breeding for behavioural change in farm animals: practical, economic and ethical considerations. *Anim Welfare* 19(Supplement 1): 17-27.
- De Bakker, E., De Lauwere, C., Bokma-Bakker, M. (2012) 'All that is solid melts into air': the Dutch debate about factory farming. In: Climate change and sustainable

development. Potthast, T., Meisch, S. (Eds). Wageningen Academic Publishers. pp. 181-186

- De Boer, I. J. (2003) Environmental impact assessment of conventional and organic milk production. *Livest Prod Sci* 80(1): 69-77.
- De Goede, D., Gremmen, B., Rodenburg, T. B., Bolhuis, J. E., Bijma, P., Scholten, M., Kemp, B. (2013) Reducing damaging behaviour in robust livestock farming. NJAS-Wagen J Life Sci 66: 49-53.
- De Groot, J., Ruis, M. A., Scholten, J. W., Koolhaas, J. M., Boersma, W. J. (2001) Long-term effects of social stress on antiviral immunity in pigs. *Physiol Behav* 73(1): 145-158.
- De Jong, I. C., Lambooij, E., Korte, S. M., Blokhuis, H. J., Koolhaas, J. M. (1999) Mixing induces long-term hyperthermia in growing pigs. *Anim Sci* 69: 601-605.
- De Jonge, F. H., Bokkers, E. A. M., Schouten, W. G. P., Helmond, F. A. (1996) Rearing piglets in a poor environment: developmental aspects of social stress in pigs. *Physiol Behav* 60: 389-396.
- De Kloet, E. R., Joëls, M., Holsboer, F. (2005) Stress and the brain: from adaptation to disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 6(6): 463-475.
- De Vries, H., Netto, W. J., Hanegraaf, P. L. (1993) Matman: a program for the analysis of sociometric matrices and behavioural transition matrices. *Behaviour* 125: 157-175.
- De Waal, F. B. (1986) The integration of dominance and social bonding in primates. *Q Rev Biol* 61(4): 459.
- De Waal, F. B. (2000) Primates: a natural heritage of conflict resolution. *Science* 289: 586–590.
- Di Bitetti, M. S. (1997) Evidence for an important social role of allogrooming in a platyrrhine primate. *Anim Behav* 54(1): 199-211.
- Dickerson, G. E. (1947) Composition of hog carcasses as influenced by heritable differences in rate and economy of gain. *Research Bulletin* 354: 495-524.
- Diener, E., Chan, M. Y. (2011) Happy people live longer: subjective well-being contributes to health and longevity. *Appl Psychol Health Well-Being* 3(1): 1-43.
- Dingemanse, N. J., Kazem, A. J., Réale, D., Wright, J. (2010) Behavioural reaction norms: animal personality meets individual plasticity. *Trends Ecol Evol* 25(2): 81-89.
- Dirkzwager, A., Elbers, A. R. W., Van der Aar, P. J., Vos, J. H. (1998) Effect of particle size and addition of sunflower hulls to diets on the occurrence of oesophagogastric lesions and performance in growing-finishing pigs. *Livest Prod Sci* 56(1): 53-60.

- Düpjan, S., Tuchscherer, A., Langbein, J., Schön, P. C., Manteuffel, G., Puppe, B. (2011) Behavioural and cardiac responses towards conspecific distress calls in domestic pigs (*Sus scrofa*). *Physiol Behav* 103(5): 445-452.
- Dominik, S., Kinghorn, B. P. (2008) Neglecting genotype × environment interaction results in biased predictions from selection index calculations. *Livest Sci* 114(2): 233-240.
- Drescher, V. M., Gantt, W. H., Whitehead, W. E. (1980) Heart rate response to touch. *Psychosom Med* 42(6): 559-565.
- De Dreu, C. K. (2012) Oxytocin modulates cooperation within and competition between groups: an integrative review and research agenda. *Horm Behav* 61(3): 419-428.
- Duboscq, J., Agil, M., Engelhardt, A., Thierry, B. (2014) The function of postconflict interactions: new prospects from the study of a tolerant species of primate. *Anim Behav* 87: 107–120.
- Dudink, S., Simonse, H., Marks, I., de Jonge, F. H., Spruijt, B. M. (2006) Announcing the arrival of enrichment increases play behaviour and reduces weaning-stressinduced behaviours of piglets directly after weaning. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 101(1): 86-101.
- Duijvesteijn, N., Knol, E. F., Bijma, P. (2012) Direct and associative effects for androstenone and genetic correlations with backfat and growth in entire male pigs. J Anim Sci 90(8): 2465-2475.
- Duijvesteijn, N. Seeking sociable swine from a genetic perspective. *PhD Dissertation*. Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands, in prep.
- Dunbar, R. I. (2010) The social role of touch in humans and primates: behavioural function and neurobiological mechanisms. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 34(2): 260-268.
- Duncan, I. J. H. (2005) Science-based assessment of animal welfare: farm animals. *Rev Sci Tech OIE* 24(2): 483.
- Durrell, J. L., Sneddon, I. A., O'connell, N. E., Whitehead, H. (2004) Do pigs form preferential associations? *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 89(1): 41-52.

Е

EFSA (European Food Safety Authority) (2007) Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Animal Health and Welfare on a request from Commission on the risks associated with tail biting in pigs and possible means to reduce the need for tail docking considering the different housing and husbandry systems. *The EFSA Journal* 611: 1-13

- Ekkel, E. D., Van Doorn, C. E., Hessing, M. J., Tielen, M. J. (1995) The Specific-Stress-Free housing system has positive effects on productivity, health, and welfare of pigs. J Anim Sci 73(6): 1544-1551.
- Elbers, A. R., Hessing, M. J., Tielen, M. J., Vos, J. H. (1995) Growth and oesophagogastric lesions in finishing pigs offered pelleted feed ad libitum. *Vet Rec* 136(23): 588-590.
- Ellen, E. D., Muir, W. M., Teuscher, F., Bijma, P. (2007) Genetic improvement of traits affected by interactions among individuals: sib selection schemes. *Genetics* 176(1): 489-499.
- Ellen, E. D., Visscher, J., Van Arendonk, J. A. M., Bijma, P. (2008) Survival of laying hens: genetic parameters for direct and associative effects in three purebred layer lines. *Poultry Sci* 87(2): 233-239.
- Ellen, E. D., Star, L., Uitdehaag, K., Brom, F. W. A., Klopčič, M., Reents, R., ... & Kuipers, A. (2009) Robustness as a breeding goal and its relation with health, welfare and integrity. In: Breeding for Robustness in Cattle – EAAP 126. Klopcic, M., Reents, R., Philipsson, J., Kuipers, A. (Eds). pp. 45-53.
- Ellis, M., Webb, A. J., Avery, P. J., Brown, I. (1996) The influence of terminal sire genotype, sex, slaughter weight, feeding regime and slaughter-house on growth performance and carcass and meat quality in pigs and on the organoleptic properties of fresh pork. *Animal Sci* 62(3): 521-530.
- Elwood, R. W., Wood, K. E., Gallagher, M. B., Dick, J. T. A. (1998). Probing motivational state during agonistic encounters in animals. *Nature* 393(6680): 66-68.
- Elzen, B., Geels, F. W., Leeuwis, C., Van Mierlo, B. (2011) Normative contestation in transitions 'in the making': Animal welfare concerns and system innovation in pig husbandry. *Res Policy* 40(2): 263-275.
- England, D. C., Spurr, D. T. (1967) Effect of tail-biting on growth rate of swine. J Anim Sci 26(4): 890.
- English, S., Bateman, A. W., Mares, R., Ozgul, A., Clutton-Brock, T. H. (2013) Maternal, social and abiotic environmental effects on growth vary across life stages in a cooperative mammal. *J Anim Ecol* 83(2): 332-342.
- Erhard, H. W., Mendl, M., Ashley, D. D. (1997) Individual aggressiveness of pigs can be measured and used to reduce aggression after mixing. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 54(2): 137-151.
- Eriksson, I. S., Elmquist, H., Stern, S., Nybrant, T. (2005) Environmental Systems Analysis of Pig Production-The Impact of Feed Choice. *Int J Life Cycle Assess* 10(2): 143-154.

- Ewbank, R., Meese, G. B. (1971) Aggressive behaviour in groups of domesticated pigs on removal and return of individuals. *Anim Prod* 13: 685-693.
- Ewbank, R. (1976) Social hierarchy in suckling and fattening pigs: a review. *Livest Prod Sci* 3(4): 363-372.

F

- Falconer, D. S. (1952) The problem of environment and selection. *Amer Nat* 86(830): 293-299.
- Falconer, D. S. (1960) Introduction to quantitative genetics. Oliver & Boyd, Edinburgh/London.
- Falconer, D. S., Mackay, T. F. C. (1996) Introduction to quantitative genetics. Pearson Education, Ed 4. Longmans Green, Harlow, Essex, UK.
- FAO (2003) World agriculture: towards 2015/2030, an FAO perspective. Bruinsma, J. (Ed.). Earthscan Publications, Ltd., London, UK.
- FAO (2011) Mapping supply and demand for animal-source foods to 2030.Robinson, T. P. & Pozzi, F. (Eds). Animal Production and Health Working Paper.No. 2. Rome, Italy.
- FAWC (1979) Farm Animal Welfare Council Press statement. Accessible online at http://www.fawc.org.uk/pdf/fivefreedoms1979.pdf. Last accessed March 2014.
- Febrer, K., Jones, T. A., Donnelly, C. A., Dawkins, M. S. (2006) Forced to crowd or choosing to cluster? Spatial distribution indicates social attraction in broiler chickens. *Anim Behav* 72: 1291-1300.
- Feldman, R., Weller, A., Sirota, L., Eidelman, A. I. (2003) Testing a family intervention hypothesis: the contribution of mother-infant skin-to-skin contact (kangaroo care) to family interaction, proximity, and touch. *J Fam Psychol* 17(1): 94.
- Ferguson, J. N., Young, L. J., Insel, T. R. (2002) The neuroendocrine basis of social recognition. *Front Neuroendocrin* 23(2): 200-224.
- Francis, D. D., Champagne, F. C., Meaney, M. J. (2000) Variations in maternal behaviour are associated with differences in oxytocin receptor levels in the rat. *J Neuroendocrin* 12(12): 1145-1148.
- François, N., Mills, A. D., Faure, J. M. (1999) Inter-individual distances during openfield tests in Japanese quail (*Coturnix japonica*) selected for high or low levels of social reinstatement behaviour. *Behav Process* 47: 73-80.
- Frank, S. A. (2007) All of life is social. Current Biol 17(16): R648-R650.
- Fraser, D. (1985) Selection of bedded and unbedded areas by pigs in relation to environmental temperature and behaviour. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 14(2): 117-126.

- Fraser, D., Phillips, P. A., Thompson, B. K., Tennessen, T. (1991) Effect of straw on the behaviour of growing pigs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 30(3): 307-318.
- Fraser, D., Duncan, I. J., Edwards, S. A., Grandin, T., Gregory, N. G., Guyonnet, V., ...
 & Whay, H. R. (2013) General Principles for the welfare of animals in production systems: The underlying science and its application. *Vet J* 198(1): 19-27.
- Friendship, R. M. (2003) Gastric ulcers; an under-recognized cause of mortality and morbidity. *Adv Pork Prod* 14: 159-163.

G

- Gamborg, C., Sandøe, P. (2005) Sustainability in farm animal breeding: a review. *Livest Prod Sci* 92(3): 221-231.
- Geverink, N. A., Schouten, W. G. P., Gort, G., Wiegant, V. M. (2003) Individual differences in behaviour, physiology and pathology in breeding gilts housed in groups or stalls. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 81(1): 29-41.
- Geverink, N. A., Heetkamp, M. J. W., Schouten, W. G. P., Wiegant, V. M., Schrama, J. W. (2004) Backtest type and housing condition of pigs influence energy metabolism. *J Anim Sci* 82(4): 1227-1233.
- Gonyou, H.W. (1993) The social environment and swine growth. In: Growth of the pig. Hollis, G. R. (Ed.). CAB International, Oxon, UK, pp. 107-118.
- Gonyou, H. W. (1994) Why the study of animal behavior is associated with the animal welfare issue. *J Anim Sci* 72(8): 2171-2177.
- Gonyou, H. W. (2001) The social behaviour of pigs. In: Social behaviour in farm animals. Keeling, L. K. & Gonyou, H. W. (Eds). CABI Publishing, Oxon, UK. pp. 147-176.
- Goodkin, K., Fuchs, I., Feaster, D., Leeka, J., Rishel, D. D. (1992) Life stressors and coping style are associated with immune measures in HIV-1 infection: a preliminary report. *Int J Psychiat Med* 22(2): 155-172.
- Goodnight, C. J. (1985) The influence of environmental variation on group and individual selection in a cress. *Evolution* 39(3): 545-558.
- Graustella, A. J., MacLeod, C. (2012) A critical review of the influence of oxytocin nasal spray on social cognition in humans: evidence and future directions. *Horm Behav* 61(3): 410-418.
- Graves, H. B. (1984) Behavior and ecology of wild and feral swine (*Sus scrofa*). *J Anim Sci* 58(2): 482-492.
- Griffing, B. (1967) Selection in reference to biological groups I. Individual and group selection applied to populations of unordered groups. *Aust J Biol Sci* 20(1): 127-140.

- Gunsett, F. C. (2005) Group selection in swine: a case study. Proceedings National Swine Improvement Federation Conference and Annual Meeting, December 1-2, 2005, Ottawa, Canada. Retrieved from http://www.nsif.com/Conferences/2005/contents.html.
- Guise, H. J., Carlyle, W. W. H., Penny, R. H. C., Abbott, T. A., Riches, H. L., Hunter, E. J. (1997) Gastric ulcers in finishing pigs: their prevalence and failure to influence growth rate. *Vet Rec* 141(22): 563-566.
- Guy, J. H., Rowlinson, P., Chadwick, J. P., Ellis, M. (2002a) Growth performance and carcass characteristics of two genotypes of growing-finishing pig in three different housing systems. *Anim Sci* 74: 493-502.
- Guy, J. H., Rowlinson, P., Chadwick, J. P., Ellis, M. (2002b) Behaviour of two genotypes of growing–finishing pig in three different housing systems. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 75(3): 193-206.
- Guy, J. H., Rowlinson, P., Chadwick, J. P., Ellis, M. (2002c) Health conditions of two genotypes of growing-finishing pig in three different housing systems: implications for welfare. *Livest Prod Sci* 75(3): 233-243.

н

- Haemisch, A., Voss, T., Gärtner, K. (1994) Effects of environmental enrichment on aggressive behavior, dominance hierarchies, and endocrine states in male DBA/2J mice. *Physiol Behav* 56(5): 1041-1048.
- Hansen, S. (2000) Short- and long-term changes in heart rate variability and heart rate in response to changes in the social environment (grouping and groomingsimulation) of domestic pigs. *PhD Dissertation*. Martin-Luther-University Halle-Wittenberg, Halle, Germany.
- Harlow, H. F. (1958) The nature of love. Amer Psychol 13(12): 673.
- Hart, B. L. (1988) Biological basis of the behavior of sick animals. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 12(2): 123-137.
- Hatfield, E., Cacioppo, J. T., Rapson, L. R. (1994) Emotional contagion. Cambridge university press, Editions de la Maison des sciences de l'homme, Paris.
- Held, S. D., Špinka, M. (2011) Animal play and animal welfare. *Anim Behav* 81(5): 891-899.
- Hemsworth, P. H., Winfield, C. G., Mullaney, P. D. (1976) A study of the development of the teat order in piglets. *Appl Anim Ethol* 2(3): 225-233.
- Hemsworth, P. H. (2003) Human–animal interactions in livestock production. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 81(3): 185-198.
- Henderson, C. R. (1975) Best linear unbiased estimation and prediction under a selection model. *Biometrics* 31: 423-447.

- Hessel, E. F., Reiners, K., Van den Weghe, H. A. (2006) Socializing piglets before weaning: effects on behavior of lactating sows, pre-and postweaning behavior, and performance of piglets. *J Anim Sci* 84(10): 2847-2855.
- Hessing, M. J., Hagelsø, A. M., Van Beek, J. A. M., Wiepkema, R. P., Schouten, W. G.
 P., Krukow, R. (1993) Individual behavioural characteristics in pigs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 37(4): 285-295.
- Hessing, M. J. C., Schouten, W. G. P., Wiepkema, P. R., Tielen, M. J. M. (1994) Implications of individual behavioural characteristics on performance in pigs. *Livest Prod Sci* 40(2): 187-196.
- Hill, J. D., McGlone, J. J., Fullwood, S. D., Miller, M. F. (1998) Environmental enrichment influences on pig behavior, performance and meat quality. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 57(1): 51-68.
- Holl, J. W., Rohrer, G. A., Brown-Brandl, T. M. (2010) Estimates of genetic parameters among scale activity scores, growth, and fatness in pigs. J Anim Sci 88(2): 455-459.
- Hori, N., Yuyama, N., Tamura, K. (2004) Biting suppresses stress-induced expression of corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) in the rat hypothalamus. J Dent Res 83(2): 124-128.
- Hsu, W. L., Johnson, R. K., Van Vleck, L. D. (2010) Effect of pen mates on growth, backfat depth, and longissimus muscle area of swine. *J Anim Sci* 88(3): 895-902.
- Hughes, B. O., Duncan, I. J. H. (1988) The notion of ethological 'need', models of motivation and animal welfare. *Anim Behav* 36(6): 1696-1707.
- Hunt, J., Simmons, L. W. (2002) The genetics of maternal care: direct and indirect genetic effects on phenotype in the dung beetle *Onthophagus taurus*. *Proc Nat Acad Sci* 99(10), 6828-6832.
- Hyun, Y., Ellis, M., Riskowski, G., Johnson, R. W. (1998) Growth performance of pigs subjected to multiple concurrent environmental stressors. J Anim Sci 76(3): 721-727.

I

- Insel, T. R. (2010) The challenge of translation in social neuroscience: a review of oxytocin, vasopressin, and affiliative behavior. *Neuron* 65(6): 768-779.
- IsHak, W. W., Kahloon, M., Fakhry, H. (2011) Oxytocin role in enhancing well-being: a literature review. *J Affect Disorders* 130(1): 1-9.

J

- Jensen, P., Rushen, J., Forkman, B. (1995) Behavioural strategies or just individual variation in behaviour? A lack of evidence for active and passive piglets. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 43(2): 135-139.
- Jensen, P., Yngvesson, J. (1998) Aggression between unacquainted pigs: sequential assessment and effects of familiarity and weight. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 58(1): 49-61.
- Johnston, C. L. (2013) Geography, science, and subjectivity: farm animal welfare in the United States and Europe. *Geography Compass* 7(2): 139-148.

K

- Kaburu, S. S., Newton-Fisher, N. E. (2013) Social instability raises the stakes during social grooming among wild male chimpanzees. *Anim Behav* 86: 519-527.
- Kadry, V. O., Barreto, R. E. (2010) Environmental enrichment reduces aggression of pearl cichlid, *Geophagus brasiliensis*, during resident-intruder interactions. *Neotropical Ichthyology* 8(2): 329-332.
- Karman, A. G. (2003) Neuroendocrine adaptation to stress in pigs: CRH and vasopressin in the paraventricular nucleus. *PhD Dissertation*. Wageningen Universiteit, The Netherlands.
- Keeling, L. J. (2005) Healthy and happy: animal welfare as an integral part of sustainable agriculture. *AMBIO* 34(4): 316-319.
- Kingwell, R. (2002) Sheep animal welfare in a low rainfall Mediterranean environment: a profitable investment? *Agricultural Systems* 74(2): 221-240.
- Kittawornrat, A., Zimmerman, J. J. (2011) Toward a better understanding of pig behavior and pig welfare. *Anim Health Res Rev* 12(1): 25-32.
- Knap, P. W. (2005) Breeding robust pigs. Anim Prod Sci 45(8): 763-773.
- Koolhaas, J. M., Korte, S. M., De Boer, S. F., Van Der Vegt, B. J., Van Reenen, C. G., Hopster, H., ... & Blokhuis, H. J. (1999) Coping styles in animals: current status in behavior and stress-physiology. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 23(7): 925-935.
- Koolhaas, J. M., de Boer, S. F., Buwalda, B., Van Reenen, K. (2007) Individual variation in coping with stress: a multidimensional approach of ultimate and proximate mechanisms. *Brain Behav Evol* 70(4): 218-226.
- Koolhaas, J. M. (2008) Coping style and immunity in animals: making sense of individual variation. *Brain Behav Immunity* 22(5): 662-667.
- Koolhaas, J. M., Bartolomucci, A., Buwalda, B., De Boer, S. F., Flügge, G., Korte, S. M., ... & Fuchs, E. (2011) Stress revisited: a critical evaluation of the stress concept. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 35(5): 1291-1301.

- Korte, S. M., Prins, J., Vinkers, C. H., Olivier, B. (2009) On the origin of allostasis and stress-induced pathology in farm animals: celebrating Darwin's legacy. *Vet J* 182(3): 378-383.
- Kirkpatrick, M., Lande, R. (1989) The evolution of maternal characters. *Evolution* 43: 485-503.
- Kristensen, H. H., Jones, R. B., Schofield, C. P., White, R. P., Wathes, C. M. (2001) The use of olfactory and other cues for social recognition by juvenile pigs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 72(4): 321-333.
- Kritas, S. K., Morrison, R. B. (2004) An observational study on tail biting in commercial grower-finisher barns. J Swine Health Prod 12(1): 17-22.
- Kutsukake, N., Clutton-Brock, T. H. (2006) Social functions of allogrooming in cooperatively breeding meerkats. *Anim Behav* 72(5): 1059-1068.
- Kutsukake, N., Clutton-Brock, T. H. (2008) Do meerkats engage in conflict management following aggression? Reconciliation, submission and avoidance. *Anim Behav* 75: 1441-1453.
- Kutsukake, N. (2009) Complexity, dynamics and diversity of sociality in group-living mammals. *Ecol Res* 24: 521-531.

L

- Lammers, G. J., Schouten, W. G. P. (1985) Effect of pen size on the development of agonistic behaviour in piglets. *Neth J Agr Sci* 33(3): 305-307.
- Langlois, M. R., Delanghe, J. R. (1996) Biological and clinical significance of haptoglobin polymorphism in humans. *Clinical Chemistry* 42: 1589-1600.
- Lehmann, J., Korstjens, A. H., Dunbar, R. I. M. (2007) Group size, grooming and social cohesion in primates. *Anim Behav* 74(6): 1617-1629.
- Li, Y., Gonyou, H. W. (2002) Analysis of belly nosing and associated behaviour among pigs weaned at 12–14 days of age. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 77(4): 285-294.
- Li, Y. Z., Johnston, L. J. (2009) Behavior and performance of pigs previously housed in large groups. *J Anim Sci* 87(4): 1472-1478.
- Lim, M. M., Young, L. J. (2006) Neuropeptidergic regulation of affiliative behavior and social bonding in animals. *Horm Behav* 50: 506-517.
- Lipschutz-Powell, D., Woolliams, J. A., Bijma, P., Doeschl-Wilson, A. B. (2012) Indirect genetic effects and the spread of infectious disease: are we capturing the full heritable variation underlying disease prevalence? *Plos One* 7(6): e39551.
- Lomborg, S. R., Nielsen, L. R., Heegaard, P. M., Jacobsen, S. (2008) Acute phase proteins in cattle after exposure to complex stress. *Vet Res Comm* 32: 575-582.

- Lopez, J., Jesse, G. W., Becker, B. A., Ellersieck, M. R. (1991) Effects of temperature on the performance of finishing swine: I. Effects of a hot, diurnal temperature on average daily gain, feed intake, and feed efficiency. *J Anim Sci* 69(5): 1843-1849.
- Lupien, S. J., McEwen, B. S., Gunnar, M. R., Heim, C. (2009) Effects of stress throughout the lifespan on the brain, behaviour and cognition. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 10(6): 434-445.
- Lynch, M., Walsh, B. (1998) Genetics and analysis of quantitative traits. Sinauer Associates, Inc., Sunderland, USA.
- Lyons, C. A. P., Bruce, J. M., Fowler, V. R., English, P. R. (1995) A comparison of productivity and welfare of growing pigs in four intensive systems. *Livest Prod Sci* 43(3): 265-274.

М

- Maccari, S., Morley-Fletcher, S. (2007) Effects of prenatal restraint stress on the hypothalamus–pituitary–adrenal axis and related behavioural and neurobiological alterations. *Psychoneuroendocrino* 32: S10-S15.
- MacDonald, K., MacDonald, T. M. (2010) The peptide that binds: a systematic review of oxytocin and its prosocial effects in humans. *Harvard Rev Psychiat* 18(1): 1-21.
- Maciel, C., Bock, B. (2013) Ethical concerns beyond the border: how European animal welfare policies reach Brazil. In: The ethics of consumption. Röcklinsberg, H. & Sandin, P (Eds). Wageningen Academic Publishers, pp. 361-365.
- Manteca, X., Jones, B. (2013) Welfare improvement strategies. In: Improving farm animal welfare. Blokhuis, H. J., Miele, M., Veissier, I., Jones, B. (Eds).
 Wageningen Academic Publishers, Wageningen, The Netherlands. pp. 175-200.
- Marchant-Forde, J. N., Marchant-Forde, R. M. (2005) Minimizing inter-pig aggression during mixing. *Pig News and Information* 26(3): 63N-71N.
- Marler, P. (1976) On animal aggression: the roles of strangeness and familiarity. *Am Psychol* 31(3): 239.
- Mason, G., Clubb, R., Latham, N., Vickery, S. (2007) Why and how should we use environmental enrichment to tackle stereotypic behaviour? *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 102(3): 163-188.
- McBride, G. (1995) Theories of animal spacing: the role of flight, fight and social distance. In: Behavior and environment. Esser, A. H. (Ed.). New York, Springer US, pp. 53-68.

- McComb, K., Moss, C., Sayialel, S., Baker, L. (2000) Unusually extensive networks of vocal recognition in African elephants. *Anim Behav* 59: 1103-1109.
- McCort, W. D., Graves, H. B. (1982) Social dominance relationships and spacing behavior of swine. *Behav Process* 7: 169-178.
- McDonald-Culp, A. (1997) Touch in early development: book review. *Inf Mental Hlth J* 18: 332-334.
- McGlone, J. J., Stansbury, W. F., Tribble, L. F. (1987) Effects of heat and social stressors and within-pen weight variation on young pig performance and agonistic behavior. *J Anim Sci* 65(2): 456-462.
- McGlone, J. J. (2001) Farm animal welfare in the context of other society issues: toward sustainable systems. *Livest Prod Sci* 72(1): 75-81.
- McGlothlin, J. W., Moore, A. J., Wolf, J. B., Brodie III, E. D. (2010) Interacting phenotypes and the evolutionary process. III. Social evolution. *Evolution* 64(9): 2558-2574.
- Meese, G. B., Ewbank, R. (1973) The establishment and nature of the dominance hierarchy in the domesticated pig. *Anim Behav* 21(2): 326-334.
- Melotti, L., Oostindjer, M., Bolhuis, J. E., Held, S., Mendl, M. (2011) Coping personality type and environmental enrichment affect aggression at weaning in pigs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 133(3): 144-153.
- Mendl, M., Paul, E. S. (1990) Litter composition affects parental care, offspring growth and the development of aggressive behaviour in wild house mice. *Behaviour* 116(1-2): 90-108.
- Mendl, M., Zanella, A. J., Broom, D. M. (1992) Physiological and reproductive correlates of behavioural strategies in female domestic pigs. *Anim Behav* 44: 1107-1121.
- Mendl, M., Randle, K., Pope, S. (2002) Young female pigs can discriminate individual differences in odours from conspecific urine. *Anim Behav* 64(1): 97-101.
- Mendl, M., Burman, O. H., Parker, R., Paul, E. S. (2009) Cognitive bias as an indicator of animal emotion and welfare: emerging evidence and underlying mechanisms. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 118(3): 161-181.
- Merks, J. W. M. (1989) Genotype × environment interactions in pig breeding programmes. VI. Genetic relations between performances in central test, onfarm test and commercial fattening. *Livest Prod Sci* 22(3): 325-339.
- Metz, H. A., Dienske, H., de Jonge, G., Putters, F. A. (1983) Continuous-time Markov chains as models for animal behaviour. *B Math Biol* 45(4): 643-658.
- Meynhardt, H. (1978). Schwarzwild-report. Vier jahre unter wild-schweinen. Verlag J. Neumann-Neudamm, Leipzig, Germany.

- Miles, D. R., Carey, G. (1997) Genetic and environmental architecture on human aggression. *J Pers Soc Psychol* 72(1): 207.
- Milligan, B. N., Fraser, D., Kramer, D. L. (2001) Birth weight variation in the domestic pig: effects on offspring survival, weight gain and suckling behaviour. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 73(3): 179-191.
- Moinard, C., Mendl, M., Nicol, C. J., Green, L. E. (2003) A case control study of onfarm risk factors for tail biting in pigs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 81(4): 333-355.
- Moore, A. S., Gonyou, H. W., Stookey, J. M., McLaren, D. G. (1994) Effect of group composition and pen size on behavior, productivity and immune response of growing pigs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 40: 13-30.
- Moore, A. J., Brodie III, E. D., Wolf, J. B. (1997) Interacting phenotypes and the evolutionary process: I. Direct and indirect genetic effects of social interactions. *Evolution* 51(5): 1352-1362.
- Morgan, C. A., Deans, L. A., Lawrence, A. B., Nielsen, B. L. (1998) The effects of straw bedding on the feeding and social behaviour of growing pigs fed by means of single-space feeders. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 58(1): 23-33.
- Muir, W. M. (1996) Group selection for adaptation to multiple-hen cages: selection program and direct responses. *Poultry Sci* 75(4): 447-458.
- Muir, W. M., Craig, J. V. (1998) Improving animal well-being through genetic selection. *Poultry Sci* 77(12): 1781-1788.
- Muir, W. M. (2005) Incorporation of competitive effects in forest tree or animal breeding programs. *Genetics* 170(3): 1247-1259.
- Muir, W. M., Bijma, P., Chen, C. Y., Misztal, I., Wade, M. J. (2010) Advances in selection theory including experimental demonstrations: the theory of selection with social competition. In: Proceedings of the 9th World Congress on Genetics Applied to Livestock Production. Leipzig, Germany, p. 141.
- Muir, W., Bijma, P., Schinckel, A. (2013) Multilevel selection with kin and non-kin groups, experimental results with Japanese quail (*Coturnix japonica*). *Evolution* 67(6): 1598-1606.
- Mulder, H. A., Bijma, P. (2005) Effects of genotype × environment interaction on genetic gain in breeding programs. *J Anim Sci* 83(1): 49-61.
- Munsterhjelm, C. (2009) Housing, stress and productivity: studies in growing and reproducing pigs. *PhD Dissertation*. University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland.
- Munsterhjelm, C., Peltoniemi, O. A., Heinonen, M., Hälli, O., Karhapää, M., Valros,
 A. (2009) Experience of moderate bedding affects behaviour of growing pigs.
 Appl Anim Behav Sci 118: 42-53.
- Munsterhjelm, C., Brunberg, E., Palander, P., Sihvo, H., Valros, A., Keeling, L., Heinonen, M. (2010) Health in tail biters and bitten pigs in a matched case-

control study. In: Proceedings of 44th Congress of the International Society for Applied Ethology, Uppsala Sweden, p. 90.

- Munsterhjelm, C., Simola, O., Keeling, L., Valros, A., Heinonen, M. (2013) Health parameters in tail biters and bitten pigs in a case control study. *Animal* 7(5): 814-821.
- Murgatroyd, C., Patchev, A. V., Wu, Y., Micale, V., Bockmühl, Y., Fischer, D., ... & Spengler, D. (2009) Dynamic DNA methylation programs persistent adverse effects of early-life stress. *Nat Neurosci* 12(12): 1559-1566.
- Mutic, J. J., Wolf, J. B. (2007) Indirect genetic effects from ecological interactions in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Mol Ecol* 16(11): 2371-2381.

N

- Naguib, M., Flörcke, C., Van Oers, K. (2011) Effects of social conditions during early development on stress response and personality traits in great tits (*Parus major*). *Dev Psychobiol* 53(6): 592-600.
- Neef, A., Neubert, D. (2011) Stakeholder participation in agricultural research projects: a conceptual framework for reflection and decision-making. *Agr Hum Values* 28(2): 179-194.
- Neeteson-van Nieuwenhoven, A. M., Knap, P., Avendaño, S. (2013) The role of sustainable commercial pig and poultry breeding for food security. *Anim Front* 3(1): 52-57.
- Nelson, R. J., Trainor, B. C. (2007) Neural mechanisms of aggression. Nat Rev Neurosci 8(7): 536-546.
- Newberry, R. C., Wood-Gush, D. G. M. (1986) Social relationships of piglets in a semi-natural environment. *Anim Behav* 34(5): 1311-1318.
- Nielsen, E. K., Ingvartsen, K. L. (2000) Effect of cereal type, disintegration method and pelleting on stomach content, weight and ulcers and performance in growing pigs. *Livest Prod Sci* 66(3): 271-282.
- Nielsen, H. M., Monsen, B. B., Ødegård, J., Bijma, P., Damsgård, B., Toften, H., Olesen, I. (2014) Direct and social genetic parameters for growth and fin damage traits in Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*). *Genet Sel Evol* 46(1): 5, doi:10.1186/1297-9686-46-5.
- NRC (1981) Effects of environment on nutrient requirements of domestic animals. National Academy Press, Washington, DC.

0

- O'Connell, N. E., Beattie, V. E., Watt, D. (2005) Influence of regrouping strategy on performance, behaviour and carcass parameters in pigs. *Livest Prod Sci* 97(2): 107-115.
- Odendaal, J. S. J., Meintjes, R. A. (2003) Neurophysiological correlates of affiliative behaviour between humans and dogs. *Vet J* 165(3): 296-301.
- Ohl, F., Van der Staay, F. J. (2012) Animal welfare: at the interface between science and society. *Vet J* 192(1): 13-19.
- Olsen, A. W. (2001) Behaviour of growing pigs kept in pens with outdoor runs: I. Effect of access to roughage and shelter on oral activities. *Livest Prod Sci* 69(3): 255-264.
- Oostindjer, M., Bolhuis, J. E., Mendl, M., Held, S., van den Brand, H., Kemp, B. (2011a) Learning how to eat like a pig: effectiveness of mechanisms for vertical social learning in piglets. *Anim Behav* 82(3): 503-511.
- Oostindjer, M., Muñoz, J. M., Van den Brand, H., Kemp, B., Bolhuis, J. E. (2011b) Maternal presence and environmental enrichment affect food neophobia of piglets. *Biology Lett* 7(1): 19-22.

Р

- Pedersen, L. J., Holm, L., Jensen, M. B., Jørgensen, E. (2005) The strength of pigs' preferences for different rooting materials measured using concurrent schedules of reinforcement. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 94(1): 31-48.
- Peeters, K., Eppink, T. T., Ellen, E. D., Visscher, J., Bijma, P. (2012) Indirect genetic effects for survival in domestic chickens (*Gallus gallus*) are magnified in crossbred genotypes and show a parent-of-origin effect. *Genetics* 192(2): 705-713.
- Pellis, S.M., Pellis, V. (2010) Social play, social grooming, and the regulation of social relationships. In: Neurobiology of grooming behaviour. Kalueff, A. V., LaPorte, J. L., Bergner, C. L. (Eds). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 66-87.
- Petersen, V., Recén, B., Vestergaard, K. (1990) Behaviour of sows and piglets during farrowing under free-range conditions. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 26(1): 169-179.
- Petherick, J. C., Blackshaw, J. K. (1987) A review of the factors influencing the aggressive and agonistic behaviour of the domestic pig. *Anim Prod Sci* 27(5): 605-611.
- Pineiro, C., Pineiro, M., Morales, J., Carpintero, R., Campbell, F. M., Eckersall, P. D., ... & Lampreave, F. (2007) Pig acute-phase protein levels after stress induced by changes in the pattern of food administration. *Animal* 1: 133-139.

Popik, P., Vetulani, J., Van Ree, J. M. (1992) Low doses of oxytocin facilitate social recognition in rats. *Psychopharmacology* 106(1): 71-74.

R

- Ramaekers, P. J. L., Swinkels, J. W. G. M., Huiskes, J. H., Verstegen, M. W. A., Den Hartog, L. A., Van der Peet-Schwering, C. M. C. (1996) Performance and carcass traits of individual pigs housed in groups as affected by ad libitum and restricted feeding. *Livest Prod Sci* 47(1): 43-50.
- Ramis, G., Gomez, S., Pallares, F. J., Munoz, A. (2005) Comparison of the severity of esophagogastric, lung and limb lesions at slaughter in pigs reared under standard and enriched conditions. *Anim Welfare* 14(1): 27-34.
- Rault, J. L. (2011) Oxytocin as an indicator of welfare related to the social environment: Investigation and potential. *PhD Dissertation*. Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN, USA.
- Rault, J. L. (2012) Friends with benefits: Social support and its relevance for farm animal welfare. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 136(1): 1-14.
- Rault, J. L., Carter, C. S., Garner, J. P., Marchant-Forde, J. N., Richert, B. T., Lay Jr, D.
 C. (2013a) Repeated intranasal oxytocin administration in early life dysregulates the HPA axis and alters social behavior. *Physiol Behav* 112: 40-48.
- Rault, J. L., Mack, L. A., Carter, C. S., Garner, J. P., Marchant-Forde, J. N., Richert, B. T., Lay Jr, D. C. (2013b) Prenatal stress puzzle, the oxytocin piece: prenatal stress alters the behaviour and autonomic regulation in piglets, insights from oxytocin. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 148(1): 99-107.
- Rauw, W. M., Kanis, E., Noordhuizen-Stassen, E. N., Grommers, F. J. (1998) Undesirable side effects of selection for high production efficiency in farm animals: a review. *Livest Prod Sci* 56(1): 15-33.
- Reimert, I., Rodenburg, T. B., Ursinus, W. W., Duijvesteijn, N., Camerlink, I., Kemp, B., Bolhuis, J. E. (2013a) Backtest and novelty behavior of female and castrated male piglets, with diverging social breeding values for growth. *J Anim Sci* 91(10): 4589-4597.
- Reimert, I., Bolhuis, J. E., Kemp, B., Rodenburg, T. B. (2013b) Indicators of positive and negative emotions and emotional contagion in pigs. *Physiol Behav* 109: 42-50.
- Reimert, I., Rodenburg, T. B., Ursinus, W. W., Kemp, B., Bolhuis, J. E. (2014) Responses to novel situations of female and castrated male pigs with divergent social breeding values and different backtest classifications in barren and strawenriched housing. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 151: 24-35.

- Reimert, I. (2014) (Em)pathetic pigs. *PhD Dissertation*. Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands.
- Reimert, I, Bolhuis, J. E., Kemp, B., Rodenburg, T. B. Emotions on the loose: emotional contagion and the role of oxytocin in pigs, submitted.
- Robert, S., Weary, D. M., Gonyou, H. (1999) Segregated early weaning and welfare of piglets. *J Appl Anim Welfare Sci* 2(1): 31-40.
- Rodenburg, T. B., Komen, H., Ellen, E. D., Uitdehaag, K. A., Van Arendonk, J. A. M. (2008) Selection method and early-life history affect behavioural development, feather pecking and cannibalism in laying hens: a review. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 110(3): 217-228.
- Rodenburg, T. B., Bijma, P., Ellen, E. D., Bergsma, R., De Vries, S., Bolhuis, J. E., ... & Van Arendonk, J. A. M. (2010) Breeding amiable animals? Improving farm animal welfare by including social effects in breeding programmes. *Anim Welfare* 19(Supplement 1): 77-82.
- Rodenburg, T. B., Turner, S. P. (2012) The role of breeding and genetics in the welfare of farm animals. *Anim Front* 2(3): 16-21.
- Ross, H. E., Young, L. J. (2009) Oxytocin and the neural mechanisms regulating social cognition and affiliative behavior. *Front Neuroendocrino* 30(4): 534-547.
- Ruis, M. A., te Brake, J. H., van de Burgwal, J. A., de Jong, I. C., Blokhuis, H. J., Koolhaas, J. M. (2000) Personalities in female domesticated pigs: behavioural and physiological indications. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 66(1): 31-47.
- Ruis, M. A., te Brake, J. H., Engel, B., Buist, W. G., Blokhuis, H. J., Koolhaas, J. M. (2002) Implications of coping characteristics and social status for welfare and production of paired growing gilts. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 75(3): 207-231.
- Ruiterkamp, W. A. (1987) The behaviour of grower pigs in relation to housing systems. *PhD Dissertation*. University of Utrecht, Utrecht, The Netherlands.
- Ruppenthal, G. C., Arling, G. L., Harlow, H. F., Sackett, G. P., Suomi, S. J. (1976) A 10year perspective of motherless-mother monkey behavior. *J Abnorm Psychol* 85(4): 341.
- Rushen, J. (1987) A difference in weight reduces fighting when unacquainted newly weaned pigs first meet. *Can J Anim Sci* 67: 951-960.
- Rutherford, K., Donald, R. D., Lawrence, A. B., Wemelsfelder, F. (2012) Qualitative Behavioural Assessment of emotionality in pigs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 139(3): 218-224.
- Rutherford, K. M. D., Baxter, E. M., D'Eath, R. B., Turner, S. P., Arnott, G., Roehe, R., ... & Lawrence, A. B. (2013) The welfare implications of large litter size in the domestic pig I: biological factors. *Anim Welfare* 22(2): 199-218.

Rydhmer, L., Hansson, M., Lundström, K., Brunius, C., Andersson, K. (2013) Welfare of entire male pigs is improved by socialising piglets and keeping intact groups until slaughter. *Animal* 7(09): 1532-1541.

S

- Salamano, G., Mellia, E., Candiani, D., Ingravalle, F., Bruno, R., Ru, G., Doglione, L.
 (2008) Changes in haptoglobin, C-reactive protein and pig-MAP during a housing period following long distance transport in swine. *Vet J* 177: 110-115.
- Sapolsky, R. M. (2005) The influence of social hierarchy on primate health. *Science* 308(5722): 648-652.
- Sato, S., Tarumizu, K., Hatae, K. (1993) The influence of social factors on allogrooming in cows. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 38(3): 235-244.
- Schino, G. (2001) Grooming, competition and social rank among female primates: a meta-analysis. *Anim Behav* 62(2): 265-271.
- Scott, J. P. (1948) Dominance and the frustration-aggression hypothesis. *Physiol Zool* 21(1): 31.
- Scott, K., Chennells, D. J., Campbell, F. M., Hunt, B., Armstrong, D., Taylor, L., ... & Edwards, S. A. (2006) The welfare of finishing pigs in two contrasting housing systems: fully-slatted versus straw-bedded accommodation. *Livest Sci* 103(1): 104-115.
- Schinckel, A. P., Richert, B. T., Frank, J. W., Kendall, D. C. (1999) Genetic by environmental interactions for pig growth. Proc. Swine Day Report, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN, pp. 93-103.
- Schouten, W. G. P. (1986) Rearing conditions and behaviour in pigs. *PhD Dissertation.* Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands.
- Schrama, J. W., Schouten, J. M., Swinkels, J. W., Gentry, J. L., de Vries Reilingh, G., Parmentier, H. K. (1997) Effect of hemoglobin status on humoral immune response of weanling pigs differing in coping styles. J Anim Sci 75(10): 2588-2596.
- Schrøder-Petersen, D. L., Simonsen, H. B. (2001) Tail biting in pigs. Vet J 162(3): 196-210.
- Schrøder-Petersen, D. L., Heiskanen, T., Ersbøll, A. K. (2004) Tail-in-mouth behaviour in slaughter pigs, in relation to internal factors such as: age, size, gender, and motivational background. *Acta Agr Scand A-AN* 54(3): 159-166.
- Sih, A. (2011) Effects of early stress on behavioral syndromes: an integrated adaptive perspective. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 35(7): 1452-1465.

- Simpson, J., Kelly, J. P. (2011) The impact of environmental enrichment in laboratory rats—behavioural and neurochemical aspects. *Behav Brain Res* 222(1): 246-264.
- Sinisalo, A., Niemi, J. K., Heinonen, M., Valros, A. (2012) Tail biting and production performance in fattening pigs. *Livest Sci* 143(2): 220-225.
- Smith, W. J., Penny, R. H. C. (1998) Tail biting and tail docking in pigs. *Vet Rec* 142: 407-408.
- Smulders, D., Verbeke, G., Mormède, P., Geers, R. (2006) Validation of a behavioral observation tool to assess pig welfare. *Physiol Behav* 89(3): 438-447.
- Smulders, F. J. (2009) A practicable approach to assessing risks for animal welfare: methodological considerations. In: Welfare of production animals: assessment and management of risks (Vol. 5). Smulders, F. J., & Algers, B. (Eds). Wageningen Academic Pub.
- Souza, A. S., Zanella, A. J. (2008) Social isolation elicits deficits in the ability of newly weaned female piglets to recognise conspecifics. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 110(1): 182-188.
- Spake, J. R., Gray, K. A., Cassady, J. P. (2012) Relationship between backtest and coping styles in pigs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 140(3): 146-153.
- Špinka, M. (2009) Behaviour of pigs. In: The ethology of domestic animals 2nd edition: an introductory text. Jensen, P. (Ed.). CAB International, Oxfordshire, UK, p. 180.
- Spoolder, H. A. M., Edwards, S. A., Corning, S. (2000) Legislative methods for specifying stocking density and consequences for the welfare of finishing pigs. *Livest Prod Sci* 64(2): 167-173.
- Spoolder, H. A. M., Bracke, M., Mueller-Graf, C., Edwards, S. (2011) Preparatory work for the future development of animal based measures for assessing the welfare of pigs. Technical report submitted to EFSA. Accessible online http://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/supporting/doc/181e.pdf. Last accessed March 2014.
- Spruijt, B. M., Hooff, J. V., Gispen, W. H. (1992) Ethology and neurobiology of grooming behavior. *Physiol Rev* 72(3): 825-852.
- Stamps, J. A. (2007) Growth-mortality tradeoffs and 'personality traits' in animals. *Ecol Letters* 10(5): 355-363.
- Statham, P., Green, L., Bichard, M., Mendl, M. (2009) Predicting tail-biting from behaviour of pigs prior to outbreaks. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 121(3): 157-164.
- Stolba, A., Wood-Gush, D. G. M. (1989) The behaviour of pigs in a semi-natural environment. *Anim Prod* 48(02): 419-425.

- Stookey, J. M., Gonyou, H. W. (1994) The effects of regrouping on behavioral and production parameters in finishing swine. *J Anim Sci* 72(11): 2804-2811.
- Stookey, J. M., & Gonyou, H. W. (1998). Recognition in swine: recognition through familiarity or genetic relatedness? *Appl Anim Behav Sci*, 55(3), 291-305.
- Straw, B. E., Bartlett, P. (2001) Flank or belly nosing in weaned pigs. *J Swine Health Prod* 9(1): 19-24.
- Studnitz, M., Jensen, M. B., Pedersen, L. J. (2007) Why do pigs root and in what will they root? A review on the exploratory behaviour of pigs in relation to environmental enrichment. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 107(3): 183-197.
- Stukenborg, A., Traulsen, I., Puppe, B., Presuhn, U., Krieter, J. (2011) Agonistic behaviour after mixing in pigs under commercial farm conditions. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 129(1): 28-35.

Т

- Tan, S. S. L., Shackleton, D. M., Beames, R. M. (1991) The effect of mixing unfamiliar individuals on the growth and production of finishing pigs. *Anim Prod* 52(1): 201-206.
- Tanaka, T., Yoshida, M., Yokoo, H., Tomita, M., Tanaka, M. (1998) Expression of aggression attenuates both stress-induced gastric ulcer formation and increases in noradrenaline release in the rat amygdala assessed by intracerebral microdialysis. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 59(1): 27-31.
- Takahashi, T., Ikeda, K., Ishikawa, M., Tsukasaki, T., Nakama, D., Tanida, S., Kameda, T. (2004) Social stress-induced cortisol elevation acutely impairs social memory in humans. *Neurosci Letters* 363(2): 125-130.
- Taylor, N. R., Main, D. C., Mendl, M., Edwards, S. A. (2010) Tail-biting: a new perspective. *Vet J* 186(2): 137-147.
- Temple, D., Manteca, X., Velarde, A., Dalmau, A. (2011a) Assessment of animal welfare through behavioural parameters in Iberian pigs in intensive and extensive conditions. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 131(1): 29-39.
- Temple, D., Dalmau, A., Ruiz de la Torre, J. L., Manteca, X., Velarde, A. (2011b) Application of the Welfare Quality[®] protocol to assess growing pigs kept under intensive conditions in Spain. *J Vet Behav* 6(2): 138-149.
- Thodberg, K., Jensen, K. H., Herskin, M. S. (1999) A general reaction pattern across situations in prepubertal gilts. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 63(2): 103-119.
- Thompson, P. B. (2010) Why using genetics to address welfare may not be a good idea. *Poultry Sci* 89(4): 814-821.

- Tucker, C. B., Mench, J. A., von Keyserlingk, M. A. G., Kebreab, E. (2013) Animal welfare: an integral component of sustainability. In: Sustainable animal agriculture. Kebreab, E. (Ed.). CABI International, pp. 42-52.
- Turner, S. P., Horgan, G. W., Edwards, S. A. (2003) Assessment of sub-grouping behaviour in pigs housed at different group sizes. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 83(4): 291-302.
- Turner, S. P., Farnworth, M. J., White, I., Brotherstone, S., Mendl, M., Knap, P., ... & Lawrence, A. B. (2006) The accumulation of skin lesions and their use as a predictor of individual aggressiveness in pigs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 96(3): 245-259.
- Turner, S. P., Roehe, R., D'Eath, R. B., Ison, S. H., Farish, M., Jack, M. C., ... & Lawrence, A. B. (2009) Genetic validation of postmixing skin injuries in pigs as an indicator of aggressiveness and the relationship with injuries under more stable social conditions. J Anim Sci 87(10): 3076-3082.
- Turner, S. P. (2011) Breeding against harmful social behaviours in pigs and chickens: state of the art and the way forward. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 134(1): 1-9.
- Turner, S. P., Nath, M., Horgan, G. W., Edwards, S. A. (2013) Measuring chronic social tension in groups of growing pigs using inter-individual distances. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 146(1): 26-36.
- Tuyttens, F. A. M. (2005) The importance of straw for pig and cattle welfare: a review. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 92(3): 261-282.

U

- Uvnäs-Moberg, K. (1998) Oxytocin may mediate the benefits of positive social interaction and emotions. *Psychoneuroendocrino* 23(8): 819-835.
- Uvnäs-Moberg, K., Alster, P., Petersson, M., Sohlström, A., Björkstrand, E. (1998) Postnatal oxytocin injections cause sustained weight gain and increased nociceptive thresholds in male and female rats. *Pediatric Res* 43(3): 344-348.

v

- Valin, H., Sands, R. D., van der Mensbrugghe, D., Nelson, G. C., Ahammad, H., Blanc,
 E., ... & Willenbockel, D. (2014) The future of food demand: understanding differences in global economic models. *Agr Econ* 45(1): 51-67.
- Val-Laillet, D., Guesdon, V., Von Keyserlingk, M. A., De Passillé, A. M., Rushen, J. (2009) Allogrooming in cattle: relationships between social preferences, feeding displacements and social dominance. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 116(2): 141-149.
- Van Arendonk, J. A. M., Bolhuis, J. E., Kemp, B., Rodenburg, T. B., Bijma, P., Brom,F., ... & De Cock Buning, T. (2009) Seeking sociable swine? Incorporating social

genetic effects into pig breeding programs to achieve balanced improvement in productivity and welfare. NWO Project prosposal.

- Van den Berg, C. L., Van Ree, J. M., Spruijt, B. M. (1999) Sequential analysis of juvenile isolation-induced decreased social behavior in the adult rat. *Physiol Behav* 67(4): 483-488.
- Van de Weerd, H. A., Docking, C. M., Day, J. E. L., Edwards, S. A. (2005) The development of harmful social behaviour in pigs with intact tails and different enrichment backgrounds in two housing systems. *Anim Sci* 80: 289-298.
- Van de Weerd, H. A., Docking, C. M., Day, J. E., Breuer, K., Edwards, S. A. (2006) Effects of species-relevant environmental enrichment on the behaviour and productivity of finishing pigs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 99(3): 230-247.
- Van de Weerd, H. A., Day, J. E. (2009) A review of environmental enrichment for pigs housed in intensive housing systems. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 116(1): 1-20.
- Van Erp-Van der Kooij, E., Kuijpers, A. H., Schrama, J. W., Van Eerdenburg, F. J. C. M., Schouten, W. G. P., Tielen, M. J. M. (2002) Can we predict behaviour in pigs? Searching for consistency in behaviour over time and across situations. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 75(4): 293-305.
- Van Erp-Van der Kooij, E., Kuijpers, A. H., Van Eerdenburg, F. J. C. M., Tielen, M. J. M. (2003) Coping characteristics and performance in fattening pigs. *Livest Prod Sci* 84(1): 31-38.
- Vanheukelom, V., Driessen, B., Maenhout, D., Geers, R. (2011) Peat as environmental enrichment for piglets: the effect on behaviour, skin lesions and production results. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 134(1): 42-47.
- Van Huik, M. M., Bock, B. B. (2007) Attitudes of Dutch pig farmers towards animal welfare. *Brit Food J* 109(11): 879-890.
- Van Loo, P. L. P., Kruitwagen, C. L. J. J., Koolhaas, J. M., Van de Weerd, H. A., Van Zutphen, L. F. M., Baumans, V. (2002) Influence of cage enrichment on aggressive behaviour and physiological parameters in male mice. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 76(1): 65-81.
- Van Putten, G. (1979) Ever been close to a nosey pig? Appl Anim Ethol 5(3): 298.
- Van Reenen, C. G., O'Connell, N. E., Van der Werf, J. T., Korte, S. M., Hopster, H., Jones, R. B., Blokhuis, H. J. (2005) Responses of calves to acute stress: individual consistency and relations between behavioral and physiological measures. *Physiol Behav* 85(5): 557-570.
- Van Vleck, L. D., Cassady, J. P. (2005) Unexpected estimates of variance components with a true model containing genetic competition effects. J Anim Sci 83(1): 68-74.

- Van Vleck, L. D., Cundiff, L. V., Koch, R. M. (2007) Effect of competition on gain in feedlot bulls from Hereford selection lines. J Anim Sci 85(7): 1625-1633.
- Valros, A. E., Rundgren, M., Špinka, M., Saloniemi, H., Rydhmer, L., Algers, B. (2002) Nursing behaviour of sows during 5 weeks lactation and effects on piglet growth. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 76(2): 93-104.
- Veenema, A. H. (2009) Early life stress, the development of aggression and neuroendocrine and neurobiological correlates: what can we learn from animal models? *Front Neuroendocrino* 30(4): 497-518.
- Veissier, I., Forkman, B. (2008) The Nature of Animal Welfare Science. *Annu Rev Biomed Sci* 10: 15-26.
- Veissier, I., Butterworth, A., Bock, B., Roe, E. (2008) European approaches to ensure good animal welfare. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 113(4): 279-297.
- Velie, B. D., Maltecca, C., Cassady, J. P. (2009) Genetic relationships among pig behavior, growth, backfat, and loin muscle area. J Anim Sci 87(9): 2767-2773.
- Verstegen, M. W. A., Brascamp, E. W., Van der Hel, W. (1978) Growing and fattening of pigs in relation to temperature of housing and feeding level. *Can J Anim Sci* 58(1): 1-13.
- Vieuille-Thomas, C., Signoret, J. P. (1992) Pheromonal transmission of an aversive experience in domestic pig. *J Chem Ecol* 18(9): 1551-1557.
- Visser, J. A. G. M., Hermisson, J., Wagner, G. P., Meyers, L. A., Bagheri-Chaichian, H., Blanchard, J. L., ... & Whitlock, M. C. (2003) Perspective: evolution and detection of genetic robustness. *Evolution* 57(9): 1959-1972.

W

- Walker, P. K., Bilkei, G. (2006) Tail-biting in outdoor pig production. *Vet J* 171(2): 367-369.
- Wallenbeck, A., Rydhmer, L., Lundeheim, N. (2009) GxE interactions for growth and carcass leanness: Re-ranking of boars in organic and conventional pig production. *Livest Sci* 123(2): 154-160.
- Wallgren, P., Lindahl, E. (1996) The influence of tail biting on performance of fattening pigs. *Acta Vet Scand* 37(4): 453-460.
- Warburton, K., Lazarus, J. (1991) Tendency-distance models of social cohesion in animal groups. *J Theor Biol* 150: 473-488.
- Weary, D. M., Niel, L., Flower, F. C., Fraser, D. (2006) Identifying and preventing pain in animals. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 100(1): 64-76.
- Willham, R. L. (1972) The role of maternal effects in animal breeding: III.Biometrical aspects of maternal effects in animals. *J Anim Sci* 35(6): 1288-1293.

- Wilson, A. J., Gelin, U., Perron, M. C., Réale, D. (2009) Indirect genetic effects and the evolution of aggression in a vertebrate system. *Proc Roy Soc B: Biol Sci* 276(1656): 533-541.
- Wilson, A. J., Morrissey, M. B., Adams, M. J., Walling, C. A., Guinness, F. E., Pemberton, J. M., ... & Kruuk, L. E. B. (2011) Indirect genetics effects and evolutionary constraint: an analysis of social dominance in red deer, *Cervus elaphus*. J Evol Biol 24(4): 772-783.
- Wilson, A. J. (2014) Competition as a source of constraint on life history evolution in natural populations. *Heredity* 112(1): 70-78.
- Winslow, J. T., Insel, T. R. (2004) Neuroendocrine basis of social recognition. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* 14(2): 248-253.
- Whittaker, X., Edwards, S. A., Spoolder, H. A. M., Lawrence, A. B., Corning, S. (1999) Effects of straw bedding and high fibre diets on the behaviour of floor fed group-housed sows. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 63(1): 25-39.
- Wolf, J. B., Brodie III, E. D., Cheverud, J. M., Moore, A. J., Wade, M. J. (1998) Evolutionary consequences of indirect genetic effects. *Trends Ecol Evol* 13(2): 64-69.
- Wolf, J. B., Mutic, J. J., Kover, P. X. (2011) Functional genetics of intraspecific ecological interactions in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Philos Trans Roy Soc B: Biol Sci* 366(1569): 1358-1367.

Y

- Yeates, J. W., Main, D. C. J. (2008) Assessment of positive welfare: a review. Vet J 175(3): 293-300.
- Yu, G. Z., Kaba, H., Okutani, F., Takahashi, S., Higuchi, T. (1996) The olfactory bulb: a critical site of action for oxytocin in the induction of maternal behaviour in the rat. *Neuroscience* 72(4): 1083-1088.

Z

- Zonderland, J. J., Wolthuis-Fillerup, M., Van Reenen, C. G., Bracke, M., Kemp, B., Hartog, L. A. D., Spoolder, H. A. (2008) Prevention and treatment of tail biting in weaned piglets. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 110(3): 269-281.
- Zonderland, J. J., Schepers, F., Bracke, M. B. M., den Hartog, L. A., Kemp, B., Spoolder, H. A. M. (2011) Characteristics of biter and victim piglets apparent before a tail-biting outbreak. *Animal* 5(05): 767-775.
- Zupan, M., Janczak, A. M., Framstad, T., Zanella, A. J. (2012) The effect of biting tails and having tails bitten in pigs. *Physiol Behav* 106(5): 638-644.

Glossary

This glossary includes the most essential terms to understand the content of this thesis.

Finishing period: Phase of the production cycle in pig husbandry which commonly indicates the period from ± 8 weeks of age till slaughter at ± 24 weeks of age. Also referred to as fattening phase of period.

Indirect genetic effect (IGE): Heritable effect of an individual on the trait values of social partners. Also referred to as associative-, competitive-, or social genetic effects or social breeding value. See illustration 1 and 2.

IGEg: Indirect genetic effect for growth rate during the finishing period in pigs. The high IGEg and low IGEg refer to an either positive (high) or negative (low) estimated IGEg as based to the population average, and indicates a relatively positive or negative effect on the growth rate of pen mates during the finishing period.

Jute sack: A sack of approximately 60×100 cm made of jute, which is a strong coarse fiber. Jute sack is also referred to as burlap, hessian or gunny bag or sack. The description of the use of the jute sack in the selection experiment, including a picture of the application in practice, is given in chapter 6, page 103.

Oral manipulation: Repeated biting, sucking, rooting, or nibbling on body parts of another pig such as the ears or tail. See illustration 5.

Tail biting: Repeated biting or nibbling on the tail of another pig. See illustration 5.


Illustration 1. Schematic representation of estimating the phenotype while including indirect genetic effects ('genetics of others').



Illustration 2. Schematic representation of estimating the total breeding value (TBV) while including indirect genetic effects. DBV refers to the direct breeding value whereas SBV (social breeding value) refers to the indirect genetic effects.



Illustration 3. Skin lesions due to aggression.





Illustration 4. Social nosing: snout contact.



Illustration 5. Tail biting



Illustration 6. Lying in body contact

Register

C = chapter

Affiliative behaviour	C2, C3, C4, C9
Agonistic behaviour	59, 118
Allogrooming, see also social grooming	36, 37
Apathy	16, 110, 170
Backtest	C5
Behavioural flexibility	77
Biting	С7, С8
Birth weight	68, 74-79
Body contact	C4, C9
Bullying	130
Cannibalism	155, 157, 170, 172
Cohesion	41, 55, 131, 136, 137, 149, 150
Commercial farming	118, 130, 137, 169
Competition	15, 40, 43, 77, 78, 93, 109, 118, 131, 157, 170
Cooperation	99, 158, 160
Coping style	19, C5, 101, 121, 161, 162
Dominance	17, 37, C3, 109, 118, 129-131, 149, 150, 158, 159, 178
Ear biting	26, 30, 34, 44, 47, 51, 53, 98, 105-114, 158, 179
Environmental enrichment	116, 132, 151
Estimation	15, 85, 90, 93, 120, 154-157, 169
Fearful	76, 110, 162, 171, 175, 179
Genetic estimation	155
Genotype by environment	20, C6-C7, 167
Grooming	C3, C4
Growth	C2, C6
Haptoglobin	C9, 171
Hierarchy	40, 43
Inactivity, also inactive	104-108, 140, 142, 149
Inter-individual distance	C9
Manipulation	C2, C7

Register

Multidisciplinary	12, 175
Nosing	C2, C3, C4
Oral manipulation	C2, C7
Oxytocin	C4
Personality	C5
Phenotype	14, 120
Play	28, 30, 47, 50, 51, 59, 106, 131
QBA	221
Recognition	C3, C4, C8
Reciprocal fights	C8
Regrouping	C8
Reunion	C8
Skin lesions	C8, C9
Stomach lesions	C6
Straw	C6-C9
Stress	C5, C7, C8, C9
Social Breeding Value	14
Social grooming, see also allogrooming	28, 37, 41, 51, 53, 59, 137
Social support	151, 152, 160
Spatial integration	C9
Subordinate	C3, 149
Tail biting	C2, C6, C7
Tail damage	C7
Teat order	C5
Temperature	94, 147, 149, 151
Unilateral	46, 140, 158, 179
Ulcers, see stomach lesions	88, 130
Welfare Quality	163-167
Weight	C5, C6

Acknowledgements

In group living species, social interactions such as competition and cooperation may influence health, well-being, and productivity. In some populations, competition is limited, and evolved forms of cooperation can be observed. Individuals that have a beneficial effect on their group members, i.e. a high Indirect Genetic Effect or Social Breeding Value, may be highly valued by the others. This is especially seen in humans (Homo sapiens). Humans are a gregarious species which in nature would life in small social groups. In commercial settings, they are often randomly grouped into enclosures. The group wise housing of particular high intellectual individuals may result in high production performances and an increased well-being. Four years of observation of a university population in Wageningen resulted in the determination of typical characteristics of these highly social individuals. Most prominent characteristics were soft eyes and a smiley face. Examples hereof are given in Figure 1. These individuals showed to be highly skilled in complementing short-comings of other group members, thereby bringing balance in the overall work. This resulted in high quality output which could not have been reached by the single individual. With this I would like to acknowledge all people depicted in Figure 1 for their great contribution to the project.



A special mention is in place or the people from outside Wageningen University who contributed to the project. Data, pigs, and ideas were kindly provided by Rob Bergsma, Egbert Knol, and René Heijting from TOPIGS Research Center IPG B.V. I would like to acknowledge Antonio Arts from VION for his excellent help and hospitality during the collection of data.

The carry out of the experiment would not have been feasible without the great help of the technicians Fleur Bartels, Monique Ooms, and Merel Verhoeven and students: Iris Vork, Justine Jeanpierre, Sophie van Nieuwamerongen, Leonie Jocobs, Sofie de Graaf, Jordy Groffen, Laura ten Berge, Lieske van Eck, David Jansen, Suzanne Hendrikx, and Rosalie van Emous.

The social environment has greatly contributed to the work pleasure, inspiration, and achievements. Thank you Sociable Swine team: Naomi, Inonge, and Marianne, for working together to accomplish all ideas. Nanda and Inonge: with the three of us like pigs in a straw pen, oinking and rooting around in data, diving into the straw to hide away when it became too much, and nosing into scientific questions. We complemented each other well and I can easily attribute most work involving numbers or details to you both. You were the best 'pen mates' a knorrie could have ©. Elske, thank you for creating an athmosphere were collegues easily become friends. Ewa and Naomi, thank you for sharing your constant positive Social Breeding Value with such an enthousiasm that even someone with a negative SBV like me eventually admits to mini social gatherings. And of course for all your advices!

The theses of Marije Oostindjer and Marcin Pszcola have been a great inspiration and example to this thesis, especially in finalizing it. Thank you both for sharing your scientific skills and contributions to which people can take an example.

The joy of thesis work was largely increased by the collegues from SRUC, former SAC, and especially Suzanne Desire and Simon Turner. Simon, you inspired and encouraged me in many ways and because of that most of this thesis has been written while (hill) running. With the help of your ideas and guidance this thesis has got several additional chapters. Luckily there are three more years to come!

Piter and Liesbeth, you have been the best supervisors! Thank you for giving me all the freedom to work in my own manner and for your enthousiastic and positive support. I perceived your comments always as positive. It kept on amazing me that by just a few of your word suggestions a whole paper could read so much better. You shaped my scientific career by always expressing your trust in my capacities.

"If by knowing six people you are connected to everyone in the world (Six degrees of separation, Karinthy, 1929), than by helping six people you can help everyone."

Curriculum Vitae



Irene Camerlink was born on the 19th of June 1986 in Apeldoorn, The Netherlands. In 2003 she started a bachelor in Animal Sciences at Van Hall Larenstein in Leeuwarden, where she did four internships related to pigs. From 2007 to 2009 she studied Animal Sciences at Wageningen University, with a specialization in Animal Production Systems. During her MSc, she worked on the application of homeopathy to treat piglet diarrhoea. She published the work and received the Vithoulkas

award for best international peer-reviewed publication of 2011 in the field of homeopathy.

After her graduation, she started as a PhD student at the 'Animal Breeding and Genomics Centre' and the 'Adaptation Physiology Group' of Wageningen University, under the supervison of Dr Liesbeth Bolhuis and Dr Piter Bijma. In her PhD, she focussed on indirect genetic effects on growth rate in pigs, and the consequences of selection hereon for the behaviour and production of pigs in different environments. In 2012, she spent three months at SRUC (former SAC) in Edinburg, Scotland to collaborate with Dr Turner on aggression in pigs. This resulted in additional in-depth studies of social behaviour in pigs.

Alongside her PhD Irene wrote and published a book on life philosophy, and accomplished two part-time post-HBO studies. This gave her the qualification of meditation teacher and coach, and EMDR (Eye Movement Desentization & Reprocessing) therapist. In 2012 she started her own practice in EMDR therapy for the treatment of mental trauma in humans.

From 2014 she started as a researcher at SRUC, Edinburgh Scotland, in a project on aggression in pigs.

"Never withhold what comes naturally"

List of publications

Refereed journal articles (first author)

- Camerlink, I., Ellinger, L., Bakker, E.J., Lantinga, E.A. (2010) Homeopathy as replacement to antibiotics in the case of *Escherichia coli* diarrhoea in neonatal piglets. *Homeopathy* 99(1), 57–62.
- Camerlink, I., Bijma, P., Kemp, B., Bolhuis, J.E. (2012) Relationship between growth rate and oral manipulation, social nosing, and aggression in finishing pigs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 142, 11–17.
- Camerlink, I., Turner, S.P. (2013) The pig's nose and its role in dominance relationships and harmful behaviour. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* 145, 84–91.
- Camerlink, I., Turner, S.P., Bijma, P., Bolhuis, J.E. (2013) Indirect genetic effects and housing conditions change aggressive behaviour in pigs. *Plos One* 8(6), e65136.
- Camerlink, I., Bolhuis, J. E., Duijvesteijn, N., Van Arendonk, J. A. M., Bijma, P. (2014). Production traits in pigs selected for indirect genetic effects on growth in two environments. *J Anim Sci*, doi: 10.2527/jas.2013-7220
- Camerlink, I., Ursinus, W.W., Bolhuis, J.E. (2014). Struggling to survive: early life challenges in relation to the backtest response of piglets. *J Anim Sci*, in press.
- Camerlink, I., Ursinus, W.W., Bijma, P., Kemp, B., Bolhuis, J.E. Indirect genetic effects for growth in pigs alter behaviour beyond competition and cooperation. Submitted
- Camerlink, I., Turner, S.P., Ursinus, W.W., Reimert, I., Bolhuis, J.E. Aggression and affiliation during social conflict in pigs. Submitted
- Camerlink, I., Ursinus, W.W., Bijma, P., Bolhuis, J.E. Improving animal welfare through genetics and environment: quantifying solutions for pig welfare. In prep.
- Camerlink, I., Reimert, I., Bolhuis, J.E. Oxytocin in relationship to social nosing behaviour in pigs (Sus scrofa). In prep.

Refereed journal articles (co-author)

- Reimert, I., Rodenburg, T.B., Ursinus, W.W., Duijvesteijn, N., Camerlink, I., Kemp, B., Bolhuis, J.E. (2013) Backtest and novelty behavior of female and castrated male piglets, with diverging social breeding values for growth. *J Anim Sci* 91, 4589-4597.
- Duijvesteijn, N., Benard, M., Reimert, I., Camerlink, I. Differences and similarities between farmers, citizens and animal scientists in assessing pig behaviour by Qualitative Behavioural Assessment. Submitted.

Conference contributions

- Camerlink, I., Bergsma, R., Duijvesteijn, N., Bolhuis, J.E., Bijma, P. (2010) Consequences of selection for social genetic effects on ADG in Finishing Pigs - A pilot study. In: Book of Abstracts of the 9th World Congress on Genetic Applied to Livestock Production (WCGALP), 1-6 August 2010, Leipzig, Germany.
- Camerlink, I., Bijma, P., Bolhuis, J.E. (2011) Improving pig welfare and production simultaneously by breeding for social genetic effects. In: Book of abstracts of the 62nd Annual Meeting of the European Federation of Animal Science 2011. Book of abstracts No. 17 (2011), 29 August 2 September 2011, p. 20.
- Camerlink, I., Bolhuis, J.E., Bijma, P. (2012) Social interactions among finishing pigs divergently selected for social genetic effects on growth in barren and straw housing. In: Book of abstracts of the 4th International Conference on Quantitative Genetics, 17 22 June 2012, p. 161.
- Camerlink, I., Bijma, P., Ursinus, W.W., Bolhuis, J.E. (2012) Behaviour of finishing pigs divergently selected for social genetic effects in barren and straw-enriched pens. In: Proceedings of the 46th congress of the International Society for Applied Ethology, 31 July – 4 August 2012, p. 35.
- Camerlink, I., Turner, S.P., Bijma, P., Bolhuis, J.E. (2013) Indirect Genetic Effects and Housing Conditions Influence Aggressive Behaviour in Pigs. In: Proceedings of the 47th congress of the International Society for Applied Ethology, 2–6 June 2013, p. 70.
- Camerlink, I., Duijvesteijn, N., Bolhuis, J.E., van Arendonk, J.A.M., Bijma, P. (2013)
 Consequences of selection for indirect genetic effects on growth for production traits in pigs. In: Book of abstracts of the 64th Annual Meeting of the European Federation of Animal Science 2013. Book of abstracts No. 19 (2013), 26–30 August 2013, p. 135.
- Benard, M., Camerlink, I., Duijvesteijn, N., Reimert, I., Bijma, P., Bolhuis, J. E. (2011) Seeking a sociable swine: an interdisciplinary approach. In: Book of abstracts of the 62nd Annual Meeting of the European Federation of Animal Science 2011. Book of abstracts No. 17 (2011), 29 August – 2 September 2011, p. 21.

Miscellaneous

- Ter Beek, V., Camerlink, I. (2013). A revolution in thinking about pig tails. *Pig Progress* 29.6 2013
- Lamers, J., Ursinus, W.W., Camerlink, I. (2012). Damage due to unnoted biting (Dutch). *Varkens* 76, p. 34.
- Lamers, J., Camerlink, I., Duijvesteijn, N. (2012). Sharing results and listening to experiences (Dutch). *Varkens* 76, p. 7.
- Lamers, J., Duijvesteijn, N., Camerlink, I. (2012). Asocial pig influences others (Dutch). *Varkens* 76, p. 34.
- Lamers, J., Camerlink, I. (2012). Boar behaviour remains persistent (Dutch). *Varkens* 76, p. 35.
- Rotgers, G., Benard, M., Camerlink, I., Duijvesteijn, N., Reimert, I. (2012). Pig farmer and researcher distrust each other (Dutch). *V-focus* 9.

Training and supervision plan



The basic package (3 ECST)	Year
WIAS Introduction Course	2009
NWO: Ethics and Animal Welfare, Lunteren, Netherlands	2011
Scientific Exposure (27 ECTS)	
International conferences (7.2 ECTS)	
9th World Congress on Genetics Applied to Livestock Production (WCGALP),	
Leipzig, Germany	2010
62nd EAAP Annual Meeting, Stavanger, Norway	2011
Annual meeting NVG, Soesterberg, Netherlands	2011
46th International Society for Applied Ethology (ISAE), Vienna, Austria	2012
4th International Conference on Quantitative Genetics (ICQG), Edinburgh, UK	2012
Annual meeting NVG, Soesterberg, Netherlands	2012
47th International Society for Applied Ethology (ISAE), Florianopolis, Brazil	2013
64th EAAP Annual Meeting, Nantes, France	2013
International conference on Individual differences, Groningen, Netherlands	2013
Seminars and workshops (2.6 ECTS)	
Developments in genome-wide evaluation and genomic selection, Wageningen	2009
WIAS Science Day, Wageningen	2010
Symposium 'Food production', Ede, Netherlands	2010
Workshops NWO Talent day, Utrecht, Netherlands	2010
WIAS Science Day, Wageningen	2011
Workshops NWO Talent day, Utrecht, Netherlands	
Seminar 'Scientific Research in Animal Welfare', Wageningen	2011
Seminar 'Genomics and Animal Breeding', Wageningen	2011
Symposium 'How to eat like a pig', Wageningen	2011
Symposium NWO 'The Value of Animal Welfare', Utrecht, Netherlands	2011
WIAS Science Day, Wageningen	2012
Symposium 'Animals in 3D', Utrecht, Netherlands	2012
Symposium NWO 'The Value of Animal Welfare', The Hague, Netherlands	2013
Presentations (10 ECTS)	
WCGALP Leinzig Germany (oral)	2010
EAAD Stavanger Norway (oral)	
SCWD Symposium Antibiotics in livestock farming Driehergen Netherlands	2011
(invited sneaker)	2011
WIAS Science Day 2011 Wageningen (noster)	
wind science Day 2011, wageningen (poster)	2011

NVG, Soesterberg, Netherlands (oral)	2011
WIAS Science Day, Wageningen (oral)	2013
ISAE, Vienna, Austria (oral)	2012
ICQG, Edinburgh, UK (poster)	2012
NVG, Soesterberg, Netherlands (poster)	2012
EAAP, Nantes, France (oral)	2013
In-depth studies (17 ECTS)	
Disciplinary and interdisciplinary courses (11.1 ECTS)	
Quantitative Genetics: Selection Theory, Wageningen	2010
NWO: Sustainability, Lunteren, Netherlands	2010
Genetics of competition, Edinburgh, UK	2012
Interpretation of animal stress responses, Denmark	2013
NWO: Policy, The Hague, Netherlands	2013
ONWAR: Cognitive neuroscience, Amsterdam, Netherlands	2013
Advanced statistics courses (1 ECTS)	
Design of Experiments, Wageningen	2010
PhD students' discussion groups (0.2 ECTS)	
Welfare discussion group	2010
MSc level courses (5 ECTS)	
Genetic Improvement of Livestock ABG-31306	2009
Professional skills support sourses (3 ECTS)	
Supervising MSc thesis work, Wageningen	2011
Techniques for writing and presenting a scientific paper, Wageningen	2012
Communication with the media and the general public, Wageningen	2013
Voice and presentation training, Wageningen	2013
Last stretch of the PhD programme, Wageningen	2013
Research skills training (3 ECTS)	
External training period, SAC, Edinburgh, UK (3 months)	2012
External training period, SRUC (former SAC), Edinburgh, UK (1 month)	2013
Getting started in Asreml, Wageningen	2013
Didactic skills training (11 ECTS)	
Lecturing (0.6 ECTS)	
Lecture in MSc course Health Welfare and Management	2012
Lecturing in BSc course Adaptationphysiology	12-13

Management skills training (2 ECTS)	
Supervising 3 MSc students	10-13
Supervising 5 BSc students	10-13
Supervising theses (10.5 ECTS)	

Organisation of seminars and courses

Organisation symposium 'Vreedzame Varkens', Sterksel, Netherlands	2012
Organisation symposium 'Varkens in zicht', Sterksel, Netherlands	2013

Education and Training Total (60 ECTS)

Colophon

The research described in this thesis was finiancially supported by the Dutch Ministery of Economic Affairs and by the Netherlands Organisation for Scientific Research (NWO).

The printing of this thesis was sponsored by TOPIGS Research Center IPG B.V.

Photos on page 24 and 82 were provided by x-pressions (photos are from pigs during the trail).

The cover of this thesis was designed by Irene Camerlink.

This thesis was printed by GVO drukkers & vormgevers B.V. | Ponsen & Looijen, Ede, the Netherlands.



Ministry of Economic Affairs



